

Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México Posgrado Conjunto en Ciencias Matemáticas

Chiral extensions of toroids

# $T \to S \to S$

que para optar por el grado de

Doctor en Ciencias

presenta

José Antonio Montero Aguilar

Director de tesis: Dr. Daniel Pellicer Covarrubias Centro de Ciencias Matemáticas UNAM Morelia

Morelia, Michoacán, México agosto, 2019



Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México



UNAM – Dirección General de Bibliotecas Tesis Digitales Restricciones de uso

#### DERECHOS RESERVADOS © PROHIBIDA SU REPRODUCCIÓN TOTAL O PARCIAL

Todo el material contenido en esta tesis esta protegido por la Ley Federal del Derecho de Autor (LFDA) de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos (México).

El uso de imágenes, fragmentos de videos, y demás material que sea objeto de protección de los derechos de autor, será exclusivamente para fines educativos e informativos y deberá citar la fuente donde la obtuvo mencionando el autor o autores. Cualquier uso distinto como el lucro, reproducción, edición o modificación, será perseguido y sancionado por el respectivo titular de los Derechos de Autor. "Ésta es mi vida, cazar ideas, soñar despierto y casi siempre hablar dormido, y de vez en cuando, cuando estoy de suerte, hablar contigo."

> Fragmento de "En horas hábiles". Edel Juárez, 2003

La investigación de este trabajo se realizó gracias al apoyo económico de las siguientes entidades:

- Programa de Apoyo a Proyectos de Investigación e Innovación Tecnológica (PA-PIIT) de la UNAM IN 100518.
- Programa de Becas Nacionales del CONACyT.
- Programa de Becas Mixtas (Movilidad en el extranjero) CONACyT 2016.

Además, las siguientes instituciones apoyaron a la investigación con sus instalaciones:

- Centro de Ciencias Matemáticas, UNAM Morelia.
- Faculty of Education, University of Ljubljana.

# Contents

Resumen/Abstract in						
A	grade	ecimientos	vi			
In	trodu	ıcción	ix			
In	trodu	iction	xii			
1	Hig	hly symmetric abstract polytopes	1			
	1.1	Basic notions	1			
	1.2	Regular and chiral polytopes	7			
	1.3	Toroids	18			
	1.4	Connection group and maniplexes	27			
	1.5	Quotients, covers and mixing	33			
2	Exte	ensions of Abstract Polytopes	37			
	2.1	Extensions of regular polytopes	38			
		2.1.1 Universal Extension	38			
		2.1.2 Extensions by permutations of facets	39			
		2.1.3 The polytope $2^{\mathcal{K}}$	40			
		2.1.4 Extensions of dually bipartite polytopes	42			
		2.1.5 The polytope $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$ .	43			
	2.2	Extensions of chiral polytopes	43			
		2.2.1 Universal extension	44			
		2.2.2 Finite extensions	46			
3	Chi	ral extensions of toroids	51			
	3.1	Two constructions of chiral extensions	53			
	0.1	3.1.1 Dually bipartite polytopes	53			
		$3.1.2$ $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ and extensions of polytopes with regular quotients	58			
	3.2	Chiral extensions of maps on the torus	65			
	3.3	Chiral extensions of regular toroids	73			
	5.5	3.3.1 The intersection property	84			

Т	n	d	ev
-		u	<b>UA</b>

## Bibliography

 $\mathbf{iv}$ 

## Chiral extensions of toroids

José Antonio Montero Aguilar

#### Resumen

Un politopo abstracto es un objeto combinatorio que generaliza estructuras geométricas como los politopos convexos, las teselaciones del espacio, los mapas en superficies, entre otros. Todas estructuras tienen una naturaleza inductiva natural: un polígono convexo puede ser pensado como una familia de segmentos pegados por sus orillas; un poliedro es una familia de polígonos pegados a través de sus aristas; una teselación del espacio puede ser pensada como una familia de poliedros pegados a través de sus caras, etcétera. Esta naturaleza inductiva permanece en la noción abstracta de politopo. Además, da nacimiento al *problema de extensiones*: dado un politopo abstracto  $\mathcal{K}$ , ¿existe un politopo abstracto  $\mathcal{P}$  tal que todas las caras maximales de  $\mathcal{P}$  son isomorfas a  $\mathcal{K}$ ? En este trabajo exploramos este problema cuando condiciones fuertes de simetría son impuestas sobre  $\mathcal{P}$ . En particular, presentamos algunas construcciones originales de extensiones!

Palabras Clave: Politopos abstractos, politopos quirales, teselaciones, toroides, extensiones.

#### Abstract

An abstract polytope is a combinatorial object that generalises geometric structures such as convex polytopes, tilings, maps on surfaces, among others. All such structures present an inductive nature: a polygon can be regarded as a family of line segments glued along their endpoints; a polyhedron can be understood as a family of polygons glued along their edges; a tiling of the space can be thought as a family of polyhedra glued along their faces, an so on. This inductive nature is still present in the abstract notion of a polytope and rises the *extension problem*. Given an abstract polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ , does there exist an abstract polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  such that all the maximal facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ ? In this work we explore the problem when strong symmetry conditions are imposed to  $\mathcal{P}$ . In particular, we show some original construction of chiral extensions in the situation when  $\mathcal{K}$  is a tilling with cubes of the *n*-dimensional torus.

Keywords: Abstract polytopes, chiral polytopes, tilings, toroids, extensions.

## Agradecimientos

Hoy es viernes, más o menos como las 8 de la noche. Estoy a unas cuantas horas de defender mi tesis y no se me pudo ocurrir un mejor lugar para escribir estas últimas palabras que *El bar de siempre*. Para cuando usted, querido lector, esté leyendo las palabras escritas en estas primeras páginas seguramente el lunes 19 de agosto de 2019 estará por lo menos, en el presente. En ese momento estas palabras habrán pasado por varias lecturas mías para convencerme de quedarse en estas páginas.

Esta tesis representó, sin duda alguna, el ejercicio de escritura más retador al que me he enfrentado. Hoy casi está terminada y debo admitir que las palabras en estas primeras páginas están muy cerca de ser la parte que más trabajo me ha costado. Sin embargo, si pretendo ser consistente con lo sucedido en este trabajo, solamente puedo prometer una cosa: estas páginas de agradecimientos van a ser mucho más largas de lo que yo esperaba.

Y con esto no te confundas, querido lector, (quiero pensar que para el tercer párrafo ya nos podemos hablar de tú). El que la longitud de este texto sea largo no me exhime de la posibilidad de que se me olvide mencionar a algunas personas con las que estoy tremendamente agradecido. Han sido mucho años acumulados y muchas las personas que me han acompañado no solo durante el doctorado, sino durante todo mi camino como estudiante de matemáticas. Dado que no me caracterizo por tener una excelente memoria, me disculpo por adelantado si esperabas que tu nombre apareciera aquí y simplemente se me pasó. Te aseguro que si llegaste a estas palabras bajo mi consentimiento, no tienes nada de qué sentirte.

Por supuesto, las primeras dos personas a quienes tengo que agradecer es a *Don Jorge* y a *Doña Soco*, mis papás. El primero me vio comenzar esto y sé que desde algún lugar hoy está supervisando las malas decisiones con las que continúo mi vida (las que siempre apoyó). Tengo la fortuna de sí poder ver a Doña Soco a la cara y, perdón si te da envidia querido lector, pero te aseguro que tengo a la mamá más maravillosa del mundo. Normalmente no se los digo mucho, porque me chiveo, pero saben que a los dos los amo con todo mi corazón. Más o menos de la misma manera quiero mencionar a mis hermanos, Sandra, Ulises y Vero. Cada uno y a su manera siempre me han apoyado y acompañado en todo lo que he decidido hacer y sin ellos yo no sería la persona que soy hoy en día. Por todo, ¡Gracias!

Por supuesto, este trabajo no habría existido jamás sin el esfuerzo y la paciencia de Daniel, mi asesor. A quien, sin importar qué tan larga sea esta tesis, nunca voy a tener palabras para agradecerle todo lo que me ha enseñado; dentro y fuera de lo académico. Pocos tienen la fortuna de poder presumir de tener una relación con su asesor como la que yo tengo con Daniel. Él se ha convertido no solo en mi guía sino en uno de mis mejores amigos. Ha sido sin duda un pilar en mi formación como matemático y por supuesto, en mi vida. Podría continuar por cientos de páginas, pero mejor me quedo con un bien sincero ¡Infinitas (de esos infinitos que a los dos nos caen re mal) gracias!

Más o menos de la misma manera debo Agradecer a Malú. Ella me enseño a ver las matemáticas de una menra distinta. Me hizo tomarles el gusto y hoy soy el matemático que soy en buena parte por su mano de obra. Muchísimas veces ha sido mucho más que una profesora y no es secreto para nadie que le tengo un cariño muy parecido al que le tengo a mi mamá. ¡Muchas gracias por todo!

Quizás este es un excelente momento para agradecer también a Isa, Barry, Edgardo y Miguel, quienes sirvieron como jurado de este trabajo. Sus comentarios mejoraron de manera sustancial el contenido y la presentación del mismo. Además, cada uno me ha ofrecido un lado humano que aprecio muchísimo. También debo mencionar aquí a Roli, Asia, Egon, Marston, Primož Potočnik, y seguro algunos otros que se me olvidan; ustedes representan una constante inspiración para seguir haciendo matemáticas.

En los últimos años he aprendido que uno puede construir una familia a la que los vínculos sanguíneos les salen sobrando. Yo tuve la suerte de encontrarme cada día con personas que no solo son mis amigos, sino son esa familia con la que no comparto genes (creo). Por supuesto, estoy hablando de Prima, Novo, Sofi, César, Karla, Isra, Karley, Héctor, Toño, Ale, Victor, Pouleth, Ariet, Haydeé, Yes, Lalo, Augusto, David y Gaby. Ustedes tendrán un lugar muy importante en mi corazón y no importa a dónde nos lleve la vida, sepan que jamás los olvidaré.

Hablando de familia, no puedo dejar de mencionar a mi familia académica. Estas personas me han hecho sentir en casa cuando más lejos de casa me encontraba y me han mostrado un lugar seguro y especial donde siempre he podido recurrir. Daniel, Isa, Micael, Abú, Collins, Elías, María y Naila, tengan por seguro que lo que me une a ustedes va muchísimo más alla de matemáticas. De verdad, por muchas razones, se han convertido en la familia que uno escoge.

Es muy común que el doctorado se mida en  $a\tilde{n}os$ ; no es lo único. Sin duda hay personas con las que he madurado el cariño como maduró el doctorado, en  $a\tilde{n}os$ . No le dire más, querido lector, porque ha sido probado que no soy el mejor escogiendo palabras, pero créame que estas personas saben lo que significan para mí y que a pesar de los  $a\tilde{n}os$  se me sigue *erizando* la piel a ratitos.

En el camino también me he encontrado con amigos muy queridos, sin quienes yo no habría podido llegar hasta aquí. No pretendo listarlos ni que la lista sea exhaustiva, pero sí quiero mencionar a algunos de los que se me vienen a la mente (en alfabético): Ahtziri, Anayeli, Andrés (Negro), Bere, Berna, Blas, Bosco, Coppe, César, César (Canas), Daniel Juan, Enrique, Eric, Fabi, Fany, Fernando Hdz., Gabo, Gil, Ginna, Hugo, Héctor Téllez, Isa (Dude), Iván Ek, Jessica, Jesús Hdz., Jimmy, Johanna, Juan Luis, Kim, Leti, Manolo, Marco, Marisol, Marthita, Migue, Natalia, Rafa, René, Reynaldo, Richi, Rob, Rubas, Serranito, Sonia, Tiko, Yas.

Finalmente y por supuesto, no por eso menos importante, hay algunas personas que merecen ser mencionadas por la excelente manera en la que realizan su trabajo: Morelia, Cati, Lidia, Maura, Valde y Mireya. Mención aparte la merecen Ale y Felix de Amati Morelia y en general, el personal de este maravilloso lugar. Debo confesar, querido lector, que ya merito está por empezar el blues en el bar. Por esta razón prefiero dejar los agradecimientos por aquí con el riesgo de que se me olviden muchas personas. Repito lector, si tú eres uno de esos que se me están olvidando, recibe la más grande de mis disculpas.

## Introducción

Los poliedros altamente simétricos han sido del interés de la humanidad no solamente por su estructura matemática, sino también por su grado de belleza. Existe evidencia de que los cinco sólidos platónicos se conocían antes de los griegos. Sin embargo, los griegos tiene el crédito de formalizar el conocimiento matemático de estos objetos. De hecho, casi todo el libro 13 de los Elementos de Euclides se dedica a la clasificación de los poliedros regulares (ver [22]).

El estudio formal de estructuras similares a los poliedros con alto grado de simetría tomó un segundo aire en el siglo XX. Los trabajos de Coxeter y Grünbaum fueron significativos y sentaron las bases de lo que hoy conocemos como politopos abstractos. Tratar de dar una lista exhaustiva de sus contribuciones sería imposible, pero el lector puede encontrar de su interés [9, 11, 26, 27].

Los politopos abstractos son estructuras combinatorias que generalizan a los politopos convexos así como a los politopos geométricos considerados por Coxeter y Grünbaum. Ellos también incluyen a las teselaciones del espacio Euclidiano y del espacio Hiperbólico así como la mayoría de los mapas en superficies. La noción de politopo abstracto fue introducida por Danzer y Schulte en [18], donde ellos describen sus propiedades básicas. La investigación durante los primeros años de la teoría se enfocó mayormente en los *politopos regulares abstractos*. Estos son los politopos abstractos que presentan un grado máximo de simetría por reflexiones combinatorias. Los politopos abstractos regulares mantuvieron la mayoría de la atención de la comunidad por muchos años y mucha teoría alrededor de éstos ha sido desarrollada. Probablemente la consecuencia más concreta de todo este trabajo sea [40], donde una gran cantidad de teoría acerca de los politopos abstractos regulares puede ser encontrada.

Los politopos abstractos heredan una estructura recursiva de sus análogos convexos y geométricos: un cubo puede ser pensado como una familia de seis cuadrados pegados por sus aristas. En general, un *n*-politopo  $\mathcal{P}$  puede ser pensado como una familia de (n-1)-politopos pegados a través de sus (n-2)-caras. Estos (n-1)-politopos son las *facetas* de  $\mathcal{P}$  y cuando todos estos politopos son *isomorfos* a un politopo fijo  $\mathcal{K}$  entonces decimos que  $\mathcal{P}$  es una extensión de  $\mathcal{K}$ .

El problema de determinar cuando un politopo dado  $\mathcal{K}$  admite una extensión ha sido parte del desarrollo de la teoría desde sus inicios. De hecho, en [18] Danzer y Schulte atacan este problema para politopos regulares. Ellos prueban que todo politopo regular no-degenerado  $\mathcal{K}$  admite una extensión regular. Esta extensión es finita si y solo si  $\mathcal{K}$ es finito. En [17] Danzer prueba que todo politopo regular no-degenerado admite una extensión y que esta extensión es finita (resp. regular) si y solo si  $\mathcal{K}$  es finito (resp. regular). En [57] Schulte construye una extensión regular universal para cada politopo regular  $\mathcal{K}$ . Esta extensión es universal en el sentido de que cualquier otra extensión regular de  $\mathcal{K}$  es un cociente de  $\mathcal{U}$ . En [47, 49] Pellicer desarrolla varias construcciones que tienen como consecuencia que todo politopo regular admite una extensión regular con condiciones preestablecidas sobre su combinatoria local. En particular, esto prueba que todo politopo regular admite una infinidad de extensiones regulares no-isomorfas. Revisaremos estos resultados con detalle en Section 2.1.

Además de los politopos regulares, otra clase de politopos altamente simétricos que ha sido de interés es la de los *politopos quirales*. En algunas otras disciplinas, la palabra quiral es usada para describir objetos que no admiten reflexiones. Sin embargo, cuando hablamos de politopos abstractos, esta palabra se ha reservado para describir aquellos politopos que presentan máxima simetría por rotaciones abstractas pero no admiten reflexiones. Estos fueron introducidos por Schulte y Weiss en [63] como una generalización de los panales torcidos de Coxeter descritos en [10].

A pesar de que la noción de politopo quiral parece ser natural, encontrar ejemplos concretos no ha sido fácil. Los poliedros (3-politopos) quirales finitos han sido estudiados desde el punto de vista de la teoría de mapas en superficies. En [13] se prueba que existen una infinidad de mapas quirales en el toro. Por otro lado, se sabe que no existen mapas quirales en superficies orientables de género 2, 3, 4, 5 o 6 (ver [5, 23], por ejemplo). El ejemplo más pequeño no-toroidal de un mapa quiral fue construido por Wilson en [69]. Los resultados obtenidos por Sherk en [67] implican que existen una infinidad de superficies orientables que admiten mapas quirales.

Encontrar ejemplos de politopos quirales en rangos superior ha probado ser un problema aún más difícil. Algunos ejemplos de 4-politopos quirales pueden ser construidos a partir de las teselaciones regulares del espacio hiperbólico (ver [3, 45, 64]). En [65] Schulte y Weiss desarrollan una técnica para construir extensiones quirales de politopos, la cual sirvió para construir los primeros ejemplos de 5-politopos quirales. Lamentablemente, esta técnica no puede ser usara recursivamente para construir 6-politopos quirales (ver Section 2.2 para más detalle). Por otro lado, la construcción de Schulte y Weiss da como resultado politopos infinitos. Los primeros ejemplos de 5-politopos quirales finitos fueron construidos por Conder, Hubard y Pisanski en [6] con el uso de herramientas combinatorias. En [19] Breda, Jones y Schulte desarrollan una técnica para construir nuevos *n*-politopos quirales finitos a partir de ejemplos conocidos de *n*-politopos quirales finitos. Esta técnica permitió construir ejemplos concretos de politopos quirales de rangos 3, 4 y 5.

No fue sino hasta 2010 que Pellicer probó en [48] la existencia de politopos quirales de todo rango mayor que 3. Su construcción está basada en encontrar una extensión quiral de un politopos regular en particular y puede ser aplicada de manera recursiva a la mínima cubierta regular regular del politopo quiral resultante. Uno de los problemas con esta técnica es que el tamaño de los politopos crece de manera muy rápida con respecto al rango y tener ejemplos concretos en rangos mayores que 4 usando esta construcción supera el poder computacional actual.

El problema de encontrar extensiones quirales de politopos abstractos ha sido uno de los principales enfoques para construir nuevos ejemplos de politopos quirales. Sin embargo, los resultado son bastante menos abundantes que sus análogos para politopos regulares. Si  $\mathcal{P}$  es un *n*-politopo quiral, entonces sus facetas son o bien regulares y orientables o bien quirales. En cualquier caso, las (n-2)-caras de  $\mathcal{P}$  deben ser regulares (ver Section 1.2 para detalles). Esto implica que is  $\mathcal{P}$  es una extensión quiral de  $\mathcal{K}$ , entonces  $\mathcal{K}$  es o bien regular o bien quiral con facetas regulares.

Si  $\mathcal{K}$  es quiral con facetas regulares, se sabe que existe una extensión quiral universal de  $\mathcal{K}$ . Esta extensión universal fue introducida por Schulte y Weiss en [65]. In [16] Cunningham y Pellicer probaron que cualquier politopo quiral finito con facetas regulares admite una extensión quiral finita. Existen ejemplos de politopos regulares orientables que no admiten extensiones quirales (ver [15]), pero estos politopos son extremadamente degenerados. A la fecha de este trabajo no existen construcciones generales de extensiones quirales de politopos regulares orientables que den como resultado ejemplos concretos y fáciles de obtener en la práctica.

La necesidad de encontrar ejemplos concretos de politopos quirales ha sido la principal motivación para este trabajo. En Chapter 1 revisamos las definiciones y conceptos básicos acerca de politopos abstractos y algunas estructuras similares. También presentamos las herramientas necesarias para para desarrollar nuestros resultados. En Chapter 2 repasamos algunos de los resultados conocidos acerca de extensiones de politopos abstractos. Finalmente, en Chapter 3 desarrollamos algunas construcciones que proveen respuestas parciales a algunos de los problemas acerca de extensiones quirales de politopos. En particular, mostramos dos construcciones relacionadas con la combinatoria local de una extensión quiral de un politopo quiral. También presentamos una construcción que da como resultado extensiones quirales de (n + 1)-toroides regulares cúbicos para cualquier n par.

## Introduction

Highly symmetric polyhedra have been of interest to humanity not only for their mathematical structure but also for their degree of beauty. There exists evidence that the five Platonic Solids were known before the Greeks. However, undoubtedly the Greeks have the credit of collecting and formalising the mathematical knowledge about these objects. In fact, most of the  $13^{th}$  book of Euclid's Elements is devoted to the classification of regular polyhedra (see [22]).

The formal study of highly symmetric polyhedra-like structures took a new breath in the  $20^{th}$  century. The works of Coxeter and Grünbaum were significant and set the basis for what today we know as abstract polytopes. Trying to give an exhaustive list of their contributions would be almost impossible, but the reader might find of interest [9, 11, 26, 27].

Abstract polytopes are combinatorial structures that generalise convex polytopes as well as the geometric polytopes considered by Coxeter and Grünbaum. They also include face-to-face tilings of Euclidean and Hyperbolic spaces as well as most maps on surfaces. Abstract polytopes were introduced by Danzer and Schulte in [18] where they describe the basic properties of these objects. The early research on abstract polytopes was focused on the so called *abstract regular polytopes*. These are the abstract polytopes that admit a maximal degree of symmetry by combinatorial reflections. Abstract regular polytopes kept most of the community's attention for several years and a lot of theory was developed. Probably the most concrete consequence of all this work is the text [40], where a large amount of theory about abstract regular polytopes can be found.

Abstract polytopes inherit a natural recursive structure from their convex and geometric analogues: a cube can be thought as a family of six squares glued along their edges. In general, an *n*-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  can be thought as a family of (n-1)-polytopes glued along (n-2)-faces. These (n-1)-polytopes are the *facets* of  $\mathcal{P}$  and whenever all these polytopes are *isomorphic* to a fixed polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  we say that  $\mathcal{P}$  is an extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

The problem of determining whether or not a fixed polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  admits an extension has been part of the theory's development since its beginning. In fact in [18] Danzer and Schulte attack this problem for regular polytopes. They prove that every non-degenerate regular polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  admits an extension and this extension is finite if and only if  $\mathcal{K}$  is finite. In [17] Danzer proves that every non-degenerate polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  admits an extension is finite (resp. regular) if and only if  $\mathcal{K}$  is finite. In [57] Schulte builds a universal regular extension  $\mathcal{U}$  for every

regular polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ . This extension is universal in the sense that every other regular extension of  $\mathcal{K}$  is a quotient of  $\mathcal{U}$ . In [47, 49] Pellicer develops several constructions that have as a consequence that every regular polytope admits a regular extension with prescribed conditions on its local combinatorics. In particular, this proves that every regular polytope admits an infinite number of non-isomorphic regular extensions. We review the mentioned results with more detail in Section 2.1.

Besides regular polytopes, another class of symmetric abstract polytopes that has been of interest is that of *chiral polytopes*. In some other disciplines, the word chiral is used to describe objects that do not admit mirror symmetry. However, when talking about abstract polytopes this word has been reserved to describe those polytopes that admit maximal symmetry by abstract rotations but do not admit mirror reflections. They were introduced by Schulte and Weiss in [63] as a generalisation of Coxeter's twisted honeycombs in [10].

Even though the notion of chiral polytope seems to be natural, finding concrete examples has not been easy. Finite chiral 3-polytopes have been studied in the context of maps on surfaces. In [13] it is proved that there are infinitely many chiral maps on the torus. On the other hand, it is known that there are no chiral maps on orientable surfaces of genus 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 (see [5, 23], for example). The smallest non-toroidal chiral map was constructed by Wilson in [69]. The results obtained by Sherk in [67] imply that there are infinitely many orientable surfaces admitting chiral maps.

Finding examples of chiral polytopes of higher ranks has proved to be an even more difficult problem. Some examples of chiral 4-polytopes were built from hyperbolic tilings in [3, 45, 64]. In [65] Schulte and Weiss develop a technique to build chiral extensions of polytopes, which introduced the first examples of chiral 5-polytopes. However, this technique cannot be applied twice directly, therefore it cannot be used to build 6-polytopes (see Section 2.2 for details). On the other hand, the construction introduced by Schulte and Weiss gives as a result an infinite polytope. The first examples of finite chiral 5-polytopes were constructed by Conder, Hubard and Pisanski in [6] with the use of computational tools. In [19] Breda, Jones and Schulte develop a technique to build new finite chiral *n*-polytopes from known finite chiral *n*-polytopes. This technique allowed the construction of concrete examples of chiral polytopes of ranks 3, 4 and 5.

It was not until 2010 that Pellicer showed in [48] the existence of chiral polytopes of all ranks higher than 3. His construction is based on finding a chiral extension of a particular regular polytope and can be applied recursively to the minimal regular cover of the resulting chiral extension. One of the problems of this techinque is that the size of the polytopes grows very fast and having concrete examples of ranks higher than 4 using this construction exceeds the current computational power.

The problem of finding chiral extensions of abstract polytopes has been one of the main approaches to find new examples of chiral polytopes. However, the results are less numerous than those concerning regular polytopes. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral *n*-polytope, then its facets are either orientably regular or chiral. In any case, the (n-2)-faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  must be regular (see Section 1.2 for details). This implies that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ , then  $\mathcal{K}$  is either regular or chiral with regular facets.

If  $\mathcal{K}$  is chiral with regular facets it is known that there exists a universal chiral

extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ . This universal extension was introduced by Schulte and Weiss in [65]. In [16] Cunningham and Pellicer proved that any finite chiral polytope with regular facets admits a finite chiral extension. There are examples of orientably regular polytopes that do not admit a chiral extension (see [15]), but these examples are extremely degenerate. To the date of this work there are no general constructions of chiral extensions of orientably regular polytopes that provide concrete and practical examples.

The necessity of finding concrete examples of chiral polytopes has been the main motivation of this work. In Chapter 1 we review the basic definitions concerning abstract polytopes and some similar structures. We also introduce some of the tools that we use to develop our results. In Chapter 2 we review some of the known results about extensions of abstract polytopes. We also enumerate a list of related open problems. Finally in Chapter 3 we develop some constructions that provide partial answers to some of the problems regarding chiral extensions of polytopes. In particular we show two constructions that are related to the possibilities for the local combinatorics of a chiral extension of a chiral polytope. We also introduce a construction that gives a chiral extensions of regular cubic (n + 1)-toroids for any even n.

## Chapter 1

# Highly symmetric abstract polytopes

#### **1.1** Basic notions

The research of this work belongs to the area of highly symmetric abstract polytopes. Through this chapter we will provide the basic concepts and the known results related to our research. Several references will appear through the chapter, however most of the basic concepts can be found in [40] and this will be our main reference.

An abstract polytope is a combinatorial object that shares many properties with the face lattice of a convex polytope. However, abstract polytopes also encode the combinatorial information of structures such as tilings of Euclidean and Hyperbolic spaces, most maps on surfaces and tilings of manifolds, as well as some other objects with in principle, no natural geometric interpretation. Formally speaking:

**Definition 1.1.1.** Let *n* be a non-negative integer. An *abstract polytope of rank n* is a partially ordered set  $(\mathcal{P}, \leq)$  (we usually omit the order symbol), that satisfies Items 1 to 4 listed below.

1.  $\mathcal{P}$  has a maximum element  $F_n$  and a minimum element  $F_{-1}$ .

The elements of  $\mathcal{P}$  will be called *faces*. This will remind us of the geometric origin of those objects. A *flag* is a maximal chain of  $\mathcal{P}$ . We will require that

2. every flag of  $\mathcal{P}$  contains exactly (n+2) elements.

Item 2 lets us to define a rank function  $rk : \mathcal{P} \to \{-1, 0, 1, 2, \dots, n\}$  in such a way that  $F_{-1}$  has rank -1, the face  $F_n$  has rank n and for every other face F,

$$rk(F) = |\{G \in \Phi : F_{-1} < G < F\}|,$$

with  $\Phi$  any flag containing F. We will say that a face of  $\mathcal{P}$  is an *i*-face if rk(F) = i. The 0-faces are also called *vertices*, the 1-faces are called *edges* and the (n-1)-faces are called *facets*. Two faces F and G are *incident* if  $F \leq G$  or  $G \leq F$ .

We require that  $\mathcal{P}$  satisfies the *diamond condition*:

3. Given  $i \in \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$ , if F is an (i-1)-face and G is an (i+1)-face such that  $F \leq G$ , then the set  $\{H \in \mathcal{P} : F < H < G\}$  has cardinality 2.

The diamond condition implies that for every flag  $\Phi$  and every  $i \in \{0, 1, \ldots, n-1\}$ , there exists a unique flag  $\Phi^i$  such that  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi^i$  differ exactly in the face of rank i. In this situation we say that  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi^i$  are *adjacent* (or *i*-adjacent if we want to emphasize i). We may extend this definition recursively by taking  $\Phi^{i_1,i_2,\ldots,i_k} = (\Phi^{i_1,\ldots,i_{k-1}})^{i_k}$  for  $k \ge 2$  and  $i_1,\ldots,i_k \in \{0,1,\ldots,n-1\}$ .

Finally, we require that

4.  $\mathcal{P}$  is strongly flag connected, meaning that for every two flags  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$ , there exists a sequence of flags  $\Phi = \Phi_0, \Phi_1, \ldots, \Phi_k = \Psi$  such that for every  $j \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ ,  $\Phi_{j-1}$  and  $\Phi_j$  are adjacent, and  $\Phi \cap \Psi \subseteq \Phi_j$ .

In this work we will use n-polytope as short for "abstract polytope of rank n". Whenever we are talking about convex polytopes it will be mentioned explicitly.

**Definition 1.1.2.** If  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  are two abstract polytopes of rank n, a function  $f: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{Q}$  is an *isomorphism* if f is bijective and  $f(F) \leq f(G)$  if and only if  $F \leq G$ . If there exists an isomorphism between  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$ , then we say that  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  are *isomorphic* and write  $\mathcal{P} \cong \mathcal{Q}$ .

**Example 1.1.3.** The following list enumerates a series of natural examples of the concepts introduced above.

- 1. The face lattice of an *n*-dimensional convex polytope is an abstract polytope of rank *n*. If fact, an abstract polytope is defined in such a way that it shares combinatorial properties with the face lattice of a convex polytope. For an *n*-dimensional convex polytope, the face of rank -1 is the empty set and the face of rank *n* is the entire polytope (see Figure 1.1a for the representation of the tetrahedron as an abstract polytope).
- 2. Up to isomorphism, there is exactly one 0-polytope: the set consisting only of the minimum element and the maximum element. This is the face lattice of a point (convex 0-polytope). There is also a unique 1-polytope: the face lattice of a line segment with two endpoints (a convex 1-polytope) (see Figure 1.1b).
- 3. Every 2-polytope (also called *polygon*) is isomorphic to the incidence poset of a connected 2-valent graph. In particular, for every  $p \in \{2, 3, ..., \infty\}$ , there exists a unique 2-polytope with p vertices and p edges. In Figure 1.1c we show an example of a polygon with 5 vertices and 5 edges.
- 4. The face-to-face tilings of the *n*-dimensional Euclidean space  $\mathbb{E}^n$  or the *n*-dimensional Hyperbolic space  $\mathbb{H}^n$  are examples of (n+1)-polytopes when we consider their face-lattices (see Figure 1.1d).
- 5. A map is an embedding of a finite graph G on a compact surface S in such a way that the connected components of  $S \setminus G$  (the faces of the map) are homeomorphic

to open disks. Almost every map  $\mathcal{M}$  is a 3-polytope by considering as 0-faces and 1-faces the vertices and edges of G, and as 2-faces the faces of  $\mathcal{M}$ . Moreover, every finite abstract 3-polytope induces a map on a certain surface (see Figure 1.1e). Readers interested in more details about highly symmetric maps should refer to [33].

6. We may build a 4-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  from the complete graph  $K_6$  as follows. Take as vertices, edges and 2-faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  the vertices, edges and triangles of  $K_6$ , respectively. The facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  are the five octahedra resulting after removing in turn the edges of the five perfect matchings defined by a given 1-factorization of  $K_6$  (see Figure 1.1f).

Observe that if F and G are faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  such that  $F \leq G$ , then the section

$$G/F = \{H \in \mathcal{P} : F \leqslant H \leqslant G\}$$

is an abstract polytope of rank rk(G) - rk(F) - 1. There is usually no risk of confusion if we identify every face F of  $\mathcal{P}$  with the section  $F/F_{-1}$ . We will use this identification through all this work. If F is a face, then the *co-face* of F is the section  $F_n/F$ . In particular, if F is a vertex, the co-face of F is called the *vertex-figure* at F (see Figure 1.2).

#### Example 1.1.4.

- 1. The tetrahedron has a triangle as vertex-figure at any of its vertices (see Figure 1.2a).
- 2. The vertex-figure at any vertex of a cube is a triangle (Figure 1.2b).
- 3. The 4-dimensional cube has a tetrahedron as vertex-figure at each vertex (see Figure 1.2c).
- 4. The vertex-figure at any vertex of the 4-polytope described in Item 6 of Example 1.1.3 is isomorphic to the map in Figure 1.1e (see [6]).

Historically, much of the research on polytopes has been related to their symmetry properties. The study of this aspect goes back all the way before the Greeks, when the Platonic Solids were already known. Naturally, the results presented in this work are related to highly symmetric polytopes.

Now we will introduce the first notion of homogeneity for abstract polytopes. Observe that for  $i \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ , if F is an (i-2)-face of  $\mathcal{P}$  and G is an (i+1)-face incident to F, then the section G/F is a 2-polytope. Therefore, the section G/F is isomorphic to a  $p_i$ -gon where in general  $p_i$  depends on F and G. When for every  $i, p_i$ depends only on i and not on the choice of the faces F and G we have the following definition.

**Definition 1.1.5.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract *n*-polytope. Assume that for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  there exists  $p_i \in \{2, 3, \ldots, \infty\}$  such that for every pair of incident faces F, G with  $\operatorname{rk}(F) = i - 2$  and  $\operatorname{rk}(G) = i + 1$  the section G/F is isomorphic to a  $p_i$ -gon. Then we say that  $\mathcal{P}$  has *Schläfli type*  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ . We also say that  $\mathcal{P}$  is equivelar of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$  or that  $\mathcal{P}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , for short.



(a) Hasse diagram of the tetrahedron



(b) Hasse diagrams of rank 0 and rank 1 polytopes



(c) Abstract polytopes of rank 2



(e) A map on the torus



(d) Cubic tiling of  $\mathbb{E}^3$ 









Figure 1.2: Vertex figures

**Example 1.1.6.** The following list of examples is intended to illustrate the notion of Schläfli type.

- 1. A polygon with p vertices has Schläfli type  $\{p\}$ .
- 2. The Schläfli types of the tetrahedron, the octahedron, the cube, the icosahedron and the dodecahedron are {3,3}, {3,4}, {4,3}, {3,5} and {5,3}, respectively.
- 3. The Euclidean plane admits a tiling of type  $\{4, 4\}$  with squares, a tiling of type  $\{3, 6\}$  with equilateral triangles and a tiling with of type  $\{6, 3\}$  with regular hexagons.
- 4. The *n*-dimensional cube has Schläfli type  $\{4, \underbrace{3, \ldots, 3}_{n-2}\}$ . Throughout this work we will find it convenient to use exponents to denote sequences of equal symbols. For example, we will say that the *n*-cube has type  $\{4, 3^{n-2}\}$ .
- 5. The *n*-dimensional Euclidean Space  $\mathbb{E}^n$  admits a tiling of type  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}$ .
- 6. As will be discussed later, it is possible to find numerous examples of maps of type  $\{4, 4\}$  on the torus.
- 7. The 4-polytope described in Item 6 of Example 1.1.3 has type  $\{3, 4, 4\}$  (see [6]).

Observe that if an *n*-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , then the facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  are of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-2}\}$  and the vertex-figures of  $\mathcal{P}$  are of type  $\{p_2, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ . Moreover, these numbers encode the local combinatorics of  $\mathcal{P}$ . For instance,  $p_{n-1}$  denotes the number of facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  around every (n-3)-face. For example, around every vertex of the cube there are 3 faces. Around every edge of the 4-dimensional cube there are 3 facets (3-dimensional cubes).

The notion of symmetry has motivated plenty of research about convex polytopes and other similar structures. The generalisation to abstract polytopes has been intrinsically related to the most symmetric ones. The following discussion will introduce the basic notions about symmetries of abstract polytopes. **Definition 1.1.7.** An *automorphism* of an abstract polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is an order-preserving bijection of the faces of  $\mathcal{P}$ . The *automorphism group* of a polytope  $\mathcal{P}$ , denoted by Aut( $\mathcal{P}$ ), is the group consisting of all automorphisms of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

The automorphism group is the combinatorial analogue to the symmetry group of a convex polytope. The group  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  acts naturally on the set of faces of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Moreover, since every element  $\gamma$  of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  must preserve order, it follows from Item 2 of Definition 1.1.1 that  $\gamma$  must preserve rank. This implies that the automorphism group of  $\mathcal{P}$  acts on the set  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  of flags of  $\mathcal{P}$  by

$$\Phi\gamma = \{F\gamma : F \in \Phi\},\$$

for every  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  and  $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$ . In this work the automorphism group of  $\mathcal{P}$  will induce right actions on flags as well as on the faces of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

The action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  has very interesting properties.

**Proposition 1.1.8.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract *n*-polytope. The action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  has the following properties.

1. If  $\gamma \in Aut(\mathcal{P})$  and  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$ , then

$$(\Phi\gamma)^i = (\Phi^i)\gamma, \tag{1.1.9}$$

for every  $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$ .

- 2. The action is free, meaning that the stabiliser of any flag is trivial.
- 3. Item 1 characterises the automorphism group. This is, given a bijection  $\gamma$ :  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P}) \to \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  that satisfies Equation (1.1.9) for every flag  $\Phi$  and every  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ , there exists a unique automorphism  $\overline{\gamma}$  such that the permutation of  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  induced by  $\overline{\gamma}$  is precisely  $\gamma$ .

Proof. To prove Item 1 just observe that for every flag  $\Phi$ , every automorphism  $\gamma$  and every  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  the flags  $\Phi\gamma$ ,  $(\Phi\gamma)^i$  and  $\Phi^i\gamma$  have the same faces of rank j for every  $j \neq i$ . Note as well that the faces of rank i of  $\Phi\gamma$  and  $(\Phi^i)\gamma$  are different since  $\gamma$ is a bijection. By definition, the faces of rank i of  $\Phi\gamma$  and  $(\Phi\gamma)^i$  are different. By the Diamond Condition it follows that  $(\Phi\gamma)^i = (\Phi^i)\gamma$ .

We will use Item 1 to prove Item 2. First observe that by applying Item 1 inductively we have that

$$(\Phi^{i_1,\dots,i_k})\gamma = (\Phi\gamma)^{i_1,\dots,i_k}$$

for every  $i_1, \ldots, i_k \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ . Now assume that  $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  is such that  $\Phi \gamma = \Phi$ for some  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$ . We want to show that  $\gamma = \varepsilon$ , where  $\varepsilon$  denotes the identity of Aut( $\mathcal{P}$ ). Let  $\Psi$  be any flag of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Since  $\mathcal{P}$  is strongly flag-connected then there exist a sequence  $i_1, \ldots, i_k \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$  such that  $\Psi = \Phi^{i_1, \ldots, i_k}$ . Then we have

$$\Psi\gamma = (\Phi^{i_1,\dots,i_k})\gamma = (\Phi\gamma)^{i_1,\dots,i_k} = \Phi^{i_1,\dots,i_k} = \Psi.$$

Hence if  $\gamma$  fixes one flag, then it fixes every flag of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Since every face belongs to at least one flag and every flag has precisely one face of every rank, an automorphism fixing every flag must fix every face.

In order to prove Item 3, define  $\overline{\gamma}: \mathcal{P} \to \mathcal{P}$  as follows. For every face F of  $\mathcal{P}$  with  $\operatorname{rk}(F) = i$  let  $\Phi$  be a flag with  $F \in \Phi$ . Define  $F\overline{\gamma}$  as the face of rank i of  $\Phi\gamma$ . If  $\Psi$  is another flag containing F then there exist flags  $\Phi_0, \ldots, \Phi_k$  such that  $\Phi = \Phi_0, \Psi = \Phi_k, \Phi \cap \Psi \subseteq \Phi_j$  for every  $j \in \{0, \ldots, k\}$  and where  $\Phi_{j-1}$  and  $\Phi_j$  are adjacent flags. Since  $\gamma$  maps adjacent flags to adjacent flags, the flag of rank i of  $\Phi_j \gamma$  is the same for every  $j \in \{0, \ldots, k\}$ . It follows that  $\overline{\gamma}$  is well defined. Observe that  $\gamma^{-1}$  is the inverse of  $\overline{\gamma}$ , therefore,  $\overline{\gamma}$  is bijective. Finally if  $F \leq G$  then there exists a flag  $\Phi$  containing both F and G. Therefore  $\Phi\gamma$  contains both  $F\overline{\gamma}$  and  $G\overline{\gamma}$ , implying that  $\overline{\gamma}$  is order-preserving. The uniqueness of  $\overline{\gamma}$  follows from Item 2.

Item 3 of Proposition 1.1.8 offers an important characterisation of the automorphisms of a polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  in terms of the way they act on the flags. This characterisation will be useful later when structures slightly more general than polytopes are considered.

Before finishing this section we will introduce an important concept.

**Definition 1.1.10.** If  $(\mathcal{P}, \leq)$  is a polytope then the *dual of*  $\mathcal{P}$  is the partially ordered set  $(\mathcal{P}, \leq_{\delta})$  where  $F \leq_{\delta} G$  if and only if  $G \leq F$ . We usually denote  $(\mathcal{P}, \leq_{\delta})$  by  $\mathcal{P}^{\delta}$  or  $\mathcal{P}^*$ . A polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is *self-dual* if  $\mathcal{P} \cong \mathcal{P}^*$ .

The cube and the octahedron are dual of each other. The tiling of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  with cubes is self-dual. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$  then  $\mathcal{P}^*$  is of type  $\{p_{n-1}, \ldots, p_1\}$ .

The notion of duality, as well as some other notions introduced in this section, have been studied in the context of convex polytopes with some purposes not related to the topic of this work. If the reader is interested in details about the theory of convex polytopes we suggest [28] and [37].

## **1.2** Regular and chiral polytopes

Throughout this section we will start the study of highly symmetric polytopes. We will focus on two of the most studied classes of polytopes: regular and chiral. In particular we will explain the structures of their automorphism groups.

From now on we will work with rooted polytopes, meaning that we will fix a flag  $\Phi_0$  which we will call the *base flag*. Several of the properties described below will depend on the choice of the base flag. If the polytope is regular (defined below), the selection of the base flag has no important consequences. However, if the polytope is chiral this choice is important and we will discuss its implications later. In any case, we will see that for chiral polytopes there are essentially two different selections.

An immediate consequence of Item 2 of Proposition 1.1.8 is that given a flag  $\Psi$  of a polytope  $\mathcal{P}$ , there exists at most one automorphism of  $\mathcal{P}$  mapping the base flag  $\Phi_0$ to  $\Psi$ . This observation offers a bound on the size of the automorphism group. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is an abstract polytope, then

 $|\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})| \leq |\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})|.$ 

In fact, it is clear that  $|\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})|$  is a divisor of  $|\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})|$  when  $\mathcal{P}$  is finite.

The previous paragraph motivates the following definition.

**Definition 1.2.1.** An abstract polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is *regular* if the action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  on the flags of  $\mathcal{P}$  is transitive. In particular, if  $\mathcal{P}$  is finite, this occurs if and only if  $|\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})| = |\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})|$ .

Informally speaking, regular polytopes are those that have the highest degree of symmetry. According to [40], this definition of regularity for convex polytopes seems to have been given first by Du Val in [21]. It generalises the notions of regularity given by Coxeter in [11, 12] for dimensions 3 and 4. In the literature, several notions of regularity of polytopal-like structures have appeared, a more detailed discussion about them can be found in [38]. See also [36].

The unique polytope of rank 0 is trivially regular. The unique 1-polytope is regular since swapping the two vertices induces a non-trivial automorphism that swaps the two flags. Every finite polygon (2-polytope) is regular, since it is isomorphic to the convex regular one. The infinite polygon  $\{\infty\}$  is also regular. The Platonic Solids and the tilings of the Euclidean plane of types  $\{4, 4\}$ ,  $\{3, 6\}$  and  $\{6, 3\}$  are examples of regular 3-polytopes. The tiling of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  with *n*-dimensional cubes is a regular polytope of rank (n + 1).

On the other hand, the polytope of Item 6 of Example 1.1.3 is not regular; however, this is not obvious from the construction presented here. See [6] for details.

In Chapter 3 we will build some examples of regular and non-regular polytopes.

Observe that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a regular polytope, then it is equivelar. The converse is not necessarily true (see Example 1.3.14). However, it has been proved that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is an equivelar convex polytope, then  $\mathcal{P}$  is isomorphic to a regular polytope (see [38]).

In the following paragraphs we will discuss the structure of the automorphism group of a regular polytope. First observe that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a regular *n*-polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ , then for every  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  there exists an automorphism  $\rho_i$  such that

$$\Phi_0 \rho_i = \Phi_0^i. \tag{1.2.2}$$

These automorphisms will be called *abstract reflections* with respect to the base flag  $\Phi_0$ . The name is inspired by the convex case and the study of regular tilings of Euclidean and Hyperbolic spaces, where these automorphisms are geometric reflections (see Figure 1.3)

We will show some basic properties of the automorphisms  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1}$ . Our main reference will be [40, Chapter 2].

**Proposition 1.2.3.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract regular *n*-polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Let  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1}$  be the abstract reflections with respect to  $\Phi_0$ . Then

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \rho_0, \dots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle.$$

*Proof.* Let  $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  and let  $\Psi = \Phi_0 \gamma$ . We will show that there is an automorphism of  $\langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$  mapping  $\Phi_0$  to  $\Psi$ . The result will follow from the fact that the action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  is free.



Figure 1.3: Abstract reflections

By the strong flag connectivity of  $\mathcal{P}$ , there exist  $i_1, \ldots, i_k \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  such that  $\Psi = \Phi_0^{i_1, \ldots, i_k}$ . We will proceed by induction over k. If k = 1, then  $\Psi = \Phi_0 \rho_{i_1}$ . Assume that for every  $i_1, \ldots, i_{k-1} \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  there exists an automorphism  $\beta \in \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$  mapping  $\Phi_0$  to  $\Phi_0^{i_1, \ldots, i_{k-1}}$ . Consider the following computation:

$$\Phi_0^{i_1,\dots,i_k} = (\Phi_0^{i_1,\dots,i_{k-1}})^{i_k} = (\Phi_0\beta)^{i_k} = (\Phi_0^{i_k})\beta = \Phi_0\rho_{i_k}\beta.$$

Now,  $\rho_{i_k}\beta \in \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$ , as desired.

The following result is an immediate consequence:

**Corollary 1.2.4.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract *n*-polytope. Then  $\mathcal{P}$  is regular if and only if there exists a flag  $\Phi_0$  and automorphisms  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1}$  that act on  $\Phi_0$  as in Equation (1.2.2).

**Proposition 1.2.5.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a regular *n*-polytope of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ . Let  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$  be its automorphism group. Then the abstract reflections satisfy the following relations:

$$\rho_i^2 = \varepsilon \quad \text{for every } i \in \{0, \dots, n-1\},$$
  

$$(\rho_{i-1}\rho_i)^{p_i} = \varepsilon \quad \text{for every } i \in \{1, \dots, n-1\},$$
  

$$(\rho_i\rho_j)^2 = \varepsilon \quad \text{if } |i-j| \ge 2.$$
(1.2.6)

For certain integers  $p_i$  satisfying  $2 \leq p_i \leq \infty$ . (If  $p_i = \infty$  for some  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  the second relation means that  $\rho_{i-1}\rho_i$  does not have finite order).

*Proof.* The fact that  $\rho_i$  is an involution follows from the fact that

$$\Phi_0 \rho_i^2 = (\Phi_0^i) \rho_i = (\Phi_0 \rho_i)^i = (\Phi_0^i)^i = \Phi_0 \rho_i^2$$

Let  $F_{i-2}$  and  $F_{i+1}$  be the faces of ranks (i-2) and (i+1) of  $\Phi_0$ , respectively. Consider the polygonal section  $F_{i+1}/F_{i-2}$ . This is isomorphic to a convex regular  $p_i$ -gon. Observe that the automorphism  $\rho_{i-1}\rho_i$  acts as a rotation of one step on this polygon. Hence,  $\rho_{i-1}\rho_i$  has order  $p_i$ .

To prove the last relation assume without loss of generality that i < j - 1. Let  $\Phi_0 = \{F_k : -1 \leq k \leq n\}$  such that  $\operatorname{rk}(F_k) = k$ . Let  $F'_k$  denote the unique face of  $\mathcal{P}$  of rank k that is incident to both  $F_{k-1}$  and  $F_{k+1}$  and is different from  $F_k$ . Now consider the following flags:

$$\Phi_{0}^{i} = \{F_{-1}, \dots, F_{i-1}, F_{i}', F_{i+1}, \dots, F_{j}, \dots, F_{n}\}, 
\Phi_{0}^{j} = \{F_{-1}, \dots, F_{i}, \dots, F_{j-1}, F_{j}', F_{j+1}, \dots, F_{n}\}, 
\Phi_{0}^{i,j} = \{F_{-1}, \dots, F_{i-1}, F_{i}', F_{i+1}, \dots, F_{j-1}, F_{j}', F_{j+1}, \dots, F_{n}\} 
= \Phi_{0}^{j,i}.$$

Then we have

$$\Phi_0 \rho_j \rho_i = (\Phi_0^j) \rho_i = (\Phi_0 \rho_i)^j = \Phi_0^{i,j} = \Phi_0^{j,i} = (\Phi_0 \rho_j)^i = (\Phi_0^i) \rho_j = \Phi_0 \rho_i \rho_j$$

It follows that  $\Phi_0(\rho_i\rho_j)^2 = \Phi_0$ , implying that  $(\rho_i\rho_j)^2 = \varepsilon$ .

The following discussion includes not only regular polytopes but a more general class.

Recall that if  $\Gamma$  is a group acting on a set X, then for every  $A, B \subseteq X$ ,

$$\operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(A) \cap \operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(B) = \operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(A \cup B).$$

Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract polytope and  $\Phi_0 = \{F_{-1}, F_0, \ldots, F_n\}$  be a base flag with  $\operatorname{rk}(F_i) = i$ . Assume that  $\Gamma \leq \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  is a group (acting on the set of faces of  $\mathcal{P}$ ). For  $I \subseteq \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  let

$$\Gamma_I = \operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(\{F_i : i \notin I\}).$$

Let  $I, J \subseteq \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ , then

$$\Gamma_{I} \cap \Gamma_{J} = \operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(\{F_{i} : i \notin I\}) \cap \operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(\{F_{j} : j \notin J\})$$
  

$$= \operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(\{F_{i} : i \notin I\} \cup \{F_{j} : j \notin J\})$$
  

$$= \operatorname{Stab}_{\Gamma}(\{F_{k} : k \notin I \cap J\})$$
  

$$= \Gamma_{I \cap J}.$$
(1.2.7)

The condition on Equation (1.2.7) will be called the *intersection property* for  $\Gamma$ .

For our purposes, it will be convenient to understand the structure of the groups  $\Gamma_I$  when  $\Gamma$  is the automorphism group of certain classes of polytopes. The regular case is covered in the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.2.8.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a regular polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0 = \{F_{-1}, \ldots, F_n\}$  and  $\operatorname{rk}(F_i) = i$ . Let  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$  be its automorphism group, as generated by the abstract reflections with respect to  $\Phi_0$ . Let  $I \subseteq \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  and  $\Gamma_I = \operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})}(\{F_i : i \notin I\})$ . Then

$$\Gamma_I = \langle \rho_i : i \in I \rangle.$$

*Proof.* It is clear that  $\langle \rho_i : i \in I \rangle \leq \Gamma_I$ . For the other inclusion it is enough to prove that  $\langle \rho_i : i \in I \rangle$  acts transitively on the flags containing  $\{F_i : i \notin I\}$  (see Item 3 of Proposition 1.1.8). This is essentially the same proof as in Proposition 1.2.3 but restricting the indices to those in I.

With Proposition 1.2.8 in mind, the intersection property for regular polytopes has the form

$$\langle \rho_i : i \in I \rangle \cap \langle \rho_j : j \in J \rangle = \langle \rho_k : k \in I \cap J \rangle \tag{1.2.9}$$

for every  $I, J \subseteq \{0, \ldots, n-1\}.$ 

So far we have shown some properties of the automorphism group of an abstract regular polytopes. It turns out that some of these properties characterise these groups. For convenience we introduce the following definition.

**Definition 1.2.10.** A string C-group of rank n is a group  $\Gamma$  generated by group elements  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1}$  that satisfy Equations (1.2.6) and (1.2.9). It is understood in Equation (1.2.6) that the group elements actually have the periods implied; for example, each  $\rho_i$  is an involution.

Proposition 1.2.5 together with Proposition 1.2.8 imply that the automorphism group of a regular polytope is a string C-group. The following theorem states that every string C-group is the automorphism group of a regular polytope. We will not give the proof of this theorem, but this proof is developed in detail in [40, Section 2E].

**Theorem 1.2.11.** Let  $n \ge 1$  and let  $\Gamma = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$  be a string C-group. Then, up to isomorphism, there exists a unique regular polytope  $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}(\Gamma)$  of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$  such that  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) = \Gamma$  and  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1}$  act as abstract reflections with respect to a flag of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Moreover, the following hold:

- 1. Let  $-1 \leq j < k \leq n$ , and let F be a *j*-face and G a *k*-face of  $\mathcal{P}$  with  $F \leq G$ . Then the section G/F is isomorphic to the polytope  $\mathcal{P}(\langle \rho_{j+1}, \ldots, \rho_{k-1} \rangle)$ . In particular the facets and vertex-figures of  $\mathcal{P}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{P}(\langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-2} \rangle)$  and  $\mathcal{P}(\langle \rho_1, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle)$ , respectively.
- 2.  $\mathcal{P}$  is finite if and only if  $\Gamma$  is finite.
- 3.  $\mathcal{P}$  is self-dual if an only if there exists an involutory group automorphism  $\delta$  of  $\Gamma$  satisfying  $\delta : \rho_i \mapsto \rho_{n-1-i}$  for every  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ .

Theorem 1.2.11 has proved to be a very useful tool to build regular polytopes, since it reduces geometrical the problem to a group-theoretical problem. We will explore some of its applications later, but if the reader is interested in a deeper study of the use of this theorem we suggest [7, 42, 47, 49, 57, 59].

In what remains of this section we will introduce the theory of chiral polytopes. Informally speaking, chiral polytopes are those that admit maximal rotational symmetry but do not admit reflections. We have already talked about reflections in the context of regular polytopes, but before formally introducing chiral polytopes we will discuss the ideas concerning rotations of abstract polytopes. The main reference for this theory will be [63]. **Definition 1.2.12.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract regular *n*-polytope with automorphism group  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$ . The rotation subgroup of  $\mathcal{P}$  is the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  generated by the elements

$$\sigma_i = \rho_{i-1}\rho_i$$

for  $i \in \{1, \dots, n-1\}$ .

The elements  $\sigma_i$  are called the *abstract rotations* with respect to the base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Observe that the action of these elements is given by

$$\Phi_0 \sigma_i = \Phi_0^{i,i-1}$$

This means that if  $\Phi_0 = \{F_{-1}, \ldots, F_n\}$ , then  $\sigma_i$  acts as a rotation of the polygonal section  $F_{i+1}/F_{i-2}$ .

In the context of convex regular polytopes or tilings of Euclidean and Hyperbolic spaces, the elements  $\sigma_i$  are represented by actual rotations. In the context of maps on surfaces, a map with automorphisms  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  has been traditionally called *regular* (see [13, 33, 70]). More recently the word *rotary* has been used to denote these maps to avoid confusion with the notion of regularity for abstract polytopes. In the following paragraphs we will discuss how this notion extends naturally to abstract polytopes. It is important to remark that this has been done before for maniplexes, a common generalisation for maps and polytopes (see [20]). We will follow their ideas.

Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a an abstract polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . We will assign colours to the set of flags of  $\mathcal{P}$  in a recursive way as follows. The flag  $\Phi_0$  will be white. The flags adjacent to  $\Phi_0$  will be black. If  $\Psi$  is a flag adjacent to a white flag, then  $\Psi$  will be black; if  $\Psi$  is adjacent to a black flag, then  $\Psi$  will be white. Let  $\mathcal{F}^w(\mathcal{P})$  denote the set of white flags. It might be the case that  $\mathcal{F}^w(\mathcal{P}) = \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$ ; this is, that every flag of  $\mathcal{P}$ is white (and hence every flag of  $\mathcal{P}$  is also black). In this situation we say that  $\mathcal{P}$  is *non-orientable*. If the previous procedure induces a partition of the flags of  $\mathcal{P}$  in white and black flags in such a way that adjacent flags are of different colours, then we say that  $\mathcal{P}$  is *orientable*.

The notions of orientable and non-orientable regular maps in terms of colourings of flags coincide with the property of a map lying on an orientable or a non-orientable surface, respectively (see [5]). Readers interested in a discussion about colourings of flags on maps, consult [35]. In [51] a discussion about bicolourings of maniplexes can be found.

**Definition 1.2.13.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a *n*-polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . We say that  $\mathcal{P}$  is *rotary* if Aut( $\mathcal{P}$ ) acts transitively on the set of white flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ . We denote by Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{P}$ ) the subgroup of Aut( $\mathcal{P}$ ) consisting of the elements that map  $\Phi_0$  to a white flag.

If  $\mathcal{P}$  is rotary and non-orientable then  $\mathcal{P}$  is regular and  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$ . The theory of rotary polytopes is interesting precisely when it is restricted to orientable polytopes. Therefore, for now on and unless it is specified otherwise, we will assume that our polytopes are orientable.

Observe that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is an orientable regular polytope then the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ , as defined in Definition 1.2.12, permutes the white flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ . This implies that Definition 1.2.13 is indeed a generalisation of orientable regular polytopes. In fact, if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a

regular polytope (no necessarily orientable), the rotation subgroup  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  has index at most 2 in  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$ . The polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is orientable if and only if  $[\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) : \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})] =$ 2. A regular orientable polytope is also called an *orientably regular* polytope.

*Remark* 1.2.14. Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a rotary polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . The set of white flags and black flags of  $\mathcal{P}$  are respectively the orbits of  $\Phi_0$  and  $\Phi_0^0$  under the action of Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{P}$ ).

For a rotay polytope, white flags and black flags are just another name for what in [63] are called *even* and *odd* flags, respectively.

As mentione before, orientable rotary polytopes is a class of polytopes that include orientable regular polytopes. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is an orientably regular polytope then adjacent flags belong to different orbits of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ . However, since  $\mathcal{P}$  is regular there exist automorphisms, for instance  $\rho_0$ , that map white flags to black flags. The automorphism  $\rho_0$  is a reflection, and any other automorphism mapping one orbit to the other is a product of  $\rho_0$  by an element of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ . Therefore, a rotary polytope that does not admit reflections should not admit an automorphism mapping white flags to black flags. Hence, the formal definition of chiral polytopes is the following.

**Definition 1.2.15.** An abstract polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is *chiral* if its automorphism group Aut( $\mathcal{P}$ ) induces two orbits on flags in such a way that adjacent flags belong to different orbits.

The word *chiral* has more than one interpretation in the scientific community. It comes from the Greek  $\chi \epsilon \varphi$  (hand) and usually refers to an object that cannot be continuously moved to make it coincide with its mirror image. In principle, a chiral object might not have any symmetry at all. Its first use is attributed to Lord Kelvin, who in [34, Section 22] wrote

I call any geometrical figure, or group of points, 'chiral', and say that it has chirality if its image in a plane mirror, ideally realized, cannot be brought to coincide with itself. [...] Equal and similar left and right hands are heterochirally similar or 'allochirally' similar (but heterochirally is better). They are also called 'enantiomophs'[...]

In the context of abstract polytopes the term chiral has been reserved for the "most symmetric polytopes that do not admit reflectional symmetry". The concept was introduced by Schulte and Weiss in [63] as a generalisation of Coxeter's twisted honeycombs in [10].

As noted before, every polytope of rank 0, 1 and 2 is regular; therefore, a chiral polytope has rank at least 3. The polytope of Item 6 of Example 1.1.3 is a chiral 4-polytope. In Section 1.3 we will show a family of examples of chiral 3-polytopes and in Chapter 3 we will give constructions of chiral polytopes of higher ranks.

Note that the following remark is obvious.

*Remark* 1.2.16. Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an orientable rotary polytope. Then  $\mathcal{P}$  is either orientably regular or chiral. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is chiral, then  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) = \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ .

A chiral polytope must be equivelar. This is not obvious in principle but it follows from the fact the automorphism group of a chiral polytope is transitive on polygonal sections determined by faces of the same rank. In fact, if  $i \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ , let  $F_{i+1}$  and  $F_{i-2}$  be the faces of ranks i + 1 and i - 2 of the base flag  $\Phi_0$ , respectively. If  $G_{i+1}$ and  $G_{i-2}$  are any other faces of ranks i + 1 and i - 2, with  $G_{i-2} < G_{i+1}$ , and  $\Psi$  is a flag containing both, then either  $\Psi$  or  $\Psi^i$  is a white flag of  $\mathcal{P}$  containing  $G_{i+1}$  and  $G_{i-2}$ . It follows that there is an automorphism of  $\mathcal{P}$  mapping  $\Phi_0$  to either  $\Psi$  or  $\Psi^i$ . This automorphism maps the section  $F_{i+1}/F_{i-2}$  to the section  $G_{i+1}/G_{i-2}$ .

In fact, following basically the same ideas discussed in the previous paragraph we have the following result.

**Proposition 1.2.17** (Proposition 2 of [63]). Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a chiral n-polytope. Let  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ , then  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  acts transitively on the set of chains resulting of removing the face of rank i of each flag of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

*Remark* 1.2.18. Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a rotary polytope. Let  $\Phi_0$  be the base flag of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Then the set of white flags of  $\mathcal{P}$  is the set of flags  $\Psi$  satisfying that

$$\Psi = \Phi_0^{i_1, \dots, i_k}$$

for some k even.

Moreover, the bicolouring of flags of  $\mathcal{P}$  induces a bicolouring on any section of  $\mathcal{P}$  as follows. If  $F_i \leq F_j$  are faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  with  $\operatorname{rk}(F_i) = i$  and  $\operatorname{rk}(F_j) = j$ , let  $\Phi = \{F_{-1}, \ldots, F_i, \ldots, F_j, \ldots, F_n\}$  be an arbitrary flag containing  $F_i$  and  $F_j$  with  $\operatorname{rk}(F_k) = k$  for every  $k \in \{-1, \ldots, n\}$ . Every flag of the section  $F_j/F_i$  is of the form  $\{F_i, G_{i+1}, \ldots, G_{j-1}, F_j\}$  with  $\operatorname{rk}(G_k) = k$  for  $k \in \{i + 1, \ldots, j - 1\}$ . Then we assign to this flag (of the section) the colour of the flag of  $\mathcal{P}$  consisting of the faces  $F_{-1}, \ldots, F_i, G_{i+1}, \ldots, G_{j-1}, F_j, \ldots, F_n$ . This colouring is such that adjacent flags of the section have different colours, since they are extended to adjacent flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Moreover, recall that  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  acts transitively on flags of the same colour. An implication of this discussion is the following.

**Proposition 1.2.19** ([63, Proposition 10]). If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral polytope, then every section of  $\mathcal{P}$  is either chiral or orientably regular.

And an immediate consequence of Propositions 1.2.17 and 1.2.19 is

**Proposition 1.2.20** ([63, Proposition 9]). For a chiral n-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$ , the facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  are either chiral or orientably regular, but the (n-2)-faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  are always regular.

In the following paragraphs we will discuss the structure of the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  for  $\mathcal{P}$  a rotary polytope.

Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a rotary *n*-polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Observe that if  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  are adjacent flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ , then one is white and the other is black. It follows that there exist automorphisms  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  such that

$$\Phi_0 \sigma_i = \Phi_0^{i,i-1}.$$

We will call these automorphisms the *abstract rotations* of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

Now we will introduce some notation that will help us to develop some theory about the rotation group of a rotary n-polytope.

For  $i, j \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$  with i < j we define the automorphisms

$$\tau_{i,j}=\sigma_{i+1}\cdots\sigma_j.$$

Note that this is a small change with respect to the notation of [63, Equation (5)]. What they call  $\tau_{i,j}$  for us is  $\tau_{i-1,j}$ . Observe that  $\tau_{i-1,i} = \sigma_i$  for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ . It is also convenient to define  $\tau_{j,i} = \tau_{i,j}^{-1}$  for i < j and  $\tau_{-1,j} = \tau_{i,n} = \tau_{i,i} = \varepsilon$  for every  $i, j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ . In particular, we have that

$$\langle \tau_{i,j}: i, j \in \{0, \dots, n-1\} \rangle = \langle \sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle.$$

We also have

$$\Phi_0 \tau_{i,j} = \Phi_0^{j,i}. \tag{1.2.21}$$

**Proposition 1.2.22.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a rotary polytope. Let  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  be the abstract rotations with respect to the base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Then

$$(\sigma_i \cdots \sigma_j)^2 = \varepsilon \tag{1.2.23}$$

for every  $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  with i < j.

*Proof.* It follows from the fact that  $\Phi_0 \sigma_i \cdots \sigma_j = \Phi_0^{j,i-1}$  and  $j - (i-1) \ge 2$ .

A particular consequence of the previous result is that  $\tau_{i,j}$  is an involution whenever  $|i-j| \ge 2$ .

**Proposition 1.2.24.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a rotary *n*-polytope. Let  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  be the abstract rotations with respect to the base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Then

$$\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$$

*Proof.* We will show that  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \tau_{i,j} : i, j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\} \rangle$ . One inclusion is obvious since  $\tau_{i,j} \in \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  for every  $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ . The idea of the other inclusion is to show that the group  $\langle \tau_{i,j} : i, j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\} \rangle$  acts transitively on the set of white flags.

Let  $\Psi$  be a white flag. By the strong flag connectivity of  $\mathcal{P}$ , there exist  $i_1, \ldots, i_k \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  such that

$$\Psi = \Phi_0^{i_1, \dots, i_k}.$$

By Remark 1.2.18, k must be even. Assume that k = 2d; the proof is by induction over d.

If d = 1, then

$$\Psi = \Phi_0^{i_1, i_2} = \Phi_0 \tau_{i_2, i_1}.$$

Suppose that for any given  $i_1, \ldots, i_{2(d-1)} \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  there exists an automorphism  $\beta \in \langle \tau_{i,j} : i, j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\} \rangle$  such that  $\Phi_0 \beta = \Phi_0^{i_1, \ldots, i_{2(d-1)}}$ . Now take  $i_1, \ldots, i_{2(d)} \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  and consider the following calculation

$$\Phi_0^{i_1,\dots,i_{2d}} = (\Phi_0^{i_1,\dots,i_{2(d-1)}})^{i_{2d-1},i_{2d}} = (\Phi_0\beta)^{i_{2d-1},i_{2d}} = (\Phi_0^{i_{2d-1},i_{2d}})\beta = \Phi_0\tau_{i_{2d},i_{2d-1}}\beta.$$

But our assumptions on  $\beta$  imply that  $\tau_{i_{2d},i_{2d-1}}\beta \in \langle \tau_{i,j} : i, j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\} \rangle$ .

Now, since  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) \leq \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$ , then  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  must satisfy the general intersection property of Equation (1.2.7). As we did for regular polytopes we are interested in finding the groups  $\Gamma_I$  for  $\Gamma = \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ . These groups are described in the following result. We will give this result without proof since the proof is essentially the same as that of Proposition 1.2.24. A detailed proof can be found in [63]; recall that we denote their  $\tau_{r,s}$  by  $\tau_{r-1,s}$ .

**Proposition 1.2.25** (Proposition 5 of [63]). Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an orientably regular or a chiral n-polytope. Let  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  be the abstract rotations with respect to the base flag  $\Phi_0 = \{F_{-1}, \ldots, F_n\}$ . For  $i, j \in \{-1, \ldots, n\}$  let  $\tau_{i,j}$  be as defined in Equation (1.2.21). For  $I \subseteq \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ , we have

$$\operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})}(\{F_i : i \notin I\}) = \langle \tau_{i,j} : i, j \in I \rangle.$$

A consequence of the previous proposition is that the intersection property of Equation (1.2.7) for the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  has the form

$$\langle \tau_{i,j} : i, j \in I \rangle \cap \langle \tau_{i,j} : i, j \in J \rangle = \langle \tau_{i,j} : i, j \in I \cap J \rangle.$$
(1.2.26)

So far we have shown properties of the rotation subgroup of a rotay polytope. These properties are shared by the rotation subgroup of an orientably regular polytope and the automorphism group of a chiral polytope. However we have not shown differences between them.

We will give some combinatorial motivation that will allow us to give a criterion to determine whether a group satisfying some particular condition is the rotation group of an orientably regular polytope or the automorphism group of a chiral polytope.

Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an orientably regular *n*-polytope. Let  $\rho_1, \ldots, \rho_{n-1}$  and  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  be the abstract reflections and the abstract rotations described above and taken with respect to a base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Let  $k \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  and let  $\sigma'_1, \ldots, \sigma'_{n-1}$  be the abstract rotations with respect to the flag  $\Psi = \Phi_0^k$ . In other words  $\sigma'_i$  is an automorphism of  $\mathcal{P}$  satisfying

$$\Psi \sigma'_i = \Psi^{i,i-1}$$

for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ . It is clear that  $\sigma'_i = \rho_k \sigma_i \rho_k$ . In particular, for k = 0 we have

$$\sigma_{i}' = \begin{cases} \sigma_{1}^{-1} & \text{if } i = 1, \\ \sigma_{1}^{2}\sigma_{2} & \text{if } i = 2, \\ \sigma_{i} & \text{if } i \ge 3. \end{cases}$$
(1.2.27)

Observe that in this case,  $\sigma_i$  and  $\sigma'_i$  are conjugates in Aut( $\mathcal{P}$ ) but not in Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{P}$ ). Moreover, if  $\Phi$  is another flag, the abstract rotations with respect to  $\Phi$  are conjugates in Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{P}$ ) to  $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_{n-1}$  if and only if  $\Phi$  is a white flag. If  $\Phi$  is a black flag, then the abstact rotations with respect to  $\Phi$  are conjugates in Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{P}$ ) to  $\sigma'_1, \dots, \sigma'_n$ . In other words, up to conjugacy in Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{P}$ ), there are exactly two sets of abstract rotations, namely { $\sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_{n-1}$ } and { $\sigma_1^{-1}, \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2, \sigma_3, \dots, \sigma_{n-1}$ }. The former is associated to the white flags and the latter to the black ones.



Figure 1.4: Enantiomorphic forms of a map on the torus.

If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral polytope, the expression  $\rho_k \sigma_i \rho_k$  is not defined. However, if  $\sigma'_1, \ldots, \sigma'_{n-1}$  are the abstract rotations associated to  $\Psi = \Phi_0^0$  as above, it does make sense to ask how  $\sigma'_i$  is written in terms of  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$ . The expressions obtained are precisely those of Equation (1.2.27). We will compute  $\sigma'_1$  as an example:

$$\Phi_0 \sigma_1' = (\Psi^0) \sigma_1' = (\Psi \sigma_1')^0 = (\Psi^{1,0})^0 = \Psi^1 = (\Phi_0^0)^1 = \Phi_0 \sigma_1^{-1}.$$

Similarly, we can prove that  $\sigma'_2 = \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2$  and that  $\sigma'_i = \sigma_i$  if  $i \ge 3$ .

Again, up to conjugation in  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  there are two sets of generating rotations, the set  $\{\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}\}$  associated to the white flags, and the set  $\{\sigma_1^{-1}, \sigma_1^2\sigma_2, \sigma_3, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}\}$ , associated to the black flags. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral polytope, there is no group automorphism mapping one set to the other (see [63, Theorem 1] or Theorem 1.2.28 below), whereas in the regular case, this mapping is achieved by the conjugation by  $\rho_0$ .

The two sets of generating rotations correspond in some sense to mirror or *enantiomorphic* images of the same object, justifying the choice of the word chiral to name these polytopes. These two images are isomorphic but there is no isomorphism mapping the base flag of one the base flag of the other. In Example 1.3.14 we will show that the map of Figure 1.4 is chiral. In this figure we show the two enantiomorphic images of the map, each with its corresponding base flag.

It is important to remark that even though a chiral polytope is always equivelar, the Schläfli type cannot be arbitrary. In particular, if a chiral *n*-polytope is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , then  $p_i \ge 3$  for  $1 \le i \le n-1$ . It was noted by Monson that this fact is not obvious; a proof was provided to the author in private communication from Schulte [62]. See also [15, Theorem 3.1].

Now we are ready to enunciate a theorem to characterise the automorphism groups of chiral polytopes. This is the analogue of Theorem 1.2.11. Again we will give this theorem without proof, which can be found in [63].

**Theorem 1.2.28.** Let  $3 \leq n, 2 < p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1} \leq \infty$  and  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$ . For every  $i, j \in \{-1, \ldots, n\}$ , with  $i \neq j$  define

$$\tau_{i,j} = \begin{cases} \varepsilon & \text{if } i < j \text{ and } i = -1 \text{ or } j = n, \\ \sigma_{i+1} \cdots \sigma_j & \text{if } 0 \leqslant i < j \leqslant n-1, \\ \sigma_j^{-1} \cdots \sigma_{i+1}^{-1} & \text{if } 0 \leqslant j < i \leqslant n-1. \end{cases}$$

Assume that  $\Gamma$  satisfies the relations of Equation (1.2.23) as well as the relations  $\sigma_i^{p_i} = \varepsilon$ . Assume also that Equation (1.2.26) holds. Then

- 1. There exists a rotary polytope  $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}(\Gamma)$  such that  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \Gamma$  and  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  act as abstract rotations for some flag of  $\mathcal{P}$ .
- 2.  $\mathcal{P}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ . The facets and vertex-figures of  $\mathcal{P}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{P}(\langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-2} \rangle)$  and  $\mathcal{P}(\langle \sigma_2, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle)$ , respectively. In general if  $n \ge 4$  and  $1 \le k < l \le n-1$ , F is a (k-2)-face and G is an incident (l+1)-face, then the section G/F is a rotary (l-k+2)-polytope isomorphic to  $\mathcal{P}(\langle \sigma_k, \ldots, \sigma_l \rangle)$ .
- 3.  $\mathcal{P}$  is orientably regular if and only if there exists an involutory group automorphism  $\rho : \Gamma \to \Gamma$  such that  $\rho : \sigma_1 \mapsto \sigma_1^{-1}$ ,  $\rho : \sigma_2 \mapsto \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2$  and  $\rho : \sigma_k \mapsto \sigma_k$  for  $k \ge 3$ .

Just as Theorem 1.2.11 has been useful to build regular polytopes, Theorem 1.2.28 has proved to be an extremely powerful tool to build chiral polytopes. Most of the main results of this work make use of this theorem. In fact, to the knowledge of the author, every result concerning constructions of chiral polytopes of rank higher than 4 is based in the previous theorem. If the reader is interested in different ways of applying Theorem 1.2.28, we suggest [6, 16, 48, 64, 65].

#### 1.3 Toroids

In this section we explore the theory of highly symmetric toroids. These are a particular class of polytopes that have been a natural source of examples.

Toroids generalise maps on the torus to higher dimensions. They have been studied from different approaches and some classification results have been obtained (see [4],[13, Chapter 8], [32], [40, Sections 1D and 6D]). In this section we will follow the concepts and notation of [4, 32]. In Figure 1.6 we show two examples of maps on the torus ((2+1)-toroids). We will use these examples to illustrate the concepts we will introduce in this section.

Throughout this section  $\mathcal{U}$  will denote a regular tiling of the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{E}^n$ . Recall that  $\mathcal{U}$  can be thought as an (n+1)-polytope. Therefore, in this section the rank will be denoted by (n+1) instead of n as it has been denoted so far. Before introducing toroids, we will review some theory that applies to regular tilings in general, but for our purposes it is enough to keep in mind the tessellation  $\mathcal{U}$  of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  unit cubes, such that the origin of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  is a vertex of  $\mathcal{U}$  and the edges of  $\mathcal{U}$  point in the directions of the coordinate axes.

If  $\mathcal{U}$  is a regular tessellation, then its dual  $\mathcal{U}^*$ , in the sense of Definition 1.1.10, can be seen also as a regular tessellation. The cells of  $\mathcal{U}^*$  are the polytopes given by the convex hulls of the centroids of the cells of  $\mathcal{U}$  incident to a common vertex of  $\mathcal{U}$ .

Euclidean regular tessellations are well-known. For every  $n \ge 2$ , there exists a selfdual regular tessellation by cubes in  $\mathbb{E}^n$ , with type  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}$ . In  $\mathbb{E}^2$  there also exist a regular tessellation with equilateral triangles and type  $\{3, 6\}$ , and a tessellation with regular hexagons and type  $\{6, 3\}$ . Those two are duals of each other (see Figure 1.5).



Figure 1.5: Dual pairs of regular tilings of  $\mathbb{E}^2$ 

In  $\mathbb{E}^4$  there is another pair of regular tessellations, one with 24-cells as facets and type  $\{3, 4, 3, 3\}$ , and its dual of type  $\{3, 3, 4, 3\}$  whose cells are four dimensional cross-polytopes. For each type, these tessellations are unique up to similarity and they complete the list of regular tessellations of the Euclidean *n*-space [11, Table II].

Let  $\mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n)$  denote the group of isometries of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ . The symmetry group of  $\mathcal{U}$ , denoted  $\mathbf{G}(\mathcal{U})$ , is the subgroup of  $\mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n)$  that preserves  $\mathcal{U}$ . It can be proved that if  $\mathcal{U}$  is a regular tiling of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ , then its symmetry group and its combinatorial automorphism group are isomorphic (see [40, Section 3B]). Moreover, if  $\mathcal{U}$  is the cubic tessellation, then the abstract reflections  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_n$  can be represented as isometries  $R_0, \ldots, R_n$  of  $\mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n)$  given by

$$R_{0}: (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \mapsto (1 - x_{1}, x_{2}, \dots, x_{n}),$$
  

$$R_{i}: (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \mapsto (x_{1}, \dots, x_{i-1}, x_{i+1}, x_{i}, \dots, x_{n}) \text{ if } 1 \leq i \leq n-1,$$
  

$$R_{n}: (x_{1}, \dots, x_{n}) \mapsto (x_{1}, x_{2}, \dots, -x_{n}).$$
  
(1.3.1)

For each regular tessellation  $\mathcal{U}$ , symmetries  $R_0, \ldots, R_n$  are the reflections in the hyperplanes containing the facets of the *n*-simplex induced by the base flag  $\Phi_0$ . This is, the simplex whose vertices are the centroids of the geometric faces corresponding to  $\Phi_0$ . If  $\mathcal{U}$  has type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_n\}$ , the group  $G(\mathcal{U})$  with the generators  $R_0, \ldots, R_n$  is the string Coxeter group  $[p_1, \ldots, p_n]$  meaning that

$$G(\mathcal{U}) = \langle R_0, \dots, R_n \mid (R_i R_j)^{p_{i,j}} = id \rangle$$

is a presentation for the group, where  $p_{i,j} = p_{j,i}$ ,  $p_{i,i} = 1$ ,  $p_{i,j} = 2$  if |i - j| > 1, and  $p_{i-1,i} = p_i$ . Moreover, the group of symmetries of the facet contained in the base flag is  $\langle R_0, \ldots, R_{n-1} \rangle \cong [p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}]$  and the stabiliser of the vertex of  $\Phi_0$  is  $\langle R_1, \ldots, R_n \rangle \cong [p_2, \ldots, p_n]$  (see [40, section 3A] for details).

Now we are ready to introduce the theory related to toroids. While we are introducing the concepts and developing the theory, toroids will be regarded as geometrical objects. However, there is a natural notion of incidence just as this notion exists for Euclidean tilings, that allows us to consider most toroids as abstract polytopes. In fact, all toroids are quotients (in the sense of [40, Section 2D]) of a Euclidean tessellation and several considerations of the conditions under which a quotient of an abstract polytope is a polytope apply to them. Moreover, it is known that if a toroid is a regular or chiral (n + 1)-polytope, then it has to be a quotient of a regular tiling of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ . In this situation, the combinatorial concepts and the geometrical analogues coincide. Readers interested in the details of this correspondence should consult [40, Section 6B].

**Definition 1.3.2.** A full-rank lattice group  $\Lambda$  of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  is a subgroup of  $\mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n)$  generated by *n* linearly independent translations. If  $\Lambda = \langle t_1, \ldots, t_n \rangle$  is a full-rank lattice group and  $v_i$  is the translation vector of  $t_i$ , then the lattice  $\Lambda$  induced by  $\Lambda$  is the orbit of the origin *o* under  $\Lambda$ , that is

$$\Lambda = o\mathbf{\Lambda} = \{a_1v_1 + \dots + a_nv_n : a_1, \dots, a_n \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

In this case we say that  $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$  is a *basis* for  $\Lambda$ .

If  $\mathcal{U}$  is a regular tessellation, then by a well-known result of Bieberbach,  $G(\mathcal{U})$  contains a full-rank lattice group (see [55, Section 7.4]). This allows us to introduce the following definition.

**Definition 1.3.3.** Let  $\mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$  denote the group of translations of a tessellation  $\mathcal{U}$  of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ . A *toroid of rank* (n + 1), or (n + 1)-*toroid*, is the quotient of  $\mathcal{U}$  by a full-rank lattice group  $\mathbf{\Lambda} \leq \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$ .

In the previous situation, we say that  $\Lambda$  induces the toroid, and denote the latter by  $\mathcal{U}/\Lambda$ . An (n + 1)-toroid may be regarded as a tessellation of the *n*-dimensional torus  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda$  and every tessellation of the corresponding torus is induced this way (see [40, 6B6 and 6B7]). Since we will only work with regular and chiral toroids, we restrict our discussion to regular Euclidean tessellations.

In Figure 1.6 we have two examples of (2 + 1)-toroids. In these examples  $\mathcal{U}$  is the regular tiling of  $\mathbb{E}^2$  with squares; in Figure 1.6a the full-rank lattice group  $\Lambda$  is generated by the translations with respect to the vectors (3, 0) and (0, 3) and in Figure 1.6b, the group  $\Lambda$  is generated by the translations with respect to the vectors (3, 1) and (-1, 3).

As usual, we are interested in symmetries of toroids. To achieve an understanding of the group of automorphism of a regular or chiral toroid we first need to review the structure of the group of symmetries of the regular tessellation that induces the toroid. We begin with the following two lemmas. We do not prove Lemma 1.3.4 since the proof might be a little technical; a proof can be found in [55, Theorem 1.3.5].

**Lemma 1.3.4.** Let S be an isometry of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  fixing the origin. Then S is a linear transformation.

**Lemma 1.3.5.** Let  $\Lambda$  be a full-rank lattice group of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  and let  $G \leq \mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n)$  a group of isometries fixing the origin. Then  $S \in G$  normalizes  $\Lambda$  if and only if S preserves the lattice  $\Lambda$  associated to  $\Lambda$ . If either of these conditions holds for every  $S \in G$ , then  $\langle G, \Lambda \rangle \cong G \ltimes \Lambda$ .


Figure 1.6: Two examples of (2 + 1)-toroids

*Proof.* Let  $t_v$  be the translation with respect to the vector v and let  $S \in G$ . Consider the following computation:

$$(x)S^{-1}t_vS = (xS^{-1})t_vS = (xS^{-1} + v)S = (x + vS),$$
(1.3.6)

where we have used Lemma 1.3.4 in the last equality. Equation (1.3.6) implies that  $S^{-1}t_vS$  is the translation by the vector vS. The first part of the lemma follows from the fact that  $t_v \in \mathbf{\Lambda}$  if and only if  $v \in \Lambda$ .

Finally observe that G and  $\Lambda$  intersect trivially since the only element of  $\Lambda$  that fixes the origin o is the identity map. Since G normalises  $\Lambda$ ,  $\langle G, \Lambda \rangle \cong G \ltimes \Lambda$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is full rank, then G must be finite and  $\langle G, \Lambda \rangle$  will be a discrete group.

If  $\mathcal{U}$  is a regular tessellation of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  of type different from  $\{6,3\}$  and  $\{3,4,3,3\}$ , the group of translations  $\mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$  acts transitively on the vertex set of  $\mathcal{U}$ . Therefore the vertex set of  $\mathcal{U}$  may be identified with the lattice associated to  $\mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$  and the group of symmetries  $G(\mathcal{U})$  is of the form  $G_o(\mathcal{U}) \ltimes \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$ , where  $G_o(\mathcal{U})$  denotes the stabiliser of the origin o (see for example [40, Chapter 6] and Lemma 1.3.5 above). If  $\mathcal{U}$  is of type  $\{6,3\}$  or  $\{3,4,3,3\}$ , by duality, we may take  $G_o(\mathcal{U})$  as the stabiliser of a facet and the same considerations apply. Moreover, if  $\mathcal{U}$  is the cubic tiling (hence, self-dual), the group  $\mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$  acts transitively on both vertices and facets, and we may think of  $G_o(\mathcal{U})$  as the stabiliser of either a vertex or a facet.

In the particular case when the discussion above is applied to the cubic tiling we have the following result.

**Proposition 1.3.7.** Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be the cubic tessellation of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ . Let  $G(\mathcal{U})$  denote its symmetry group. Then

$$G(\mathcal{U}) \cong (S_n \ltimes C_2^n) \ltimes \mathbb{Z}^n.$$
(1.3.8)

*Proof.* The vertex set of  $\mathcal{U}$  can be identified with the points of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  with integer coordinates, i.e.,  $\mathbb{Z}^n$ . Then by the discussion above, we just need to prove that  $G_o(\mathcal{U}) \cong (S_n \ltimes C_2^n)$ .

Let  $G_o(\mathcal{U}) = \langle R_1, \ldots, R_n \rangle$  as in Equation (1.3.1). Recall from Equation (1.3.1) that  $R_1, \ldots, R_n$  are linear transformations. Consider the action of the subgroup  $\langle R_1, \ldots, R_{n-1} \rangle$  on the standard basis  $\{e_1, \ldots, e_n\}$  of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  and observe that this action is faithful, since any element of  $\langle R_1, \ldots, R_{n-1} \rangle$  fixing each of the  $e_1, \ldots, e_n$  must be trivial. The latter implies that there is a embedding of  $\langle R_1, \ldots, R_{n-1} \rangle$  into  $S_n$ . Observe that this embedding is surjective since for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ , the element  $R_i$  induces the permutation (i, i + 1). It is well-known that these involutions generate the symmetric group  $S_n$ . It follows that  $\langle R_1, \ldots, R_{n-1} \rangle \cong S_n$ .

The conjugates of  $R_n$  by the elements of  $\langle R_1, \ldots, R_{n-1} \rangle$  are the reflections in each of the coordinate hyperplanes. These reflections commute, so they generate a group isomorphic to  $C_2^n$ . This group is the normal closure of  $\langle R_n \rangle$  in  $G_o(\mathcal{U})$ ; in particular  $C_2^n \triangleleft G_o(\mathcal{U})$ . Observe that  $\langle C_2^n, S_n \rangle \cong G_o(\mathcal{U})$ . Finally it is clear these groups intersect trivially, since the elements of  $\langle R_1, \ldots, R_{n-1} \rangle$  map points with non-negative coordinates to points with non-negative coordinates.

If  $t_v$  is the translation by a vector v and  $S \in \mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n)$  fixes the origin o, the computations made in the proof of Lemma 1.3.5 show that  $S^{-1}t_vS = t_{vS}$ , the translation by vS. In other words, if  $\Lambda$  is the lattice associated to  $\Lambda$ , then  $\Lambda S$  is the lattice associated to  $S^{-1}\Lambda S$ . Therefore if there exists an isometry mapping a lattice  $\Lambda$  to another lattice  $\Lambda'$ , then there exists an isometry S that fixes o and maps  $\Lambda$  to  $\Lambda'$ . In this case the corresponding tori  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda$  and  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda'$  are isometric. Geometrically this means that Smaps fundamental regions of  $\Lambda$  to fundamental regions of  $\Lambda'$ .

With the notation given above and when  $\Lambda = \Lambda'$ , an isometry S of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  induces an isometry  $\overline{S}$  of  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda$  that makes the diagram in Equation (1.3.9) commutative if and only if S normalises  $\Lambda$ . Furthermore, two isometries of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  induce the same isometry of  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda$  if and only if they differ by an element of  $\Lambda$ . In particular, all the elements of  $\Lambda$  induce a trivial isometry of  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda$ . This implies that the group  $\operatorname{Norm}_{\mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n)}(\Lambda)/\Lambda$ acts as a group of isometries of  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda$ . It can be proved that every isometry of  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda$ is given this way, that is  $\mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda) \cong \operatorname{Norm}_{\mathbf{I}(\mathbb{E}^n)}(\Lambda)/\Lambda$  (see [55, p.336] and [40, Section 6A]).

**Example 1.3.10.** In the toroid of Figure 1.6a the reflection R in a vertical line that contains the origin induces an isometry of  $\mathbb{E}^n/\Lambda$  since R maps the vector (3,0) to the vector (-3,0) = -(3,0) and fixes the vector (0,3). This implies that R preserves the lattice generated by those vectors, so R normalises the lattice group  $\Lambda$ . With a similar argument we can see that if S is the counterclockwise rotation by an angle of  $\frac{\pi}{4}$  with centre in the origin, then S induces an isometry of the torus of Figure 1.6a.

If S is the rotation mentioned above, then S is also an isometry of the torus of Figure 1.6b, since S maps the vector (3, 1) to the vector (-1, 3) and the vector (-1, 3) to (-3, -1). However, if R is the reflection mentioned in the previous paragraph,

then R does not induce an isometry of this torus, since R maps (3,1) to  $(-3,1) = -\frac{4}{5}(3,1) + \frac{3}{5}(-1,3) \notin \Lambda$ . Which implies that R does not normalise  $\Lambda$ .

The previous discussion motivates the following result. We state it without proof, since as mentioned before, this is just a consequence of the correspondence between geometric and combinatorial concepts for toroids (see also [32, Lemma 6]).

**Proposition 1.3.11.** Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be a regular tiling of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  with symmetry group  $G(\mathcal{U})$ . Let  $\Lambda$  be a full-rank lattice group contained in  $G(\mathcal{U})$ . Then the group of automorphisms of the toroid  $\mathcal{U}/\Lambda$  is given by

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{U}/\Lambda) \cong rac{\operatorname{Norm}_{\operatorname{G}(\mathcal{U})}(\Lambda)}{\Lambda}.$$

It follows from Proposition 1.3.11 that if we want to understand the automorphism group of a toroid  $\mathcal{U}/\Lambda$  we need to understand the group  $\operatorname{Norm}_{\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{U})}(\Lambda)$ .

If an isometry S of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  normalises  $\Lambda$  then we say that S induces or projects to an automorphism of  $\mathcal{U}/\Lambda$  (namely, to the automorphism  $\Lambda S \in \operatorname{Norm}_{\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{U})}(\Lambda)/\Lambda$ ). If  $S' \in \mathcal{G}_{o}(\mathcal{U})$ , then S' normalises  $\Lambda$  if and only if S' preserves  $\Lambda$ . Since every element  $S \in \mathcal{G}(\mathcal{U})$  may be written as a product tS' with  $t \in \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$  and  $S' \in \mathcal{G}_{o}(\mathcal{U})$ , and every translation normalises  $\Lambda$ , an isometry S induces an automorphism of  $\mathcal{U}/\Lambda$  if and only if S' preserves  $\Lambda$ . Observe that the *central inversion* of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ , given by  $\chi : x \mapsto$ -x, is always an automorphism of  $\mathcal{U}$  and preserves every lattice, so it projects to an automorphism of every toroid (see [32, Table 1] for an expression of  $\chi$  in terms of the generating reflections). This implies that  $\langle \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U}), \chi \rangle \leq \operatorname{Norm}_{(\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{U}))}(\Lambda)$ . Furthermore, since  $\chi$  normalises  $\mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$  and  $\mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U}) \cap \langle \chi \rangle = \{\varepsilon\}$  it follows that  $\langle \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U}), \chi \rangle = \langle \chi \rangle \ltimes \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$ . Therefore, groups of automorphisms of toroids are induced by groups K such that  $\langle \chi \rangle \ltimes \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U}) \leq K \leq \mathcal{G}(\mathcal{U})$ .

By the Correspondence Theorem for groups, those groups K with  $\langle \chi \rangle \ltimes \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U}) \leqslant K \leqslant$ G( $\mathcal{U}$ ) are in one-to-one correspondence with groups K' such that  $\langle \chi \rangle \leqslant K' \leqslant G_o(\mathcal{U})$ . In this correspondence, the group K' corresponds with the group  $K = K' \ltimes \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})$ . With this discussion in mind we can give an slightly improved version of Proposition 1.3.11.

**Proposition 1.3.12.** Let  $\mathcal{U}$  be a regular tiling of  $\mathbb{E}^n$  with symmetry group  $G(\mathcal{U})$ . Let  $\Lambda \leq G(\mathcal{U})$  be a full-rank lattice group. Let  $G_o(\mathcal{U})$  denote the stabiliser of the origin in the group  $G(\mathcal{U})$  and assume that  $K \leq G_o(\mathcal{U})$  is the maximal subgroup preserving the lattice  $\Lambda$ . Then

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{U}/\Lambda) \cong \frac{K \ltimes \mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})}{\Lambda} \cong K \ltimes \frac{\mathbf{T}(\mathcal{U})}{\Lambda}.$$
(1.3.13)

**Example 1.3.14.** In this example we describe the group K of Proposition 1.3.12 for each of the toroids in Figures 1.6 and 1.8.

1. In Example 1.3.10 we show that for the toroid of Figure 1.6a a vertical reflection R and the counterclockwise rotation by  $\frac{\pi}{4}$  induce isometries of the corresponding torus. The isometries R and S are also automorphisms of the regular tessellation  $\{4, 4\}$ . In fact,

$$G_{o}(\{4,4\}) = \langle R, S \rangle \cong D_4,$$

(the dihedral group of order 8). This implies that the group K is the full group  $G_o(\{4,4\})$ . As a consequence of this, the toroid of Figure 1.6a is regular.



Figure 1.7: A chiral toroid

2. For the toroid in Figure 1.6b the group K is the group generated by the rotation S and has index two in  $G_o(\{4,4\})$ . This group, together with the translations of  $\{4,4\}$ , generates the rotation subgroup of  $\{4,4\}$ . This implies that all the white flags of Figure 1.7 belong to the same orbit of the automorphism group.

Proposition 1.3.12 implies that there are no other automorphisms. It follows that the toroid is chiral. Nevertheless, there is a combinatorial argument to show that there is no automorphism  $\gamma$  that maps the flag  $\Phi$  to the flag  $\Phi^2$ . If there were such an automorphism, since  $\gamma$  maps adjacent flags to adjacent flags (see Item 3 of Proposition 1.1.8), this automorphism should act as a reflection in the line containing the common edge of  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi^2$ . On one hand, this reflection fixes the vertex v, on the other, the reflection maps v to w, which is a contradiction (see Figure 1.7).

- 3. The group K of the toroid in Figure 1.8a is the full group  $G_o(\{3,6\})$ . In this case, the group is generated by a reflection R that can be taken as the one that swaps the generating vectors of  $\Lambda$  and a rotation S of  $\frac{\pi}{6}$ . This toroid is regular.
- 4. In the case of the toroid in Figure 1.8b, the rotation S of  $\frac{2\pi}{6}$  does induce an automorphism but the lattice is not preserved by any reflection of  $G_o(\{6,3\})$ . The group  $\mathcal{K}$  in this case is  $\langle S \rangle$ .

Proposition 1.3.12 has been used to classify highly symmetric toroids. In particular in [39] McMullen and Schulte classify regular toroids of arbitrary rank (see also [40,

Sections 6D,6E]). They also prove that chiral toroids do not exist in ranks higher than 3. In [32], Hubard, Obanić, Pellicer and Weiss classify cubic 4-toroids up to symmetry type. In [4] Collins and the author extend this classification to equivelar (n+1)-toroids with at most n flag-orbits.

To finish this chapter we review the classification of regular and chiral 3-toroids and regular (n + 1)-toroids induced by the cubic tessellation, for  $n \ge 3$ .

Let  $b, c \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We denote by  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  the toroid induced by the regular tessellation of type  $\{4, 4\}$  and the lattice group generated by the translations with respect to the vectors (b, c) and (-b, c). These vectors are taken with respect to the standad basis  $e_1, e_2$  of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ . Similarly, we denote  $\{3, 6\}_{(b,c)}$  (resp.  $(\{6, 3\})_{(b,c)}$ ) the toroid induced by the regular tessellation of type  $\{3, 6\}$  (resp.  $\{6, 3\}$ ) and the lattice group generated by the translations with respect to the vectors (b, c) and (-c, b + c). These vectors are taken with respect to the basis  $(e_1, \frac{1}{2}e_1 + \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2}e_2)$ .

**Theorem 1.3.15.** Every regular or chiral (2 + 1)-toroid is isomorphic to one of the following.

- $\{4,4\}_{(b,c)},$
- $\{3, 6\}_{(b,c)},$
- $\{6,3\}_{(b,c)}$ .

Moreover, for every case the toroid is regular if and only if bc(b-c) = 0.

In Figures 1.6a and 1.6b we show the toroids  $\{4, 4\}_{(3,0)}$  and  $\{4, 4\}_{(3,1)}$ . The map on the torus in Figure 1.1e is the toroid  $\{4, 4\}_{(1,2)}$ . In Figures 1.8a and 1.8b we have  $\{3, 6\}_{(2,2)}$  and  $\{6, 3\}_{(2,1)}$ , respectively.

In Section 3.2 we will use the structure of the rotation group of a chiral or regular polytope. These groups are described in the following result. This result is a consequence of Proposition 1.3.12.

**Lemma 1.3.16.** Let  $\mathcal{P} = \{p, q\}_{(b,c)}$  be a chiral or regular 3-toroid. Then the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  is isomorphic to one of the following.

• 
$$\langle \sigma_2 \rangle \ltimes \frac{\mathbf{T}(\{p,q\})}{\Lambda_{(b,c)}}$$
 if  $\{p,q\}$  is  $\{4,4\}$  or  $\{3,6\}$   
•  $\langle \sigma_1 \rangle \ltimes \frac{\mathbf{T}(\{p,q\})}{\Lambda_{(b,c)}}$  if  $\{p,q\} = \{6,3\}.$ 

If  $\{p,q\} = \{4,4\}$  then the group  $\mathbf{T}(\{p,q\})$  is generated by the elements  $\sigma_2\sigma_1^{-1}$ and  $\sigma_2^{-1}\sigma_1$ , and the lattice  $\mathbf{\Lambda}_{(b,c)}$  is generated by the translations  $(\sigma_2\sigma_1^{-1})^b(\sigma_2^{-1}\sigma_1)^c$  and  $(\sigma_2\sigma_1^{-1})^{-c}(\sigma_2^{-1}\sigma_1)^b$ . If  $\{p,q\} = \{3,6\}$  then  $\mathbf{T}(\{p,q\})$  is generated by  $\sigma_2^2\sigma_1^{-1}$  and  $\sigma_2^{-2}\sigma_1$ and the lattice  $\mathbf{\Lambda}_{(b,c)}$  is the group generated by the translations  $(\sigma_2^2\sigma_1^{-1})^b(\sigma_2^{-2}\sigma_1)^c$  and  $(\sigma_2^2\sigma_1^{-1})^{-c}(\sigma_2^{-2}\sigma_1)^{b+c}$ . The generators of  $\mathbf{T}(\{6,3\})$  are the translations  $\sigma_1^2\sigma_2^{-1}$  and  $\sigma_1^{-2}\sigma_2$ and the corresponding lattice  $\mathbf{\Lambda}_{(b,c)}$  is generated by the elements  $(\sigma_1^2\sigma_2^{-1})^b(\sigma_1^{-2}\sigma_2)^c$  and  $(\sigma_1^2\sigma_2^{-1})^{-c}(\sigma_1^{-2}\sigma_2)^{b+c}$  (see [64, Section 2]).



Figure 1.8

Let  $\Lambda_{(a,0,\dots,0)}$  denote the lattice group with basis  $\{ae_1,\dots,ae_n\}$ . Denote by  $\Lambda_{(a,a,0\dots,0)}$ the lattice group with basis  $\{2ae_1, a(e_2-e_1), a(e_3-e_2), \dots, a(e_n-e_{n-1})\}$ . Let  $\Lambda_{(a,a\dots,a)}$ be the lattice group with basis  $\{2ae_1,\dots,2ae_{n-1}, a(e_1+\dots+e_n)\}$ . In what remains of this work we will denote by  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\dots,0)}, \{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,a,0\dots,0)}$  and  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,a,\dots,a)}$ the toroids  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}/\Lambda$  where  $\Lambda$  is  $\Lambda_{(a,0,\dots,0)}, \Lambda_{(a,a,0\dots,0)}$  and  $\Lambda_{(a,a\dots,a)}$ , respectively. In each case,  $\Lambda$  is invariant under the group  $G_o(\mathcal{U}) = \langle R_1, \dots, R_n \rangle$  from Equation (1.3.1).

**Theorem 1.3.17** ([39, Theorem 3.1]). Let  $n \ge 3$  and  $\mathcal{U}$  be the cubic tessellation of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ . Then every regular toroid  $\mathcal{U}/\Lambda$  is isomorphic to one of the following.

- $\bullet \ \{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\dots,0)},$
- $\bullet \{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,a,0\dots,0)},$
- $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,a...,a)}$ .

If  $a \ge 2$ , then these toroids determine abstract polytopes.

In Chapter 3 we will be particularly interested in the automorphism group of these toroids, so as an application of Propositions 1.3.7 and 1.3.12 we have the following result.

**Lemma 1.3.18.** Let  $n \ge 3$  and  $\mathcal{U}$  be the cubic tessellation of  $\mathbb{E}^n$ . Then the automorphism group of a regular toroid  $\mathcal{U}/\Lambda$  is one of the following

- $(S_n \ltimes C_2^n) \ltimes (\mathbb{Z}^n / \Lambda_{(a,0,\dots,0)})$  if  $\mathcal{U} / \Lambda = \{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\dots,0)}$ ,
- $(S_n \ltimes C_2^n) \ltimes (\mathbb{Z}^n / \Lambda_{(a,a,0,\dots,0)})$  if  $\mathcal{U} / \Lambda = \{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,a,0,\dots,0)}$ ,
- $(S_n \ltimes C_2^n) \ltimes (\mathbb{Z}^n / \Lambda_{(a,a,\ldots,a)})$  if  $\mathcal{U} / \Lambda = \{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,a,\ldots,a)}$ .

Note that we may think of  $\mathbb{Z}_a^n = \mathbb{Z}^n / \Lambda_{(a,0,\dots,0)}$  as the group of all n-dimensional integer vectors taken modulo a.



Figure 1.9:  $r_1(\Phi)$  and  $r_1(\Phi^0)$  are not adjacent.

## **1.4** Connection group and maniplexes

In this section we will introduce the notion of *connection group*. Then, we will use this concept to motivate the definition of *maniplexes*, which are structures slightly more general than polytopes.

The connection group of a polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is a permutation group on the set of flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ . This group, together with its action on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$ , codifies the combinatorial structure of  $\mathcal{P}$  without assuming any symmetry properties of  $\mathcal{P}$ . This concept has been known in the literature as *monodromy group* (see [41, 48, 51], for example), but in the last few years the term connection group has become popular. Our main reference for this section will be [41].

**Definition 1.4.1.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an *n*-polytope. Let  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  be the set of flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ . For  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  let  $r_i$  denote the permutation of  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  that acts as

$$r_i \Phi = \Phi^i \tag{1.4.2}$$

for every flag  $\Phi$  (note the left action). The *connection group* of  $\mathcal{P}$ , denoted by  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$ , is the group generated by  $r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1}$ .

It is important to remark on some facts about the connection group in order to avoid confusion. First observe that in general, connection elements do not induce automorphisms. Compare, for instance, the action of  $r_1$  on the flags  $\Phi$  and  $\Phi^0$  of a polygon: in general,  $r_1(\Phi)$  and  $r_1(\Phi^0)$  are not adjacent (see Figure 1.9).

Connection groups are well established in the theory of maps (see [68]). The generalisation to abstract polytopes of higher ranks has given new tools to attack problems concerning polytopes with symmetry conditions weaker than regularity or chirality. To see applications of these tools see, for example [31, 53, 54].

The main reason to use the connection group is that codifies the combinatorial structure of a polytope. The elements  $r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1}$  encode adjacency of flags. The following results are consequences of the basic properties of this adjacency and of the strong flag connectivity. We have already used some of these results but here they are written in terms of the connection group.

**Proposition 1.4.3.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract *n*-polytope, let  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P}) = \langle r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1} \rangle$  be its connection group and let  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  denote the set of flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Then the following hold.

1. The group elements  $r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1}$  satisfy the following relations

$$r_i^2 = 1 \quad \text{for every } i \in \{0, \dots, n-1\},$$
  
$$(r_i r_j)^2 = 1 \quad \text{for every } i, j \text{ such that } |i-j| \ge 2.$$
 (1.4.4)

2. The action of  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$  on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$  is transitive.

Connection elements and automorphisms also have an interesting relation. This is described in the following proposition and it is a consequence of Item 1 of Proposition 1.1.8.

**Proposition 1.4.5.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract polytope. If  $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  and  $w \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$ , then

$$(w\Phi)\gamma = w(\Phi\gamma) \tag{1.4.6}$$

for every flag  $\Phi$  of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

In other words, the actions of  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$  and  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  commute. This is one of the reasons why we prefer the connection elements to act on the left. We now focus on some other important relations between the groups  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  and  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$  when  $\mathcal{P}$  is a regular or a chiral polytope.

**Lemma 1.4.7.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract n-polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Let  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_k$  be a set of automorphisms. For  $i \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$  choose  $w_i \in \text{Con}(\mathcal{P})$  such that  $w_i \Phi_0 = \Phi_0 \gamma_i$ . Then the equation

$$w_{i_1}\cdots w_{i_k}\Phi_0=\Phi_0\gamma_{i_1}\cdots \gamma_{i_k}$$

*holds for every*  $i_1, ..., i_k \in \{1, ..., k\}$ *.* 

*Proof.* The proof is by induction over k. The case k = 1 is given by hypothesis. Assume that the equation above holds for any choice of k - 1 indices and take  $i_1, \ldots, i_k \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ . Then consider the following computation:

$$w_{i_1} \cdots w_{i_k} \Phi_0 = w_{i_1} (w_{i_2} \cdots w_{i_k} \Phi_0)$$
  
=  $w_{i_1} (\Phi_0 \gamma_{i_2} \cdots \gamma_{i_k})$   
=  $(w_{i_1} \Phi_0) \gamma_{i_2} \cdots \gamma_{i_k}$   
=  $(\Phi_0 \gamma_{i_1}) \gamma_{i_2} \cdots \gamma_{i_k}.$ 

Lemma 1.4.7 has important consequences in the case of  $\mathcal{P}$  being a regular polytope and the automorphisms  $\gamma_1, \ldots, \gamma_k$  being the abstract reflections. These consequences are shown in the following result.

**Proposition 1.4.8.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  a regular *n*-polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Let  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$  and  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P}) = \langle r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1} \rangle$  be the automorphism and connection group of  $\mathcal{P}$  respectively. Then the following hold.

1. For every  $i_1, \ldots, i_k \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ 

$$r_{i_1}\cdots r_{i_k}\Phi_0=\Phi_0\rho_{i_1}\cdots \rho_{i_k}.$$

- 2. An element  $r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k} \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$  is trivial if and only if it fixes the base flag  $\Phi_0$ .
- 3. There is an isomorphism  $f : \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) \to \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$  mapping  $\rho_i$  to  $r_i$  for every  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ .

*Proof.* Part 1 is a direct application of Lemma 1.4.7. To prove Part 2 assume that  $r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k}$  is such that  $\Phi_0 = r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k} \Phi_0$ . Take any other flag  $\Psi$ . Since  $\mathcal{P}$  is regular, there exists an automorphism  $\gamma$  such that  $\Phi_0 \gamma = \Psi$ . Then

$$r_{i_1}\cdots r_{i_k}\Psi = r_{i_1}\cdots r_{i_k}(\Phi_0\gamma) = \Phi_0\gamma = \Psi$$

It follows that  $r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k}$  is trivial.

Finally, in order to prove Part 3, first observe that f is well defined: if  $\rho_{i_1} \cdots \rho_{i_k}$  is trivial, then:

$$\Phi_0 = \Phi_0 \rho_{i_1} \cdots \rho_{i_k} = r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k} \Phi_0.$$

This implies that  $r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k}$  fixes the base flag and by Part 2,  $r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k}$  must be trivial. Now assume that  $\rho_{i_1} \cdots \rho_{i_k}$  is such that  $f(\rho_{i_1} \cdots \rho_{i_k}) = r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k}$  is trivial. Then applying Parts 1 and 2,

$$\Phi_0 \rho_{i_1} \cdots \rho_{i_k} = r_{i_1} \cdots r_{i_k} \Phi_0 = \Phi_0$$

Since the action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  is free, then  $\rho_{i_1} \cdots \rho_{i_k} = \varepsilon$ . It shows that f is injective.

There is an analogous result for orientably regular and chiral polytopes, but first we need to introduce some notation.

**Definition 1.4.9.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a *n*-polytope. Let  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$  denote its connection group. For  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  let  $s_i = r_{i-1}r_i$ . We will denote by  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P})$  the group generated by the elements  $s_1, \ldots, s_{n-1}$ .

Observe that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a rotary *n*-polytope and  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  with  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  the abstract rotations with respect to a certain base flag  $\Phi_0$ , then

$$s_i \Phi_0 = \Phi_0^{i,i-1} = \Phi_0 \sigma_i,$$

hence we may apply Lemma 1.4.7 to these group elements. The corresponding result is the following. We omit the proof since it follows the same ideas of the proof of Proposition 1.4.8.

**Proposition 1.4.10.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a rotary n-polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Let  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  and  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P}) = \langle r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1} \rangle$  be the rotation and connection groups of  $\mathcal{P}$  respectively. For  $1 \leq i \leq n-1$ , define  $s_i = r_{i-1}r_i$  and consider the group  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$ . Then the following hold



Figure 1.10: The element  $(s_1^{-1}s_2)(s_1s_2^{-1})^3$  fixes  $\Phi_0$  but maps  $\Phi_0^0$  to  $\Psi$ .

1. For every  $i_1, \ldots, i_k \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ 

$$s_{i_1}\cdots s_{i_k}\Phi_0=\Phi_0\sigma_{i_1}\cdots \sigma_{i_k}.$$

- 2. An element  $s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_k} \in \operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P})$  fixes the base flag if and only if  $\sigma_{i_1} \cdots \sigma_{i_k} = \varepsilon$ . In this situation,  $s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_k}$  stabilises every white flag.
- 3. If  $\mathcal{F}^{w}(\mathcal{P})$  denotes the set of white flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ , then there is an isomorphism  $f : \operatorname{Aut}^{+}(\mathcal{P}) \to G$  with  $G = \langle \overline{s}_{1}, \ldots, \overline{s}_{n-1} \rangle$  where  $\overline{s}_{i}$  denotes the permutation of  $\mathcal{F}^{w}(\mathcal{P})$  induced by  $s_{i}$ . This isomorphism maps  $\sigma_{i}$  to  $\overline{s}_{i}$  for every  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ .

It is important to remark that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral polytope, we cannot guarantee that  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P}) \cong \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ . In general the group  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P})$  is bigger than the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ , since there might be non-trivial elements of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P})$  that fix the base flag  $\Phi_0$  (see Figure 1.10). However, by Part 3, there is a surjective group homomorphism from  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P})$  to  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ . The kernel of this homomorphism is precisely  $\operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P})}(\Phi_0)$  and is known as the *chirality group*. In a certain way, this group is a measure of how far a chiral polytope is from being regular. For details about the relations between the chirality group and the connection group we suggest [41, Section 7].

As seen in the previous results, the connection group, as a permutation group of the flags, encodes the combinatorial structure of an abstract polytope. Another way to understand this structure is through the flag graph defined below.

**Definition 1.4.11.** The *flag graph* of an abstract *n*-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is the graph  $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{P}}$  whose vertex set is  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P})$ , the set of flags of  $\mathcal{P}$ . The set of edges is given by  $\{\{\Phi, \Phi^i\} : \Phi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{P}) \text{ and } 0 \leq i \leq n-1\}$ .



Figure 1.11: Flag graph of  $\{4, 4\}_{(3,1)}$ 

To illustrate the previous concepts, in Figure 1.11 we show the flag graph of  $\{4,4\}_{(3,1)}$ . Observe that we may think of  $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{P}}$  as an edge-coloured graph where the colour of an edge is *i* if and only if it is of the form  $\{\Phi, \Phi^i\}$ . These colours induce a proper colouring of edges where every node has precisely one edge of each colour. This implies that every colour of  $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{P}}$  induces a perfect matching. The connection element  $r_i$  defined in Equation (1.4.2) is the permutation that swaps the endpoints of each edge of colour *i*. Moreover, the flag resulting from the action of a connection element  $r_{i_k} \cdots r_{i_1}$  on a flag  $\Phi$  is the endpoint of a path starting on  $\Phi$  and going through colours  $i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_k$ .

If  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ , then each connected component of the flag graph remaining after removing the edges of colour *i* consists of all the flags incident to some face of rank *i*. Hence we may identify each face *F* of rank *i* with the connected component of colours  $\{0, \ldots, n-1\} \setminus \{i\}$  on any flag which contains *F*. In particular, the vertices and the facets of an abstract polytope are identified with the connected components of the flag graph after removing the edges of colour 0 and the edges of colour n-1, respectively. In this situation, two faces *F* and *G* of *P* are incident if and only if the corresponding subgraphs have non-empty intersection. In terms of the partially ordered set *P*, this means that there is a flag containing both *F* and *G*.

In general, the connected component of a flag  $\Phi$  that uses the colours  $i_1, i_2, \ldots, i_k$  is in correspondence with the orbit of  $\Phi$  under the subgroup  $\langle r_{i_1}, \ldots, r_{i_k} \rangle$ .

With the observations made above, it is easy to see that the flag graph of an abstract polytope has the properties described in the following proposition.

**Proposition 1.4.12.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be an abstract *n*-polytope and let  $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{P}}$  denote the flag graph of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Then  $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{P}}$  has the following properties.

- 1.  $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{P}}$  is connected.
- 2. If  $i, j \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$  such that  $|i-j| \ge 2$ , then the connected components of  $\mathcal{G}_{\mathcal{P}}$  using the colours *i* and *j* are alternating 4-cycles.

*Proof.* The first part follows from strong flag connectivity of  $\mathcal{P}$ , the second one is a consequence of Equation (1.4.4).

The properties of the flag graph of an abstract polytope mentioned above might be one of the main motivations for the definition of a *maniplex*. Maniplexes were introduced by Wilson in [70] as a common generalisation of maps and abstract polytopes. They can be defined in several equivalent ways. The definition we give below is not the same as in [70] but it can be easily shown to be equivalent. We will follow the path of [51] which is a little more convenient for our purposes.

**Definition 1.4.13.** Let  $n \ge 1$ . An *n*-maniplex  $\mathcal{M}$  is a pair  $(\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M}), \{r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1}\})$  where  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$  is a non-empty set of objects called *flags* and each  $r_i$  is a fixed-point-free involutory permutation of  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$  satisfying the following properties.

- 1. The group  $\langle r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1} \rangle$  acts transitively on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$ .
- 2. If  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$ , then  $r_i \Phi \neq r_j \Phi$  if  $i \neq j$ .
- 3. If  $i, j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  are such that  $|i-j| \ge 2$ , then  $r_i$  and  $r_j$  commute.

The group  $\langle r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1} \rangle$  is called the *connection group* (or the monodromy group) of  $\mathcal{M}$  and it is denoted  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{M})$ .

As might be suspected by the reader by now, every polytope induces a maniplex via the set of flags and the connection elements. The converse is in general false. For a discussion about polytopality of maniplexes and examples of maniplexes that are not polytopes see [24].

A common way to visualize a maniplex  $\mathcal{M}$  is as a graph with vertex set  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$ and edges  $\{\{\Phi, r_i\Phi\} : \Phi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})\}$ . In this sense, every polytope induces a maniplex through its flag-graph. The notions related to coloured graphs presented above for polytopes apply as well for maniplexes. In particular, we may define the facets of a maniplex as the orbits of a flag  $\Phi$  under the group  $\langle r_0, \ldots, r_{n-2} \rangle$ .

Of course, highly symmetric maniplexes have been of interest since the introduction of the concept. The idea of symmetry of maniplexes rises as a natural generalisation of symmetries of polytopes.

**Definition 1.4.14.** Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be a maniplex. An *automorphism* of  $\mathcal{M}$  is a permutation  $\gamma$  of  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$  that commutes with  $r_0, r_1, \ldots, r_{n-1}$ .

In light of Item 3 of Proposition 1.1.8, the notion of automorphism for maniplexes coincides with the notion given for polytopes. This allows us to define regular maniplexes, orientably regular maniplexes, chiral maniplexes among others, as a natural generalisation of the corresponding concepts for polytopes. In particular Proposition 1.1.8, Proposition 1.2.3, Corollary 1.2.4 and Proposition 1.2.5 hold when we consider their

analogues with regular maniplexes instead of regular polytopes. The proofs are essentially the same as those presented for polytopes.

Other notions not necessarily related to symmetry, such as equivelarity and Schläfli type, extend naturally to maniplexes. However it is possible that certain properties satisfied by highly symmetric polytopes are no longer satisfied by the corresponding king of maniplex. For examples of such properties see [24].

For now, we will not go any further on the theory of maniplexes. Some examples will be built later and we will work with those particular examples. If the reader is interested in a deeper study of highly symmetric maniplexes, we suggest [51].

## 1.5 Quotients, covers and mixing

Sometimes it is useful to have a purely group theoretical version of highly symmetric polytopes. The approach we introduce in this section has been used in several other works. We will follow [14].

**Definition 1.5.1.** Let  $n \ge 2$ . The Universal String Coxeter Group of rank n is the group W with presentation

$$W := [\infty, \dots, \infty] = \left\langle \rho_0, \dots, \rho_{n-1} | (\rho_i)^2 = (\rho_i \rho_j)^2 = \varepsilon \text{ if } |i-j| \ge 2 \right\rangle.$$
(1.5.2)

Thus W is the Coxeter group whose diagram is a string (i.e. path) on n nodes with each branch labeled  $\infty$ .

Similarly, the Universal rotation group is the subgroup  $W^+$  of W generated by the elements  $\sigma_i = \rho_{i-1}\rho_i$ . It is easy to see that  $W^+$  has presentation

$$W^{+} = \left\langle \sigma_{1}, \dots, \sigma_{n-1} | (\sigma_{i} \cdots \sigma_{j})^{2} = \varepsilon \text{ for } i < j \right\rangle.$$
(1.5.3)

The automorphism group of a regular *n*-polytope is a quotient of W and every quotient of W that satisfies  $\rho_i \neq \varepsilon$  for all  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  and the intersection property in Equation (1.2.9) is the automorphism group of an abstract regular polytope.

Similarly, if  $\mathcal{P}$  is an orientably regular or a chiral *n*-polytope, then Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{P}$ ) is a quotient of  $W^+$ , and every quotient of  $W^+$  that satisfies  $\sigma_i \neq \varepsilon$  for all  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  and the intersection property in Equation (1.2.26) is the rotation group of rotary polytope. The differences between the rotation group of an orientably regular polytope and the automorphism group of a chiral polytope can be described in this context. In Proposition 1.5.5 we will describe these properties, but first consider the following definition.

**Definition 1.5.4.** Let  $w \in W^+$ . The enantiomorphic element of w, denoted by  $\overline{w}$ , is the element  $\rho_0 w \rho_0$ . Note that  $\overline{w} \in W^+$ . The element  $\overline{w}$  can be computed from w by replacing  $\sigma_1$  with  $\sigma_1^{-1}$ ,  $\sigma_2$  with  $\sigma_1^2 \sigma_2$  and keeping  $\sigma_k$  for  $k \ge 3$  in any expression of was product of  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$ .

The following result is a fairly well-known fact. Details can be found in [19].

**Proposition 1.5.5.** Let  $M \leq W^+$  be a normal subgroup. Assume that  $W^+/M$  satisfies the intersection property in Equation (1.2.26). Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be the abstract polytope associated to  $W^+/M$ . Then

- 1.  $\mathcal{P}$  is regular if and only if M is normal not only in  $W^+$  but in W itself.
- 2. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is chiral and  $\overline{\mathcal{P}}$  denotes its enantiomorphic image, then the quotient of  $W^+$ associated to  $\overline{\mathcal{P}}$  is  $W^+/\overline{M}$  with

$$\overline{M} = \langle \overline{w} : w \in M \rangle = \rho_0 M \rho_0.$$

In general, the intersection property for a quotient  $W^+/M$  will not hold. At the end of this section we will give some sufficient conditions to determine if the intersection property is satisfied. But we proceed without worrying about it for now.

**Definition 1.5.6.** Let M, N be two normal subgroups of  $W^+$ . We say that the group  $W^+/M$  covers the group  $W^+/N$  if  $M \leq N$ . If  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  are abstract polytopes such that  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = W^+/M$  and  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q}) = W^+/N$  then we also say that  $\mathcal{P}$  covers  $\mathcal{Q}$ . In this situation we also say that  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a quotient of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

The notion of covering has an equivalent interpretation in terms of the so-called flag-actions. We will not develop that part of the theory here. Readers interested in this combinatorial equivalence should be referred to [29] and [41, Section 4]). Even though it is not obvious from Definition 1.5.6, if  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  are chiral or orientably regular *n*-polytopes (or maniplexes) such that  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a quotient of  $\mathcal{P}$ , then  $\mathcal{Q}$  is the result of identifying flags of  $\mathcal{P}$  in such a way that for every  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  if  $\Phi$  is identified with  $\Psi$ , then  $\Phi^i$  is identified with  $\Psi^i$ .

Let  $W^+/M = \langle \tilde{\sigma}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\sigma}_{n-1} \rangle$  and  $W^+/N = \langle \hat{\sigma}_1, \ldots, \hat{\sigma}_{n-1} \rangle$  where for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ ,  $\tilde{\sigma}_i$  and  $\hat{\sigma}_i$  are the images of  $\sigma_i$  under the quotient by M and N, respectively. Observe that if  $W^+/M$  covers  $W^+/N$  then there is a surjective homomorphism from  $W^+/M$  to  $W^+/N$  that maps  $\tilde{\sigma}_i$  to  $\hat{\sigma}_i$ . For now on when we talk about covers and quotients of automorphism groups it will be assumed that the corresponding generators are mapped to the corresponding generators.

Let  $\Gamma = \langle x_1, \ldots, x_n \rangle$  and  $\Gamma' = \langle x'_1, \ldots, x'_n \rangle$  be two groups, each with *n* specified generators. Then the elements  $y_i = (x_i, x'_i) \in \Gamma \times \Gamma'$  generate a group  $\Gamma \Diamond \Gamma'$  which we call the *mix* of  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$ .

If  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  are orientably regular or chiral *n*-polytopes (or *n*-maniplexes) with  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  and  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q}) = \langle \sigma'_1, \ldots, \sigma'_{n-1} \rangle$ , we may consider the mix  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) \diamondsuit \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q})$  generated by the elements  $\zeta_i = (\sigma_i, \sigma'_i)$ . In general the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) \diamondsuit \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q})$  will not have the intersection property, but we may construct a poset with the method described in [63]. This poset always satisfies Items 1 to 3 of Definition 1.1.1 but it might not be strongly flag connected. Therefore, the poset induced by  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) \diamondsuit \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q})$  might not be a polytope, however, it is always a rotary maniplex.

**Definition 1.5.7.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  rotary polytopes. The *mix* of  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$ , denoted by  $\mathcal{P} \diamondsuit \mathcal{Q}$ , is the maniplex defined by the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) \diamondsuit \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q})$ .

The mix of two polytopes can be defined in a more combinatorial way in terms of the flag-graph of the polytopes. This construction follows precisely the notion of *parallel product* introduced by Wilson in [68] for maps. We will not describe this construction here. The interested reader should refer to [68] and [41, Section 5].

Assume that  $\Gamma = \langle x_1, \ldots, x_n | R \rangle$  and  $\Gamma' = \langle x'_1, \ldots, x'_n | S \rangle$  are presentations of the two groups  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$ . The *comix* of  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$  is the group

$$\Gamma \Box \Gamma' = \langle x_1, \dots, x_n, x'_1, \dots, x'_n | R \cup S \cup \{ x_1 = x'_1, \dots, x_n = x'_n \} \rangle.$$

Informally speaking, the group  $\Gamma \Box \Gamma'$  is the group resulting after adding the relations of  $\Gamma'$  to those of  $\Gamma$ , rewriting them to use  $x_i$  instead of  $x'_i$ .

Whenever the groups  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$  are quotients of  $W^+$  both their mix and their comix have a simple description. The following is essentially [14, Propositions 3.1 and 3.2].

**Proposition 1.5.8.** Let  $\Gamma = W^+/M$  and  $\Gamma' = W^+/N$ , then

$$\Gamma \Diamond \Gamma' \cong W^+ / (M \cap N),$$
  

$$\Gamma \Box \Gamma' \cong W^+ / MN.$$
(1.5.9)

Two consequences of Proposition 1.5.8 are the following. These are [14, Propositions 3.3]; see also [19, Section 5].

**Corollary 1.5.10.** Let  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$  be finite groups. Then

$$|\Gamma \diamondsuit \Gamma'| \times |\Gamma \Box \Gamma'| = |\Gamma \times \Gamma'| = |\Gamma| |\Gamma'|.$$

**Corollary 1.5.11.** If  $\Gamma$  covers  $\Gamma'$ , then

$$\Gamma \diamondsuit \Gamma' \cong \Gamma \quad and \Gamma \Box \Gamma' \cong \Gamma'.$$

In general if  $\mathcal{P}$  and  $\mathcal{Q}$  are rotary polytopes the comix  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})\Box \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q})$  might not be the automorphism group of a maniplex. It might even be the case that this group is trivial. However, in light of Propositions 1.5.5 and 1.5.8 we do have the following results.

**Proposition 1.5.12.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a chiral n-polytope, and let  $\overline{\mathcal{P}}$  be its enantiomophic image. Let  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  and  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\overline{\mathcal{P}}) = \langle \overline{\sigma_1}, \ldots, \overline{\sigma_{n-1}} \rangle$ . Then

- Aut<sup>+</sup>(P) ◊ Aut<sup>+</sup>(P) is the smallest group that covers both Aut<sup>+</sup>(P) and Aut<sup>+</sup>(P). The maniplex P◊P is a regular maniplex and it is the smallest one that covers both P and P.
- 2.  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})\Box\operatorname{Aut}(\overline{\mathcal{P}})$  is the maximal common orientably regular quotient of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ and  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\overline{\mathcal{P}})$ .

In Section 3.2 we will consider regular quotients of maps on the torus. These quotients are known to be maniplexes so, in our applications, the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})\Box\operatorname{Aut}^+(\overline{\mathcal{P}})$  will have a familiar combinatorial object associated to it.

Since our applications will involve toroids, and these are quotients of polytopes, it is convenient to have the following result, which is a consequence of Proposition 1.5.8.

**Proposition 1.5.13.** Let  $\Gamma = W^+/M$  be a quotient of  $W^+$ . Let  $\Lambda_1$  and  $\Lambda_2$  be normal subgroups of  $\Gamma$ . Then  $\Gamma/\Lambda_1$  and  $\Gamma/\Lambda_2$  are quotients of  $W^+$  and

$$(\Gamma/\Lambda_1) \diamondsuit (\Gamma/\Lambda_2) \cong \Gamma/(\Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2), (\Gamma/\Lambda_1) \Box (\Gamma/\Lambda_2) \cong \Gamma/\langle \Lambda_1, \Lambda_2 \rangle.$$

Proof. By the correspondence theorem for groups there exist normal subgroups  $\overline{\Lambda}_1$ and  $\overline{\Lambda}_2$  of  $W^+$ , both containing M, and such that  $\Lambda_1 = \overline{\Lambda}_1/M$  and  $\Lambda_2 = \overline{\Lambda}_2/M$ . By the third isomorphism theorem for groups  $\Gamma/\Lambda_1 \cong W^+/\overline{\Lambda}_1$  and  $\Gamma/\Lambda_2 \cong W^+/\overline{\Lambda}_2$ . By Proposition 1.5.8

$$(\Gamma/\Lambda_1) \diamondsuit (\Gamma/\Lambda_2) \cong W^+/(\overline{\Lambda}_1 \cap \overline{\Lambda}_2)$$
 and  
 $(\Gamma/\Lambda_1) \Box (\Gamma/\Lambda_2) \cong W^+/\langle \overline{\Lambda}_1, \overline{\Lambda}_2 \rangle.$ 

Finally, observe that  $(\overline{\Lambda}_1 \cap \overline{\Lambda}_2)/M = \Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2$  and  $\langle \overline{\Lambda}_1, \overline{\Lambda}_2 \rangle/M = \langle \Lambda_1, \Lambda_2 \rangle$ . Then, by the third isomorphism theorem:

$$(\Gamma/\Lambda_1) \diamondsuit (\Gamma/\Lambda_2) \cong (W^+/M) / ((\overline{\Lambda}_1 \cap \overline{\Lambda}_2)/M) \cong \Gamma/(\Lambda_1 \cap \Lambda_2) \text{ and} (\Gamma/\Lambda_1) \Box (\Gamma/\Lambda_2) \cong (W^+/M) / (\langle \overline{\Lambda}_1, \overline{\Lambda}_2 \rangle/M) \cong \Gamma/\langle \Lambda_1, \Lambda_2 \rangle.$$

We finish this section with the following result that offers sufficient conditions for a quotient of  $W^+$  to have the intersection property. The result is essentially [14, Proposition 3.5]

**Proposition 1.5.14.** Let  $\mathcal{P}$  be a rotary *n*-polytope. Let  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  be a group satisfying Equation (1.2.23), i.e., a quotient of  $W^+$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}$  be the facet of  $\mathcal{P}$ . If  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F})$  covers the group  $\langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-2} \rangle$ , then  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) \Diamond \Gamma$  is the automorphism group of a rotary polytope.

# Chapter 2

# **Extensions of Abstract Polytopes**

The objective of this chapter is to introduce the main problems we were interested in through the development of this work. We explore the notion of extensions of polytopes and we summarise what is known so far about the problems we present here.

The Platonic Solids are usually understood as convex bodies in Euclidean Space. However when we are interested in just their combinatorics, they are commonly understood as a bunch of polygons glued together along their edges. This notion extends to maps naturally or to other structures that we have considered as examples of abstract polytopes: the cubic tiling of the Euclidean space  $\mathbb{E}^n$  can be understood as a family of *n*-cubes glued together along their (n-1)-faces.

In fact, this intuitive approach of building *n*-polytopes by gluing (n-1)-polytopes has been part of the theory of polytopes from its very beginning. In [27] Grünbaum explores the problem of building *n*-dimensional *polystromas* (one of the ancestors of what we now call abstract polytopes) with preassigned facets.

During the last few decades this notion of building polytopes from others has inspired very interesting works. Of course, symmetry has been an essential part of the development of the topic. In this chapter we intend to introduce the formal definitions, summarise some of the known results and motivate the problems of our interest.

We begin with the formal concept behind the notion of "gluing together some polytopes".

**Definition 2.0.1.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be an abstract *n*-polytope. We say that an abstract (n+1)-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is an *extension* of  $\mathcal{K}$  if all the facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ .

Finding examples of extensions is not hard. In fact if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a regular or a chiral polytope, then  $\mathcal{P}$  is a extension of its facets. The problem becomes interesting when we start with some polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  and look for an extension  $\mathcal{P}$ . Without any extra condition, this problem has a trivial solution. Given any abstract polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ , there exists a extension  $\mathcal{P}$  of  $\mathcal{K}$  with exactly two facets. We say that  $\mathcal{P}$  is the *trivial extension* of  $\mathcal{K}$ . Note that  $\mathcal{P}$  is extremely degenerate, in the sense that the two facets are incident to every other face of lower rank. This construction is the analogue of considering the map on the sphere whose vertices and edges lie on the equator and each hemisphere is a facet (see Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1: The trivial extension of a polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ .

Even if no-degeneracy conditions are imposed, the problem of finding extensions has a positive answer (see [17] and [20, Section 6]). However a variant of this problem that has been of the interest to the community in the last couple of decades involves imposing extra conditions on  $\mathcal{P}$ . Problems 9, 10, 11, 12, and 15 of [66] are related to a stronger version of the existence of regular extensions of polytopes. Problems 24-30 of [50] involve finding chiral extensions of polytopes. We will come back to some of these problems later.

We divide this chapter into two main sections: In Section 2.1 we will explore what is known about regular extensions of polytopes. Since this section is meant to be a survey and not a complete source of information, we will usually not go too deep into detail but will offer the appropriate references. In Section 2.2 we present some results regarding chiral extensions of polytopes.

# 2.1 Extensions of regular polytopes

In the following paragraphs we will review some constructions of regular extensions of polytopes. All these construction are based, in one way or another, on Theorem 1.2.11 so we will briefly describe the techniques that have been used to construct the groups. We will also mention some of the key properties of each construction.

A first and maybe obvious observation is that if  $\mathcal{P}$  is a regular extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ , then  $\mathcal{K}$  must be a regular polytope, since facets of regular polytopes are themselves regular. The general strategy goes as follows. If  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$ , then we want to build a string C-group  $\Gamma = \langle \rho'_0, \ldots, \rho'_n \rangle$  and a group isomorphism  $\phi : \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) \to \langle \rho'_0, \ldots, \rho'_{n-1} \rangle$  such that  $\phi : \rho_i \to \rho'_i$ . Then by Part 1 of Theorem 1.2.11, the facets of  $\mathcal{P}(\Gamma)$  will be isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ .

#### 2.1.1 Universal Extension

This was one of the first results regarding extensions of polytopes. The construction was introduced by Schulte in 1983 (see [57]). Its properties are summarised in the following result.

**Theorem 2.1.1.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a regular *n*-polytope and let  $\mathcal{F}$  be the facet of  $\mathcal{K}$ . Let  $\Gamma$  be the free product of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  and  $(\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F}) \times C_2)$  with amalgamation along the group  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F})$ . Symbolically we write

$$\Gamma = \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) *_{\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F})} (\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F}) \times C_2).$$

Then  $\Gamma$  is a string C-group with respect to the generators  $\{\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_n\}$  where the elements  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1}$  are the generators of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  and  $\rho_n$  is the generator of  $C_2$ . If  $\mathcal{P}$  is the regular polytope associated to  $\Gamma$ , then  $\mathcal{P}$  satisfies the following properties.

- 1. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , then  $\mathcal{P}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, \infty\}$ .
- 2. The polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is a universal regular extension of  $\mathcal{K}$  in the sense that if  $\mathcal{Q}$  is any regular extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ , then  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a quotient of  $\mathcal{P}$  (as in [40, Section 2D]).
- 3. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a lattice (as a partially ordered set), then  $\mathcal{P}$  is a lattice.

Is is easy to verify that the group described above satisfies the relations of Equation (1.2.6). In fact, it is a consequence of the properties of free products with amalgamation that any other group satisfying those relations together with the defining relations of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  must be a quotient of  $\Gamma$ . It follows that  $\mathcal{P}$  is universal. The intersection property for  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P})$  requires some technical results that again, are consequences of the properties of free products with amalgamation.

### 2.1.2 Extensions by permutations of facets

The universal extension of the previous section solves the existence problem of regular extensions in the sense that every regular polytope admits an extension. The problem with this extension is that not only is it infinite, but it is also locally infinite (note the  $\infty$  as last entry of the Schläfli symbol). Some the first results regarding finite regular extensions of polytopes were given by Schulte in [60, Sections 5 and 6], where he offered a couple of constructions of regular extensions via permutations of the facets (see also [58] and [61, Section 6]).

One of the constructions goes as follows. Let  $\mathcal{K}$  is a regular finite polytope. Assume that  $\mathcal{K}$  is a lattice, hence  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  acts faithfully on the facets of  $\mathcal{K}$  (in fact, the latter condition is sufficient), then this action induces a faithful representation of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  as permutations of such facets. Denote by M the set of facets of  $\mathcal{K}$ . Let  $\phi : \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) \to S_M$ be the representation mentioned above. Consider M' a copy of M and  $\phi' : \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) \to$  $S_{M'}$  such that  $\phi'(\gamma)$  acts on M' the same way as  $\phi(\gamma)$  acts on M. This induces a representation  $\psi : \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) \to S_{M \cup M'}$  given by  $\psi : \gamma \mapsto \phi(\gamma)\phi'(\gamma)$ . In fact, it is easy to see that  $\psi(\gamma) \in S_M \times S_{M'}$ . Now, consider a symbol a not in M (or M') and take as  $\rho_n$ the involution  $(m_0 a)$ , where  $m_0 \in M$  is the base facet of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

Assume that  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$  and that |M| = m. It turns out that  $\langle \psi(\rho_0), \ldots, \psi(\rho_{n-1}), \rho_n \rangle$  is a string C-group isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) \times S_{m+1}$  and the resulting regular polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  has the following properties.

1. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a finite regular polytope of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , then  $\mathcal{P}$  is a finite regular extension of  $\mathcal{K}$  of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, 6\}$ .

2. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a lattice, then  $\mathcal{P}$  is a lattice.

This construction gives a positive answer to the problem of determining whether or not a finite regular polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  admits a finite regular extension for those polytopes  $\mathcal{K}$  whose automorphism groups act faithfully on facets.

The other construction given by Schulte in [60] follows similar ideas. The corresponding extension also has 6 as last entry of its Schläfli symbol. The automorphism group of this extension is isomorphic to  $S_{m+1}$  where m is the number of facets of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

### **2.1.3** The polytope $2^{\mathcal{K}}$

This construction was introduced by Danzer in [17] and can also be applied to nonregular polytopes. The construction takes a polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  and returns a polytope  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$ . The properties of the polytope  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  are summarised in the following result.

**Theorem 2.1.2.** Let  $n \ge 1$  and let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a finite abstract *n*-polytope such that every face of  $\mathcal{K}$  is uniquely determined by its vertex set. Then there exists an (n+1)-polytope  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  that satisfies the following properties.

- 1. The vertices of  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  can be described as the set  $\{\pm 1\}^{|V|}$ , where V is the vertex set of  $\mathcal{K}$ .
- 2. The vertex-figures of  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ , and for  $i \ge 1$  each *i*-faces of  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  is isomorphic to  $2^{F}$ , for some (i-1)-face F of  $\mathcal{K}$ .
- 3. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , then  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  is of type  $\{4, p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ .
- 4. The group  $\operatorname{Aut}(2^{\mathcal{K}})$  is isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) \ltimes (C_2)^{|V|}$  where  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  acts on  $C_2^{|V|}$  by permuting the coordinates.
- 5. The polytope  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  is regular if and only if  $\mathcal{K}$  is regular.
- 6. The polytope  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  is a lattice if and only if  $\mathcal{K}$  is a lattice.

If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a regular polytope of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$  such that each face of  $\mathcal{K}^*$  is determined by its vertex-set, then  $(2^{\mathcal{K}^*})^*$  is an extension of  $\mathcal{K}$  of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, 4\}$ .

In [40, Section 8C], McMullen and Schulte generalize the construction of  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  for every finite regular polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  via a twisting operation (regardless of whether the faces of  $\mathcal{K}$  are determined by their vertices). Later, in [47], Pellicer found another way to define the polytope  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  for any finite regular polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ .

It is possible to extend the construction  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  for an infinite polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ . In this situation, the vertex set of  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  is the set

$$\coprod_{v \in V} C_2 = \left\{ \overline{\mathbf{x}} : V \to C_2 : |\sup(\overline{\mathbf{x}})| < \infty \right\},\$$

where V denotes the vertex set of  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\sup(\overline{\mathbf{x}}) = \{v \in V : \overline{\mathbf{x}}(v) = -1\}$ . Most of the properties of the construction  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$  hold for infinite polytopes  $\mathcal{K}$ . For the purpose of this work, it is enough to consider the construction for finite polytopes.

We will give an explicit construction of the polytope  $2^{\mathcal{S}}$  when  $\mathcal{S}$  is the *n*-dimensional simplex. Following Matoušek [37, Section 5.3], the *n*-dimensional simplex is the convex hull of n + 1 affinely independent points. For  $k \in \{0, \ldots n\}$ , any k + 1 vertices determine a k-dimensional face of the simplex. We will assume that the vertex set of  $\mathcal{S}$  is  $\{1, \ldots, n+1\}$ 

The polytope  $2^{\mathcal{S}}$  is constructed as follows: The vertices of  $2^{\mathcal{S}}$  are the vectors in  $\{-1,1\}^{n+1}$ . The *j*-dimensional faces of this polytope, for  $j \in \{1,\ldots,n+1\}$ , will be determined by their vertex sets and the partial order will be given by inclusion.

Given a face F of the simplex, let  $I_F \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n+1\}$  be the set of vertices of S that determine F. Observe that if F is a k-dimensional face, then  $|I_F| = k + 1$ . For  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in \{-1, 1\}^{n+1}$  we define the set

$$F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}) = \left\{ \overline{\mathbf{y}} \in \{-1, 1\}^{n+1} : y_i = x_i \text{ if } i \notin I_F \right\},\$$

where  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \ldots, x_{n+1})$  and  $\overline{\mathbf{y}} = (y_1, \ldots, y_{n+1})$ . If F is a vertex of  $\mathcal{S}$ , then  $F(\overline{\mathbf{x}})$  has precisely two elements, namely  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$  and the unique vector that differs from  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$  exactly on the coordinate in  $I_F$ . If F is an edge of  $\mathcal{S}$ , then  $F(\overline{\mathbf{x}})$  has precisely four elements: the four vectors that differ from  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$  in any of the two coordinates determined by  $I_F$ . In general, if F has dimension k, then  $F(\overline{\mathbf{x}})$  has  $2^{k+1}$  elements.

If  $\overline{y} \in F(\overline{x})$ , then  $F(\overline{x}) = F(\overline{y})$ . Moreover  $F(\overline{x}) \leq G(\overline{y})$  if and only if  $I_F \subseteq I_G$ and  $x_i = y_i$  for every  $i \notin I_G$ . Observe that the first condition holds if and only if  $F \leq G$  in (the face lattice of)  $\mathcal{S}$ . Finally observe that the elements of  $\{-1,1\}^{n+1}$  can be described as  $F_{-1}(\overline{x})$  where  $F_{-1}$  is the minimum face of  $\mathcal{S}$  and  $I_{F_{-1}} = \emptyset$ . Define the polytope  $2^{\mathcal{S}}$  as

$$2^{\mathcal{S}} = \left( \left\{ F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}) : F \text{ is a face of } \mathcal{S} \text{ and } \overline{\mathbf{x}} \in \{-1, -1\}^{n+1} \right\}, \subseteq \right).$$

The following theorem states that  $2^{\mathcal{S}}$  is a well-known polytope. We do not give a detailed proof here but rather show some intuition about how this construction works.

**Theorem 2.1.3.** Let S denote the n-dimensional simplex. Then the polytope  $2^{S}$  is isomorphic to the (n + 1)-dimensional cube.

In [37, Section 5.3] Matoušek indexes the proper faces of the convex (n + 1)dimensional cube  $[-1,1]^{n+1}$  by vectors  $v \in \{-1,0,1\}^{n+1}$ . Each face has as vertex set the set of vertices  $u \in \{-1,1\}^{n+1}$  where  $v_i = u_i$  whenever  $v_i \neq 0$  (this means that v is the centroid of the corresponding face in the (n + 1)-cube). The isomorphism of Theorem 2.1.3 is the one mapping  $F(\bar{\mathbf{x}})$  to the vector v where  $v_i = 0$  if and only if  $i \in I_F$  and  $v_i = x_i$  if  $j \notin I_F$ .

In Figure 2.2 we present a graphic representation of the construction of  $2^{S}$  for n = 2 (Figure 2.2a) and n = 3 (Figure 2.2b). The colours represent the n + 1 coordinates and two vertices are connected by an edge of colour i if they differ exactly in the  $i^{th}$  coordinate. For  $j \in \{1, \ldots, n + 1\}$ , the j-faces are given by taking connected components on j colours.

In this graphic representation, the automorphism group for each case is  $S_{n+1} \ltimes C_2^{n+1}$ . The elements of  $C_2^{n+1}$  act by preserving the colours. For a vector  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in C_2^{n+1}$  the



Figure 2.2:  $2^{\mathcal{S}}$  for n = 2 and n = 3

automorphism given by  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$  is that induced by the permutation of vertices of  $2^{S}$  given by changing the sign of the  $i^{th}$  coordinate of each vertex whenever  $x_i = -1$ . The elements of  $S_{n+1}$  act by permuting the colours.

### 2.1.4 Extensions of dually bipartite polytopes

Before explaining the next extension we will introduce a definition.

**Definition 2.1.4.** An abstract *n*-polytope is *dually bipartite* if its set of facets admits a colouring with two colours in such a way that if two facets are incident to a common (n-2)-face, then they have different colours.

In [49] Pellicer introduces a construction of regular extensions of dually bipartite polytopes. This construction uses the properties of CPR-graphs.

A *CPR-graph* is a way of representing an embedding of a string C-group into a symmetric group  $S_m$ . CPR-graphs were introduced by Pellicer in [46] where he explores some of their combinatorial properties. Given a regular *n*-polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  with automorphism group  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$  and an embedding  $\phi$ :  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) \to S_m$ , the *CPR-graph* of  $\mathcal{K}$  induced by  $\phi$  is the labelled graph whose vertex set is  $\{1, \ldots, m\}$ and where there is an edge with label  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  between *s* and *t* if and only if  $\phi(\rho_i)$  maps *s* to *t*.

In [49] Pellicer shows some constructions of CPR-graphs (and hence of the automorphism group) of some regular extensions of dually bipartite regular polytopes. These constructions generalize one of the constructions given by Schulte in [59]. The results are summarised in the following theorem.

**Theorem 2.1.5.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a dually bipartite regular *n*-polytope of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ such that  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  acts faithfully on facets. Then for every  $s \in \mathbb{N}$  with  $s \ge 2$  there exists a regular extension of  $\mathcal{P}$  of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, 2s\}$ .

## **2.1.5** The polytope $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$

In [47] Pellicer generalises Danzer's construction  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$ . For a given natural number  $s \ge 2$ , the constructed polytopes has vertex figures isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ , in such a way that every polygonal section  $F_2/F_{-1}$  is isomorphic to a 2*s*-gon. First he gives a completely combinatorial construction that applies not only to regular polytopes but to any polytope whose faces are determined by their vertex sets. Then, using CPR-graphs he gives another construction of the polytope  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  for every regular polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ .

Some of the properties of the construction  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  are summarised in the following result.

**Theorem 2.1.6.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be an abstract *n*-polytope such that every face of  $\mathcal{K}$  is determined by its vertex set. Let  $s \ge 2$ . Then there exists an (n + 1)-polytope  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  with the following properties.

- 1. All the vertex-figures of  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ .
- 2. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , then  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  is of type  $\{2s, p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ .
- 3. The automorphism group of  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  is  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) \ltimes (C_2 \ltimes C_s^{m-1})$  where m is the number of vertices of  $\mathcal{K}$ .
- 4.  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  is finite if and only if  $\mathcal{K}$  is finite.

5. 
$$2 \cdot 2^{\mathcal{K}-1} \cong 2^{\mathcal{K}}$$
.

In a similar way to what happens with  $2^{\mathcal{K}}$ , if  $\mathcal{K}$  is a regular polytope of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , then  $(2s^{\mathcal{K}^*-1})^*$  is a regular extension of  $\mathcal{K}$  of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, 2s\}$ . Since s might be any integer greater than 1, this construction allows us to build regular extensions of regular polytopes whose Schläfli symbols have any arbitrary even number greater than 3 as last entry. This is as far as we can go in such a general context, since in [30], Hartley proves that the hemicube cannot be extended with an odd number as last entry of the Schläfli symbol.

This construction can be applied with s = 1. For an abstract *n*-polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$  the constructed extension is just the trivial extension of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, 2\}$  mentioned at the beginning of this chapter.

## 2.2 Extensions of chiral polytopes

In this section we will review what is known about chiral extensions of abstract polytopes. We will also develop some of the tools that we will use later to build chiral extensions of polytopes.

If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral *n*-polytope, then its facets can be regular or chiral (see Proposition 1.2.20). Both situations can occur in the sense that there are examples of chiral polytopes with regular facets and examples of chiral polytopes with chiral facets. The maps on the torus mentioned in Section 1.3 provide examples of chiral polytopes with regular facets. The example of Item 6 of Example 1.1.3 has octahedra as facets. In

Section 3.2 we will explain a technique that can be use to build 4-polytopes with chiral facets. On the other hand, the (n-2)-faces of  $\mathcal{P}$  must be regular (see Proposition 1.2.20).

Proposition 1.2.20 limits the possibilities of finding constructions for chiral extensions and in general, for chiral polytopes of ranks higher than 5. Unlike regular extensions, there is no construction of chiral extensions that can be applied in a simple recursive way. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ , then it might happen that we can find a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{P}$ , say  $\mathcal{R}$ , but there is no way that we can find a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{R}$ . Otherwise we would have a chiral polytope whose facets have chiral facets isomorphic to  $\mathcal{P}$ , contradicting Proposition 1.2.20.

Proposition 1.2.20 also divides the approaches of finding chiral extensions of a polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  into two situations: when  $\mathcal{K}$  is regular and when  $\mathcal{K}$  is chiral with regular facets.

In a similar way to that with regular polytopes, the problem of finding chiral extensions can be stated in a purely group-theoretical context. Given a chiral or orientably regular *n*-polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  with rotation group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  we are interested in finding a group  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma'_1, \ldots, \sigma'_n \rangle$  and a group embedding  $\phi$ :  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) \to \Gamma$  mapping  $\sigma_i$  to  $\sigma'_i$  such that  $\sigma'_1, \ldots, \sigma'_n$  satisfy Equation (1.2.23) and in such a way that the intersection property described in Equation (1.2.26) holds for  $\Gamma$ .

If we are in the situation described above, then according to Theorem 1.2.28,  $\Gamma$  is the rotation group of a chiral or an orientably regular polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  with facets isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ . If  $\mathcal{K}$  is chiral then  $\mathcal{P}$  must be chiral. However, if  $\mathcal{K}$  is regular, then we still have to guarantee that the group automorphism described in Part 3 of Theorem 1.2.28 does not exist for  $\Gamma$ . In general, formulating a construction that guarantees the non-existence of this automorphism has proved to be a difficult problem.

It seems that the restrictions described in the previous paragraphs have been some of the reasons why the results regarding chiral extensions of polytopes are not as many as those for regular extensions. As we did in Section 2.1, we will review some of the constructions of chiral extensions known so far.

#### 2.2.1 Universal extension

If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a chiral polytope with regular facets it is possible to build a universal chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ . This construction was introduced by Schulte and Weiss in [65]. The ideas behind this construction are not much different from the analogues for regular extensions (see Section 2.1.1).

In this construction the authors use a particular set of generators for the rotation group of the polytopes. If  $\mathcal{Q}$  is a chiral or orientably regular *n*-polytope with  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  consider the automorphisms

$$\tau_j = \sigma_1 \sigma_2 \cdots \sigma_j \quad \text{for } j \in \{1, \dots, n-1\}.$$

Note that  $\tau_j = \tau_{0,j}$  in our earlier notation. Observe that  $\tau_1 = \sigma_1$  and for  $j \ge 2$ , the automorphism  $\tau_j$  is an involution. In fact, if  $\Phi_0$  is the base flag of  $\mathcal{Q}$ , then

$$\Phi_0 \tau_j = \Phi_0^{j,0}.$$

Note also that for  $j \ge 2$ ,  $\sigma_j = \tau_{j-1}^{-1} \tau_j$ , implying that

$$\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{Q}) = \langle \tau_1, \ldots, \tau_{n-1} \rangle.$$

Now let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a chiral *n*-polytope with regular facets and such that  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \tau_1, \ldots, \tau_{n-1} \rangle$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}$  denote the base facet of  $\mathcal{K}$ . Since  $\mathcal{F}$  is regular, then there exist reflections  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-2}$  such that  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-2} \rangle$ . For  $j \in \{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ , define  $\tau'_j = \rho_0 \rho_j$ . Observe that  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F}) = \langle \tau'_1, \ldots, \tau'_{n-2} \rangle$ . Moreover,  $\langle \tau'_1, \ldots, \tau'_{n-2} \rangle \cong \langle \tau_1, \ldots, \tau_{n-2} \rangle$ . Finally note that conjugation by  $\rho_0$  defines an automorphism of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F})$  and that

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F}) = \left\langle \tau_1', \dots, \tau_{n-2}', \rho_0 \right\rangle = \left\langle \tau_1', \dots, \tau_{n-2}' \right\rangle \rtimes \left\langle \rho_0 \right\rangle \cong \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F}) \rtimes C_2.$$

The group of the universal chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$  is the group

$$\Gamma = \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) *_{\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F})} \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F}) \cong \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) *_{\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F})} (\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F}) \ltimes C_2),$$

the free product of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  and  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F})$  with amalgamation along the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F})$ . In other words,  $\Gamma$  is the group with generators  $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_{n-1}, \tau'_1, \ldots, \tau'_{n-2}, \rho_0$  and the following defining relations: all the defining relations for  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$ , all the defining relations for  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F})$ , and  $\tau_j = \tau'_j$  for  $j \in \{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ . Here  $\rho_0$  plays the role of  $\tau_n$ .

The fact that  $\Gamma$  satisfies the Intersection Property of Equation (1.2.26) has a technical proof but it is a consequence of the properties of free products with amalgamation of groups. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is the corresponding polytope, observe that  $\mathcal{P}$  must be chiral, since  $\mathcal{K}$  is chiral. The properties of  $\mathcal{P}$  are summarised in the following result. This is essentially [65, Theorem 2].

**Theorem 2.2.1** (Schulte-Weiss, 1995). Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a chiral n-polytope with Schläfli symbol  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$  and orientably regular facets isomorphic to an (n-1)-polytope  $\mathcal{F}$ . Then there exists a chiral (n+1)-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  with the following properties.

- 1.  $\mathcal{P}$  has facets isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ .
- 2.  $\mathcal{P}$  is universal among all chiral (n + 1)-polytopes with facets isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ ; that is, any other such polytope is a quotient of  $\mathcal{P}$ .
- 3.  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{P}) = \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) *_{\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F})} \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F})$ , the free product of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  and  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{F})$  with amalgamation of the two subgroups isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{F})$ .
- 4.  $\mathcal{P}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \dots, p_{n-1}, \infty\}$ .

It is important to remark that the construction also works for orientably regular polytopes  $\mathcal{K}$ , but then the resulting polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  is regular. In fact  $\mathcal{P}$  is isomorphic to the universal regular extension of  $\mathcal{P}$  (see [57] and Section 2.1.1)

#### 2.2.2 Finite extensions

The construction of universal chiral extensions for chiral polytopes solves an existence problem; however, the question of whether or not a finite chiral polytope with regular facets admits a finite chiral extension was open until 2014. In [16] Cunningham and Pellicer find a construction using GPR-graphs.

GPR-graphs (generalised permutation representation graphs) are a generalisation of CPR-graphs and have been used to build chiral polytopes. They were introduced by Pellicer and Weiss in [52]. We review some concepts of GPR graphs that we are going to use later.

**Definition 2.2.2.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be rotary *n*-polytope with  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$ . Let  $\phi : \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) \to S_m$  be an embedding of the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K})$  into a symmetric group  $S_m$ . The *GPR-graph* associated to  $\phi$  is the directed labelled multigraph (parallel edges are allowed) whose vertices are  $\{1, \ldots, m\}$  and for which there is an arrow from *s* to *t*, with label *k*, whenever  $\phi(\sigma_k)$  maps *s* to *t*.

We call k-arrows the arrows labelled with k. Usually the embedding is given by a known action of Aut( $\mathcal{K}$ ) and it can be omitted. We also omit loops, so a point of  $\{1, \ldots, m\}$  is understood to be fixed by  $\phi(\sigma_k)$  if and only if it has no k-arrows starting on it. A connected component of arrows with labels in  $I \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$  is called an *I-component*, and if  $I = \{k\}$  for some k, then it is called a k-component. Observe that an *I*-component consists of one orbit of points in  $\{1, \ldots, m\}$  under  $\langle \phi(\sigma_i) : i \in I \rangle$ .

Note that a GPR-graph of an orientably regular or chiral polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  determines the automorphism group of  $\mathcal{K}$  (and hence, it determines  $\mathcal{K}$ ). Observe also that the group  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$  acts on the vertices of any GPR-graph of  $\mathcal{K}$  via the embedding  $\phi$ . Moreover, every path from a vertex u to a vertex v of a GPR-graph determines a word on  $\{\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}\} \cup \{\sigma_1^{-1}, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}^{-1}\}$  and hence, an element  $\alpha$  of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K})$ . The element  $\alpha$ satisfies that  $\phi(\alpha)$  maps u to v. In general different paths determine different elements of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K})$ .

If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a rotary polytope with base flag  $\Phi_0$ , then we may consider the embedding of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K})$  into the permutation group on the set of white flags (the set of flags on the same orbit under  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K})$  as  $\Phi_0$ ) given by the (right) action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K})$ . Moreover, by Part 3 of Proposition 1.4.10, this embedding is equivalent to the one given by the (left) action of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{K})$  on the white flags and hence, the GPR-graphs associated to these embeddings are isomorphic. This observation implies that when working with this particular GPR-graph of  $\mathcal{K}$ , we can safely change  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K})$  and  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{P})$  and obtain analogous results.

**Definition 2.2.3.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a rotary polytope. The GPR-graph induced by the action of  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{K})$  on the set of white flags is called the *Cayley GPR-graph of*  $\mathcal{K}$ . This graph is denoted by  $\operatorname{Cay}(\mathcal{K})$ .

In Figure 2.3 we show  $Cay(\{4, 4\}_{(3,0)})$ .

Since the action of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{K})$  on the set of white flags is free (see Part 2 of Proposition 1.4.10), the following proposition is immediate.



Figure 2.3:  $Cay(\{4, 4\}_{(3,0)})$ 

**Proposition 2.2.4.** (Proposition 5 of [16]) Let  $Cay(\mathcal{K})$  be the Cayley GPR-graph of a rotary polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  and let u and v be vertices of  $Cay(\mathcal{K})$ . There exists a unique element  $\alpha \in Con^+(\mathcal{K})$  mapping u to v. In particular, every element of  $Con^+(\mathcal{K})$  determined by a path from u to v is equal to  $\alpha$ .

Given an embedding  $\phi$  of Aut( $\mathcal{K}$ ) into  $S_m$ , there exists a natural embedding  $\phi^d$  of Aut( $\mathcal{K}$ ) into the direct product  $S_m \times \cdots \times S_m$  of d copies of  $S_m$ . This embedding is given by  $\phi^d : \sigma_i \mapsto (\phi(\sigma_i), \ldots, \phi(\sigma_i))$ . This motivates the following result.

**Proposition 2.2.5.** Let  $G_1, \ldots, G_d$  be isomorphic copies of a GPR-graph of an orientably regular or chiral polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ . Then the disjoint union of  $G_1, \ldots, G_d$  is a GPRgraph of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

We finish this review of GPR-graphs with the following result, which will be useful in later sections. This is [16, Theorem 8].

**Theorem 2.2.6.** Let G be a directed graph with arrows labelled  $1, \ldots, n$ . Let  $G_1, \ldots, G_d$  be the  $\{1, 2, \ldots, n-1\}$ -components of G. Assume also that

- 1.  $G_1, \ldots, G_d$  are isomorphic (as labeled directed graphs) to the Cayley GPR-graph of a fixed chiral n-polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  with regular facets.
- 2. For  $k \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ , the action of  $(\sigma_k \cdots \sigma_n)^2$  on the vertex set of G is trivial, where  $\sigma_i$  is the permutation determined by all arrows of label *i*.
- 3.  $\langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle \cap \langle \sigma_n \rangle = \{ \varepsilon \}.$
- 4. For every  $k \in \{2, ..., n-1\}$  there exists a  $\{1, ..., n-1\}$ -component  $G_{i_k}$  and a  $\{k, ..., n\}$ -component  $D_k$  such that  $G_{i_k} \cap D_k$  is a nonempty  $\{k, ..., n-1\}$ -component.

Then G is a GPR-graph of a chiral (n + 1)-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  whose facets are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ .

The construction given by Cunningham and Pellicer in [16] uses Theorem 2.2.6. We review this construction here since later we will present a similar one.

Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a chiral *n*-polytope with regular facets. Let G and G' be two copies of  $\operatorname{Cay}(\mathcal{K})$ . Let  $\{v_1, \ldots, v_m\}$  and  $\{v'_1, \ldots, v'_m\}$  denote the vertices of G and G' respectively in such a way that  $v_1$  and  $v'_1$  are the vertices associated to the base flag of  $\mathcal{K}$ . We will also require that the numbering satisfies that there is a k-arrow from  $v_i$  to  $v_j$  if and only if there is a k-arrow from  $v'_i$  to  $v'_i$ .

Cunningham and Pellicer define a perfect matching M between the vertices of G and the vertices of G' consisting of non-oriented edges. This matching defines an involutory permutation  $\tau$  given by swapping the endpoints of every edge of M. The group  $\langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}, \tau \rangle$  will be the group of the extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ . In this construction, the involutory permutation  $\tau$  plays the role of  $\tau_{n-1,n}$  as defined in Equation (1.2.21). In other words, we may define  $\sigma_n = \sigma_{n-1}^{-1}\tau$  and apply Theorem 2.2.6 to prove that the corresponding graph is a GPR-graph of a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

The edges of M will be defined in several steps. The first three steps focus on defining M on one vertex of each  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component of G.

**Step 1.** Define an edge from  $v_1$  to  $v'_1$ .

**Step 2.** For each *l*, add an edge from  $v_1 \sigma_{n-1}^l$  to  $v'_1 \sigma_{n-1}^{-l}$ .

For  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-2\}$  let  $E_k$  denote the  $\{k, \ldots, n-1\}$ -component of  $v_1$ . In other words,  $E_k = v_1 \langle \sigma_k, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$ . Note that  $E_{n-2} \subseteq E_{n-3} \subseteq \cdots \subseteq E_1 = G$ . For  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-2\}$  let

 $C_k = \{F : F \text{ is a } \{1, \dots, n-2\} \text{-component that intersects } E_k \text{ but not } E_{k+1} \}.$ 

Observe that every  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component of G either intersects  $v_1 \langle \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  or belongs to exactly one of the  $C_k$ .

**Step 3.** For each  $F \in C_k$  we pick  $i_F \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  such that  $v_{i_F} \in F \cap E_k$  and match  $v_{i_F}$  to  $v'_{i_F}$ .

Note that we have matched exactly one vertex of each  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component of G. We extend the matching to the remaining vertices of G as follows. If v is a vertex of G let  $v_{i_F}$  denote the vertex of the  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component F of G containing v that is already incident to an edge of M. Since v and  $v_{i_F}$  belong to the same  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component, there exists a unique  $\alpha \in \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-2} \rangle$  such that  $v = v_i \alpha$  so it remains to extend M to the vertices of this type. Recall that if Q is the facet of  $\mathcal{K}$ , then Q is regular, hence there exists an involutory group automorphism  $\rho$  of  $\langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-2} \rangle$  satisfying that  $\rho : \sigma_{n-2} \mapsto \sigma_{n-2}^{-1}$ ,  $\rho : \sigma_{n-3} \mapsto \sigma_{n-3}\sigma_{n-2}^2$  and  $\rho : \sigma_i \mapsto \sigma_i$  for every  $1 \leq i \leq n-4$  (this is the dual version of the automorphism of Part 3 of Theorem 1.2.28). For  $\alpha \in \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-2} \rangle$  let  $\overline{\alpha}$  denote  $\rho(\alpha)$ .

**Step 4.** Extend M to every vertex by connecting the vertex  $v_i \alpha$  to  $v_i \overline{\alpha}$ .

As mentioned above,  $\tau$  is defined as the involutory permutation induced by M so that  $\sigma_n = \sigma_{n-1}^{-1}\tau$ . Then Theorem 2.2.6 can be used to prove that the graph constructed above is the GPR-graph of a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ . We will not present the proof here. In Section 3.1.1 we will present a very similar construction where we use the same ideas that Cunningham and Pellicer use in their construction.

As a direct consequence of this construction we have the following result.

**Theorem 2.2.7** ([16, Theorem 1]). Every finite chiral polytope with regular facets admits a finite chiral extension.

Besides the results presented in this section, little is known about chiral extensions of polytopes to the date of this work. There are some results that have as a consequence the existence of extensions for particular polytopes but their approach is not precisely that of chiral extensions. Among those results the following may offer new techniques to attack the problems related to chiral extensions.

In the conference SIGMAP 2018 in Morelia, Mexico, Conder announced the following result. This result has not been published to the date of this work.

**Theorem 2.2.8** (Conder, Hubard, O'Reilly and Pellicer). For every  $n \ge 4$  there are chiral n-polytopes with simplicial facets and alternating automorphism group  $A_k$ , and chiral n-polytopes with simplicial facets and symmetric automorphism group  $S_k$ , for all but finitely many k.

As expected, they give a construction of the automorphism group of an extension of the (n-1)-simplex. They use strongly that the automorphism groups of the alternating and the symmetric groups are well-known to show that the polytopes they construct are actually chiral and not orientably regular.

In [8], Conder and Zhang introduce a group theoretical construction that allows them to build families of chiral polytopes from other particular polytopes  $\mathcal{P}$ . They use this technique to build 31 new families of chiral polytopes of rank 4, 5 and 6. Each polytope of each family is of the same rank as  $\mathcal{P}$  and the size of the polytopes in such families grows linearly with the size of  $\mathcal{P}$ . It is unknown if a similar approach can be useful to build chiral extensions of particular families of polytopes.

To the date of this work, the results presented here are the main known results related to chiral extensions of polytopes. Compared to what is known about regular extensions, the results regarding chiral extensions are less numerous and more restrictive. There are several questions about chiral extensions of polytopes that remain open. In particular, among those presented in [50] which involve chiral extensions of polytopes, the ones listed below have not been completely answered.

As mentioned in Section 2.2.1, when applying the construction of [65] to a regular polytope the result is the universal regular extension of [57]. This does not deny the possibility that for every orientably regular polytope  $\mathcal{K}$ , there exists a chiral extension  $\mathcal{U}$  such that every other chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$  is a quotient of  $\mathcal{U}$ . This situation is presented in the following problem.

**Problem 2.2.9** ([50, Problem 24]). Determine whether for every (any) regular polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  there exists a chiral extension which covers every chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

Regarding chiral extensions of chiral polytopes, the following two problems are of deep interest (compare with the analogues for regular polytopes in Sections 2.1.3 and 2.1.5).

**Problem 2.2.10** ([50, Problem 25]). Does every chiral polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  with regular facets admit a chiral extension with prescribed type?

**Problem 2.2.11** ([50, Problem 26]). Does every finite chiral polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  with regular facets admit a finite chiral extension with prescribed type?

Even though Theorem 2.2.7 shows that every chiral polytope with regular facets admits a chiral extension, the analogous problem for regular polytopes has seen only partial advances. Pellicer presents the following two problems in [50].

**Problem 2.2.12** ([50, Problem 27]). Does every orientably regular *n*-polytope admit a chiral extension?

**Problem 2.2.13** ([50, Problem 28]). Does every finite orientably regular n-polytope admit a finite chiral extension?

In [15] Cunningham gives a series of restrictions that imply that certain regular polytopes, called (1, n - 1)-flat, do not admit a chiral extension. So Problems 2.2.12 and 2.2.13 in their more general setting have a negative answer. However the (1, n - 1)-flat polytopes are extremely degenerate, so answers to problems analogous to those listed above after adding a non-degeneracy hypothesis will be of interest.

And of course, we have the analogues to Problems 2.2.10 and 2.2.11 for orientably regular polytopes:

**Problem 2.2.14.** Does every orientably regular polytope admit a chiral extension with prescribed type?

**Problem 2.2.15.** Does every finite orientably regular polytope admit a finite chiral extension with prescribed type?

In the following chapter we will present advances in some of the problems listed above.

# Chapter 3

# Chiral extensions of toroids

In this chapter we present the original results of this thesis regarding chiral extensions of toroids. In Section 3.1 we will introduce two constructions of chiral extensions that allow us to impose conditions on the Schläfli type of some of the extensions. In Section 3.2 we will review some extensions of chiral maps (3-polytopes) on the torus, then study the consequences of applying our construction to them. Finally, in Section 3.3 we show a construction of chiral extensions of regular toroids.

Before going into the details of the constructions mentioned above, we introduce some tools that will be useful along the way.

As seen before, if  $\mathcal{K}$  is a rotary *n*-polytope, sometimes it is useful to consider different sets of generators for Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{K}$ ). In Section 1.2 the results are in terms of the abstract rotations  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}$  with respect to the base flag  $\Phi_0$ . However in upcoming sections we will consider the set  $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_{n-1}$  where

$$\tau_i = \sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_i. \tag{3.0.1}$$

These generators were already described in Section 2.2.1. Recall that if  $\Phi_0$  denotes the base flag, then

$$\Phi_0 \tau_i = \Phi_0^{i,0}.$$

We also have  $\sigma_1 = \tau_1$  and for  $2 \leq i \leq n-1$ ,  $\sigma_i = \tau_{i-1}^{-1}\tau_i$ . It follows that  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \tau_1, \ldots, \tau_{n-1} \rangle$ .

Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a rotary *n*-polytope. Assume that  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n \rangle$  is a group that is a candidate to be the automorphism group of a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ . In principle, we need to verify that  $\Gamma$  satisfies Equation (1.2.23) and the intersection property in Equation (1.2.26) with n - 1 updated to n throughout. However, if the facets of the polytope associated to  $\Gamma$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$ , then we must have  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  and this gives us information about  $\Gamma$ . In particular we have

**Lemma 3.0.2.** Let  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n \rangle$  be a group with the property that the subgroup  $\Gamma_n = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  satisfies Equation (1.2.23). If the group elements  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n$  satisfy the equations

$$\sigma_n^{p_n} = \varepsilon, \quad \text{for some } p_n \ge 3, (\sigma_i \cdots \sigma_n)^2 = \varepsilon, \quad \text{for } 1 \le i \le n - 1,$$
(3.0.3)

then  $\Gamma$  itself satisfies Equation (1.2.23).

*Proof.* The lemma follows from the fact that the relations of Equation (1.2.23) that are not listed in Equation (3.0.3) occur in  $\Gamma_n$ .

The following result is essentially the same as Lemma 3.0.2 but in terms of the generators  $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_n$ .

**Corollary 3.0.4.** Let  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n \rangle$  be a group with the property that the subgroup  $\Gamma_n = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  satisfies Equation (1.2.23). For  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , let  $\tau_i = \sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_i$ . Then the set of relations of Equation (3.0.3) is equivalent to the set of relations

$$(\tau_{n-1}^{-1}\tau_n)^{p_n} = \varepsilon,$$
  

$$\tau_n^2 = \varepsilon,$$
  

$$(\tau_i^{-1}\tau_n)^2 = \varepsilon, \quad for \ i \in \{1, \dots, n-2\}.$$
(3.0.5)

In Section 3.1.1 we will use another set of generators, namely the group elements  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}, \tau$  where  $\tau = \sigma_{n-1}\sigma_n$ . The analogue of Lemma 3.0.2 is the following (see [48, Lemma 1] for a detailed proof).

**Lemma 3.0.6.** Let  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n \rangle$  be a group with the property that the subgroup  $\Gamma_n = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  satisfies Equation (1.2.23). Let  $\tau = \sigma_{n-1}\sigma_n$ . Then the set of relations in Equation (1.2.23), with n-1 updated to n, is equivalent to the set of relations

$$\tau^{2} = \varepsilon,$$
  

$$\tau \sigma_{n-2}\tau = \sigma_{n-2}^{-1},$$
  

$$\tau \sigma_{n-3}\tau = \sigma_{n-3}\sigma_{n-2}^{2},$$
  

$$\tau \sigma_{i}\tau = \sigma_{i} \qquad for \ 1 \leq i \leq n-4.$$
  
(3.0.7)

There is a similar result regarding the intersection property. Its proof is not complicated but it is long and tedious. We will give it here without proof. This is [63, Lemma 10].

**Lemma 3.0.8.** Let  $n \ge 3$  and  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n \rangle$  be a group which satisfies Equation (1.2.23). Assume that the subgroup  $\Gamma_{n-1} = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  has the intersection property in Equation (1.2.26) with respect to its generators. Also, suppose that the following intersection conditions hold:

$$\langle \sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle \cap \langle \sigma_j, \dots, \sigma_n \rangle = \langle \sigma_j, \dots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$$
 (3.0.9)

for  $j \in \{2, ..., n\}$ . Then  $\Gamma$  itself has the intersection property of Equation (1.2.26).

Finally, in order to determine if a group  $\Gamma = \langle \tau_1, \ldots, \tau_n \rangle$  satisfying Corollary 3.0.4 and Lemma 3.0.8 is the automorphism group or a chiral polytope, or instead the rotation subgroup of an orientably regular polytope we need to determine whether there exists group automorphism  $\alpha : \Gamma \to \Gamma$  such as the one described in Part 3 of Theorem 1.2.28. The properties of this automorphism are described, in terms of  $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_n$  in the following result. **Corollary 3.0.10.** Let  $\Gamma = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n \rangle$  be a group satisfying Equation (1.2.23). Assume that there is a group automorphism  $\alpha : \Gamma \to \Gamma$  satisfying the conditions of Part 3 of Theorem 1.2.28, that is,  $\alpha : \sigma_1 \mapsto \sigma_1^{-1}$ ,  $\alpha : \sigma_2 \mapsto \sigma_1^2 \sigma_2$  while fixing  $\sigma_i$  for  $i \ge 3$ . If  $\tau_i = \sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_i$ , then  $\alpha$  satisfies

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(\tau_1) &= \tau_1^{-1}, \\ \alpha(\tau_i) &= \tau_i \quad \text{if } i \ge 2. \end{aligned}$$
(3.0.11)

Conversely, a group automorphism  $\alpha : \Gamma \to \Gamma$  satisfying Equation (3.0.11) also satisfies the conditions of Part 3 of Theorem 1.2.28.

## **3.1** Two constructions of chiral extensions

In this section we introduce two constructions that give information about the Schläfli type of a chiral extension of a polytope. Both constructions are in the same direction: If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a chiral polytope with regular facets satisfying certain conditions, then we can construct a chiral extension  $\mathcal{P}$  of  $\mathcal{K}$  such that the last entry of the Schläfli symbol of  $\mathcal{P}$  is finite but arbitrarily large. In particular,  $\mathcal{K}$  has infinitely many non-isomorphic chiral extensions.

### 3.1.1 Dually bipartite polytopes

In this section we give a construction of chiral extensions of dually bipartite chiral polytopes with regular facets. Recall that an *n*-polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  is dually bipartite if its facets admit a colouring with two colours in such a way that facets incident to a common (n-2)-face of  $\mathcal{K}$  have different colours.

Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a dually bipartite chiral *n*-polytope with regular facets. Let  $\mathcal{F}^w(\mathcal{K})$  denote the set of white flags of  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{K}) = \langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$  the subgroup of  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{K})$ defined in Definition 1.4.9. Let  $\mathcal{K}_{n-1}$  denote the set of facets of  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $c : \mathcal{K}_{n-1} \rightarrow$  $\{1, -1\}$  a colouring like the one described above. Observe that c induces a colouring  $\overline{c} : \mathcal{F}^w \to \{1, -1\}$  by assigning to each white flag the colour of its facet. Consider the following remark.

*Remark* 3.1.1. Let  $\mathcal{K}$  and  $\overline{c}$  be as above. If  $\Psi \in \langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle \Phi$ , then  $\overline{c}(\Psi) = \overline{c}(\Phi)$ .

We will use this property of the colouring  $\overline{c}$  in our construction. Another important remark about dually bipartite polytopes is the following.

Remark 3.1.2. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a dually bipartite polytope of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$  with  $p_{n-1} < \infty$ , then  $p_{n-1}$  must be even.

Remark 3.1.2 follows from the fact that the colouring of facets associated to  $\mathcal{K}$  induces a proper 2-colouring (in the sense of graphs) on the polygonal co-face at each (n-3)-face.

The idea of our construction is very similar to that of [16] (see also Section 2.2.2).Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a dually bipartite chiral *n*-polytope with regular facets. Take  $s \in \mathbb{N}$  and let  $G_1, \ldots, G_{2s}$  be 2s copies of Cay( $\mathcal{K}$ ), constructed as follows. For each  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2s}$ , the

vertices of the graph  $G_{\ell}$  will be pairs labelled by  $(\Phi, \ell)$  where  $\Phi \in \mathcal{F}^w(\mathcal{K})$ . Note that for  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ , there is an arrow labelled with k (k-arrow) from  $(\Phi, \ell)$  to  $(\Psi, \ell)$ if and only if  $\Psi = s_k \Phi$ . As in Section 2.2.2, for  $I \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n-1\}$ , the *I*-component of a vertex v is the connected component containing v after removing the arrows whose labels do not belong to I. Observe that Remark 3.1.1 implies that the colouring  $\overline{c}$  is such that if v and u belong to the same  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component, then  $\overline{c}(u) = \overline{c}(v)$ . We assume that if  $\Phi_0$  is base flag of  $\mathcal{K}$ , then  $\overline{c}(\Phi_0) = 1$ .

The strategy is to define a matching M on the vertices of the disjoint union of  $G_1, \ldots, G_{2s}$ . Then consider the involutory permutation t that results from swapping the endpoints of every edge of M. We will take  $s_n = s_{n-1}^{-1}t$  and then use Theorem 2.2.6 to prove that the resulting graph is a GPR-graph of a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$ . Then we will explore the properties of the resulting extension. We will use the group  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{K})$  instead of the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K})$  (as in [16] and Section 2.2.2) for consistency with later constructions in this chapter. Recall that by Proposition 1.4.10 the two actions on the set of white flags are equivalent.

We will define M in several steps.

- 1. Add an edge between  $(\Phi_0, \ell)$  and  $(\Phi_0, \ell + (-1)^{\ell})$ .
- 2. For every j, add an edge from  $(s_{n-1}^j\Phi_0, \ell)$  to  $(s_{n-1}^{-j}\Phi_0, \ell + (-1)^\ell \overline{c}(s_{n-1}^j\Phi_0))$ .

Observe that the edge of Step 2 is well defined by Remark 3.1.2, since the order of  $s_{n-1}$  must be even, which implies that  $s_{n-1}^k \Phi_0$  and  $s_{n-1}^{-k} \Phi_0$  have the same colour.

Now for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2s}$  and  $k \in \{1, \ldots, n-2\}$  let  $E_k^{\ell}$  denote the  $\{k, \ldots, n-1\}$ component of  $(\Phi_0, \ell)$ . The vertices of  $E_k^{\ell}$  are of the form  $(\Psi, \ell)$  where  $\Psi$  belongs to the
orbit of  $\Phi_0$  under  $\langle s_k, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$ . This implies that  $E_{n-2}^{\ell} \subseteq \cdots \subseteq E_1^{\ell} = G_{\ell}$ . Define also
the families

$$\mathcal{C}_{k}^{\ell} = \left\{ \{1, \dots, n-2\} \text{-components } F \text{ of } G_{\ell} : F \cap E_{k}^{\ell} \neq \emptyset \text{ but } F \cap E_{k+1}^{\ell} = \emptyset \right\}.$$

3. For  $k \leq n-2$  and for every  $F \in \mathcal{C}_k^{\ell}$  with  $\ell$  odd, pick a vertex  $(\Phi_F, \ell)$  in  $E_k^{\ell}$  and match it to  $(\Phi_F, \ell + (-1)^{\ell} \overline{c}(\Phi_F))$ .

Since every  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component of  $G_{\ell}$  either has a vertex of the form  $\left(s_{n-1}^{j}\Phi_{0}, \ell\right)$ for some j or belongs to  $\mathcal{C}_{k}^{\ell}$  for some k, with Steps 1 to 3 we have picked exactly one vertex of each  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component of the graphs  $G_{1}, \ldots, G_{2s}$ . In Figure 3.1 we show a possible choice of flags on the graph  $G_{1} = \operatorname{Cay}(\mathcal{K})$  with  $\mathcal{K}$  the toroid  $\{4, 4\}_{(3,1)}$ . The red flags are those of the form  $s_{2}^{k}\Phi_{0}$  and the green flags are those of the 1-components of  $\mathcal{C}_{1}^{1}$ . The flags with darker colours are those flags  $\Phi$  that satisfy  $\overline{c}(\Phi) = -1$ .

Let  $(\Phi, \ell)$  be a vertex and let F be its  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component. Let  $(\Phi_F, \ell)$  be the unique vertex of F incident to an edge of M. Observe that since the action of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{K})$ is free on the set of white flags, there exists a unique element w of  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$  such that  $w\Phi_F = \Phi$ . In other words, every vertex of F is of the form  $(w\Phi_F, \ell)$ . Since  $\mathcal{K}$ has regular facets, there exist an involutory group automorphism  $\rho$  of  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$ mapping  $s_{n-2}$  to  $s_{n-2}^{-1}$ ,  $s_{n-3}$  to  $s_{n-3}s_{n-2}^2$  while fixing  $s_i$  for  $1 \leq i \leq n-4$ . For  $w \in$ 



Figure 3.1: A possible choice of the flags after Steps 1 to 3.

 $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$ , let  $\overline{w}$  denote  $\rho(w)$ . To define this automorphism we are thinking the connection elements as the permutations they induce on the set of white flags. Recall that by Proposition 1.4.10 the permutation group  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$  is isomorphic to the rotation group of the facet of  $\mathcal{K}$ . The automorphism  $\rho$  is the dual version of the automorphism in *Part* 3 of Theorem 1.2.28.

4. For every vertex of the form  $(w\Phi_F, \ell)$ , with  $w \in \langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$ , add an edge from  $(w\Phi_F, \ell)$  to  $(\overline{w}\Phi_F, \ell + (-1)^{\ell}\overline{c}(w\Phi_F))$ .

Observe that the edge of Step 4 is well-defined since all the flags of the form  $w\Phi_F$  with  $w \in \langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$  have the same colour.

We have defined the matching M. Let t be the involutory permutation given by swapping the endpoints of each edge of M and define  $s_n = s_{n-1}^{-1}t$ .

**Proposition 3.1.3.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a finite dually bipartite chiral polytope with regular facets and let  $s \in \mathbb{N}$ . The permutation group  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_n \rangle$  defined by the graph  $G = \bigcup_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2s}} G_\ell$ together with the matching M constructed in Steps 1 to 4 defines the automorphism group of a chiral extension  $\mathcal{P}$  of  $\mathcal{K}$  with the property that 2s divides the last entry of the Schläfli symbol of  $\mathcal{P}$ .

*Proof.* We will use Theorem 2.2.6. Part 1 there follows from our construction, since  $G_1, \ldots, G_{2s}$  are copies of  $\operatorname{Cay}(\mathcal{K})$ . To prove Part 2 we need to see that the action of  $(s_k \cdots s_n)^2$  is trivial on every vertex. According to Lemma 3.0.6 it suffices to prove



Figure 3.2: The GPR graph of the extension.

that the following relations hold:

$$t^{2} = \varepsilon,$$
  

$$ts_{n-2}t = s_{n-2}^{-1},$$
  

$$ts_{n-3}t = s_{n-3}s_{n-2}^{2},$$
  

$$ts_{i}t = s_{i} \qquad \text{for } 1 \leq i \leq n-4.$$

The first relation holds by construction since t swaps the two vertices of every edge of M. The other three relations are a consequence of the construction of M in Step 4.

To prove Part 3 of Theorem 2.2.6 consider the action of  $s_n$  and  $s_n^2$  on a vertex  $(\Phi_0, \ell)$ :

$$s_{n} (\Phi_{0}, \ell) = s_{n-1}^{-1} t (\Phi_{0}, \ell)$$
  
=  $s_{n-1}^{-1} (\Phi_{0}, \ell + (-1)^{\ell})$   
=  $\left(s_{n-1}^{-1} \Phi_{0}, \ell + (-1)^{\ell}\right)$  (3.1.4)

$$s_n^2(\Phi_0, \ell) = s_n \left( s_{n-1}^{-1} \Phi_0, \ell + (-1)^\ell \right)$$
  
=  $s_{n-1}^{-1} t \left( s_{n-1}^{-1} \Phi_0, \ell + (-1)^\ell \right)$   
=  $s_{n-1}^{-1} \left( s_{n-1} \Phi_0, \ell + (-1)^\ell + (-1)^{\ell+1} \overline{c} (s_{n-1}^{-1} \Phi_0) \right)$  (3.1.5)  
=  $s_{n-1}^{-1} \left( s_{n-1} \Phi_0, \ell + 2(-1)^\ell \right)$   
=  $\left( \Phi_0, \ell + 2(-1)^\ell \right)$ ,

where we have used that  $\ell + (-1)^{\ell} \equiv \ell + 1 \pmod{2}$  and that  $\overline{c}(s_{n-1}^{-1}\Phi_0) = -1$ .


Figure 3.3: The intersection of  $D_k$  with  $G_\ell$  is  $E_k^\ell$ 

It follows that if  $s_n^j(\Phi_0, 0) = (\Psi, 0)$ , then j is a multiple of 2s and  $\Psi = \Phi_0$ . In particular  $s_n^j$  fixes  $(\Phi_0, 0)$ . Since the unique element of  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$  fixing  $(\Phi_0, 0)$  is  $\varepsilon$  (see Proposition 1.4.10),  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle \cap \langle s_n \rangle = \{\varepsilon\}$ , proving Part 3.

Let  $k \in \{2, \ldots, n-1\}$  and let  $D_k$  be the  $\{k, \ldots, n\}$ -component of  $(\Phi_0, 0)$ . In order to prove Part 4, we will prove that  $D_k \cap G_\ell = E_k^\ell$  for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2s}$ . It is clear that every vertex of  $E_k^\ell$  belongs to  $D_k \cap G_\ell$ , since the elements of  $\langle s_k, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$  map vertices of  $G_\ell$ to vertices of  $G_\ell$ . To show the other inclusion, we will prove that if  $(\Psi, \ell)$  is a vertex in  $E_k^\ell$  then it is matched to a vertex in  $E_k^{\ell'}$  where  $\ell' = \ell + (-1)^\ell \overline{c}(\Psi)$  (see Figure 3.3).

Let  $(\Psi, \ell)$  be a vertex of  $E_k^{\ell}$ . Let F be the  $\{1, \ldots, n-2\}$ -component of  $G_\ell$  containing  $(\Psi, \ell)$ . Note that  $(\Psi, \ell) \in F \cap E_k^{\ell}$ . Observe that for every vertex  $(\Phi, \ell)$  in F we have that  $\overline{c}(\Phi) = c(F)$ . Define  $\ell' = \ell + (-1)^{\ell}c(F)$ . Since F intersects  $E_k^{\ell}$ , then  $F \in \mathcal{C}_j^{\ell}$  for some  $j \geq k$ . In Step 3 of the construction we picked a vertex  $(\Phi_F, \ell)$  in  $E_j^{\ell}$  (and hence in  $E_k^{\ell}$ ) and matched it to  $(\Phi_F, \ell')$ . Since  $(\Phi_F, \ell)$  and  $(\Psi, \ell)$  belong to F, there exists  $w \in \langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$  such that

$$w(\Phi_F, \ell) = (\Psi, \ell).$$

Similarly, since both vertices belong to  $E_k^{\ell}$ , there exists  $v \in \langle s_k, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$  such that

$$v(\Phi_F, \ell) = (\Psi, \ell).$$

But since the action of  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$  is free (see Proposition 1.4.10), it follows that w = v. Therefore, w is an element of  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle \cap \langle s_k, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle = \langle s_k, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$ . This implies that  $\overline{w} \in \langle s_k, \ldots, s_{n-2} \rangle$ .

Since both  $(\Phi_0, \ell)$  and  $(\Psi, \ell)$  belong to  $E_k^{\ell}$ , then there exists  $u \in \langle s_k, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$  such that

$$(\Psi, \ell) = u(\Phi_0, \ell).$$

Finally, in Step 4 we matched  $(\Psi, \ell)$  to

$$(\overline{w}\Phi_F, \ell') = \overline{w}w^{-1}(\Psi, \ell') = \overline{w}w^{-1}u(\Phi_0, \ell'),$$

but  $\overline{w}w^{-1}u \in \langle s_k, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$ , implying that  $(\Psi, \ell)$  is matched to a vertex in  $E_k^{\ell'}$ .

As a consequence of Theorem 2.2.6, the group  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_n \rangle$  is the automorphism group of a chiral extension  $\mathcal{P}$  of  $\mathcal{K}$ . To see that the last entry of the Schläfli symbol of

 $\mathcal{P}$  must be a multiple of 2s just observe that the orbit of  $(\Phi_0, 0)$  under  $\langle s_n \rangle$  has length 2s (see Equation (3.1.5)).

Proposition 3.1.3 has an important consequence. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a dually bipartite chiral polytope with regular facets and  $q \in \mathbb{N}$  is any number, then there exists a chiral extension  $\mathcal{P}_q$  of  $\mathcal{K}$  such that the last entry of the Schläfli symbol of  $\mathcal{P}_q$  is finite but strictly greater than q; it is enough to take s = q + 1 and apply the construction of Proposition 3.1.3. Then the following corollary holds.

**Corollary 3.1.6.** Every finite dually bipartite chiral n-polytope with regular facets has infinitely many non-isomorphic chiral extensions.

## 3.1.2 The maniplex $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ and chiral extensions of chiral polytopes with regular quotients

In this section we will describe a technique to build an infinite family  $\{\mathcal{P}_s : s \in \mathbb{N}, s \geq 2\}$  of chiral extensions of a given chiral *n*-polytope  $\mathcal{K}$  with regular facets from a particular chiral extension  $\mathcal{P}$  of  $\mathcal{K}$ . The polytope  $\mathcal{P}_s$  satisfies the property that if  $\mathcal{P}$  has type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, q\}$ , then  $\mathcal{P}_s$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, lcm(2s, q)\}$ . To guarantee the existence of such a family we will need that  $\mathcal{K}$  satisfies certain particular conditions that we describe in detail below.

In order to do so we develop a construction of extensions of maniplexes. In other words, given a maniplex  $\mathcal{M}$  we build a maniplex called  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  whose facets are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{M}$ , and such that the last entry of the Schläfli symbol of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  is 2s. If  $\mathcal{K}$  is an abstract regular polytope the resulting maniplex  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  is actually a polytope that is isomorphic to the polytope  $(2s^{\mathcal{K}^*-1})^*$  introduced by Pellicer in [47] (see Corollary 3.1.16).

**Definition 3.1.7.** Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be an *n*-maniplex with base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Let  $\{F_1, \ldots, F_m\}$  be the facets of  $\mathcal{M}$  labelled so that  $\Phi_0 \in F_m$ . Let  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$  and  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{M}) = \langle r_0, \ldots, r_{n-1} \rangle$ denote the set of flags and the connection group of  $\mathcal{M}$  respectively. Choose  $s \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $s \ge 2$  and let  $U = \{\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \ldots, x_m) \in \mathbb{Z}_s^m : \sum_{i=1}^m x_i = 0\}$ . Consider the vectors  $\overline{a}_j = \overline{e}_j - \overline{e}_m$ , where  $\overline{e}_i$  denotes the vector of  $\mathbb{Z}_s^m$  with  $i^{th}$  entry equal to 1 and every other entry equal to 0. Note that  $\overline{a}_j = (0^{j-1}, 1, 0^{m-j-1}, -1)$  if j < m and that  $\overline{a}_m = 0$ . Then  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  is the (n+1)-maniplex  $(\mathcal{F}_s, \{s_0, \ldots, s_n\})$ , where

$$\mathcal{F}_s = \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M}) \times U \times \mathbb{Z}_2,$$
  

$$s_i(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) = (r_i \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \qquad \text{for } 0 \leq i \leq n-1,$$
  

$$s_n(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) = (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 1-\delta) \quad \text{whenever } \Phi \in F_j,$$

**Proposition 3.1.8.** The pair  $(\mathcal{F}_s, \{s_0, \ldots, s_n\})$  defined in Definition 3.1.7 is a maniplex whose facets are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{M}$ . Moreover, if every (n-2)-face of  $\mathcal{M}$  is incident to two different (n-1)-faces, then  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  has 2s facets incident to each (n-2)-face.

*Proof.* First observe that if  $i \in \{0, ..., n\}$ , then  $s_i$  is a permutation of  $\mathcal{F}_s$ , since  $r_i \Phi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$  and  $\overline{a}_i \in U$ . Clearly  $s_i$  is an involution for  $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$ . Now assume that

 $\Phi$  is a flag of  $\mathcal{M}$  with  $F_j \in \Phi$ , then

$$s_n^2(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) = s_n \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 1 - \delta \right)$$
$$= \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j + (-1)^{1-\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, \delta \right)$$
$$= \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right).$$

This proves that  $s_n$  is an involution.

Observe that  $r_i \mapsto s_i$  for  $0 \leq i \leq n-1$  defines an isomorphism between  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{M})$ and  $\langle s_0, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$ . This isomorphism proves that the facets of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{M}$ . Moreover, if  $w \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{M})$  we may think of w as en element of  $\operatorname{Con}(2s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$ .

Let  $(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$  be a flag of  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ . Let  $w \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{M})$  be such that  $\Phi = w\Phi_0$ . Observe that

$$ws_n w^{-1}(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) = (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, 1 - \delta).$$
(3.1.9)

It follows that  $(ws_n w^{-1})^{\delta}(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) = (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, 0)$ . Now, if  $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  let  $w_j \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{M})$  be such that  $w_j \Phi \in F_j$ . Then

$$(ws_n w^{-1})(w_j^{-1} s_n w_j)(ws_n w^{-1})^{\delta}(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) = (ws_n w^{-1})(w_j^{-1} s_n w_j)(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, 0)$$
  
=  $(ws_n w^{-1})(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 1)$  (3.1.10)  
=  $(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 0).$ 

Combining Equation (3.1.9), Equation (3.1.10) and the fact that  $\{\overline{a}_1, \ldots, \overline{a}_m\}$  is a generating set for U it follows that we can map every flag  $(\Phi, \overline{x}, \delta)$  to every flag  $(\Phi, \overline{y}, \varepsilon)$  by an element of  $\langle s_0, \ldots, s_n \rangle$ . The transitivity of  $\operatorname{Con}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$  on  $\mathcal{F}_s$  now follows from the transitivity of  $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{M})$  on  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})$ .

If  $i, j \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$  it is clear that  $s_i(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \neq s_j(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$  since  $\mathcal{M}$  is a maniplex. For  $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$ ,  $s_n(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \neq s_i(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$  since they have different third coordinates.

Let  $(\Phi, \bar{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$  be a flag and let  $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  be such that  $\Phi \in F_j$ . If  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-2\}$  then  $r_i \Phi \in F_j$ , and then it follows that

$$s_i s_n(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) = (r_i \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 1 - \delta) = s_n s_i(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta).$$

Then  $s_n$  commutes with  $s_i$  whenever  $i \leq n-2$ . The elements  $s_i$  and  $s_j$  commute for  $i, j \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$  with  $i \neq j$  and  $|i-j| \geq 2$  because  $r_i$  and  $r_j$  commute. We have proved then that  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  is a maniplex.

Let  $(\Phi, \bar{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$  be a flag and assume that  $\Phi \in F_j$ . Let  $k \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  be such that  $r_{n-1}(\Phi) \in F_k$ . Observe that if every (n-2)-face of  $\mathcal{M}$  is incident to two (n-1)-faces, then  $j \neq k$ . Consider the action of  $(s_n s_{n-1})^2$  on an arbitrary flag  $(\Phi, \bar{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$ :

$$(s_n s_{n-1})^2 (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) = s_n s_{n-1} s_n (r_{n-1} \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$$
  
=  $s_n s_{n-1} \left( r_{n-1} \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_k, 1 - \delta \right)$   
=  $s_n \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_k, 1 - \delta \right)$   
=  $\left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_k + (-1)^{1-\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, \delta \right)$   
=  $\left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} (\overline{\mathbf{a}}_k - \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j), \delta \right).$ 



Figure 3.4: The maniplex  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  where  $\mathcal{M}$  is a triangle and s = 3.

It follows that orbit of  $(\Phi, \bar{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$  under  $\langle (s_n s_{n-1})^2 \rangle$  has length the same as the order of  $(\bar{\mathbf{a}}_k - \bar{\mathbf{a}}_j)$  in U, which is s, provided that  $j \neq k$ . Therefore, if every (n-2)-face of  $\mathcal{M}$  is incident to two (n-1)-faces, then the order of  $(s_n s_{n-1})^2$  is s. Then we have that there are 2s facets incident to each (n-2)-face of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ . In particular, if  $\mathcal{M}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ , then  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, 2s\}$ .

Remark 3.1.11. If  $\mathcal{M}$  is a regular maniplex, then the condition that every (n-2)-face of  $\mathcal{M}$  is incident to two facets of  $\mathcal{M}$  is equivalent to requiring that  $\mathcal{M}$  has at least two facets.

Observe that the orbit of a flag  $(\Phi, \bar{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$  under the group  $\langle s_0, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$  is

$$\{(\Psi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) : \Psi \in \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{M})\}.$$

In particular, every facet of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  is determined by a pair  $(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$  with  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in U$  and  $\delta \in \mathbb{Z}_2$ . Furthermore, the maniplex  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  is dually bipartite; and the necessary colouring is given by  $\delta$ . The base facet of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  is the facet determined by the pair  $(\overline{0}, 0)$ . This facet together with the base flag  $\Phi_0$  of  $\mathcal{M}$  determines the base flag  $(\Phi_0, \overline{0}, 0)$  of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ .

In Figure 3.4 we show then maniplex  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  when  $\mathcal{M}$  is a triangle and s = 3. The facets of the triangle are labelled with  $\{1, 2, 3\}$  being 3 the base facet. The shaded triangles are those whose flags satisfy  $\delta = 1$  and the white triangles are those with  $\delta = 0$ . Each facet has associated to it an element of U as explained in the previous paragraph.

Now we describe some symmetry properties of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ . Assume that  $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M})$ . Observe that  $\gamma$  acts on  $\{1, \ldots, m\}$  by permuting the elements the same way it permutes the facets of  $\mathcal{M}$ . If  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \ldots, x_m)$ , then take  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma := (x_{1\gamma^{-1}}, \ldots, x_{m\gamma^{-1}})$ . This defines an action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M})$  on U. Observe that this action is linear in the sense that  $(\overline{\mathbf{x}}+\overline{\mathbf{y}})\gamma = \overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + \overline{\mathbf{y}}\gamma$  for every  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}, \overline{\mathbf{y}} \in U$ . Note also that  $\overline{\mathbf{e}}_j\gamma = \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{j\gamma}$  for every  $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$ . In particular  $\overline{\mathbf{a}}_j\gamma = \overline{\mathbf{e}}_j\gamma - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_m\gamma = \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{j\gamma} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_m\gamma$ . For  $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M})$ , define  $\overline{\gamma} : \mathcal{F}_s \to \mathcal{F}_s$  by

$$(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)\overline{\gamma} = (\Phi\gamma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + \delta\overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}, \delta).$$

**Proposition 3.1.12.** The mapping  $\gamma \mapsto \overline{\gamma}$  defines an embedding of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M})$  into  $\operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$ . In fact, if  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$  denotes the base facet of  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ , then the image of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M})$  is precisely  $\operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})}(\overline{\mathcal{M}})$ .

*Proof.* First we need to prove that  $\overline{\gamma}$  is an automorphism. To prove that  $\overline{\gamma}$  is a permutation of  $\mathcal{F}_s$  observe that it has as inverse the function  $\overline{\gamma^{-1}}$ :

$$(\Phi\gamma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + \delta\overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}, \delta) \overline{\gamma^{-1}} = \left(\Phi, (\overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + \delta\overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma})\gamma^{-1} + \delta\overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma^{-1}}, \delta\right)$$
$$= (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + \delta(\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma\gamma^{-1}} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma^{-1}}) + \delta(\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma^{-1}} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m}), \delta)$$
$$= (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta).$$

If  $i \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$ , then

$$s_i \left( (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \overline{\gamma} \right) = s_i \left( \Phi \gamma, \overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}, \delta \right)$$
$$= \left( r_i \Phi \gamma, \overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}, \delta \right)$$
$$= \left( r_i \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \overline{\gamma}$$
$$= \left( s_i \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \right) \overline{\gamma}.$$

So it remains to show that  $s_n((\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \overline{\gamma}) = (s_n(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)) \overline{\gamma}.$ 

Consider the left side of the previous equation:

$$s_n \left( \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \overline{\gamma} \right) = s_n \left( \Phi \gamma, \overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}, \delta \right) = \left( \Phi \gamma, \overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 1 - \delta \right),$$

where  $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  is such that  $\Phi \gamma \in F_j$ . Now the right side:

$$(s_n (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)) \overline{\gamma} = (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_k, 1 - \delta) \overline{\gamma}$$
$$= (\Phi\gamma, (\overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_k)\gamma + (1 - \delta) \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}, 1 - \delta)$$

where  $k \in \{1, ..., m\}$  is such that  $\Phi \in F_k$ . Note that if these two are different, then they differ in the second coordinate. Observe also that  $k\gamma = j$ . Compare the second coordinates. On the one hand,

$$\overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + \delta\overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma} + (-1)^{\delta}\overline{\mathbf{a}}_{j} = \overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + \delta(\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m}) + (-1)^{\delta}(\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{j} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m})$$
$$= \overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + (\delta)\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma} + \left(-\delta - (-1)^{\delta}\right)\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m} + (-1)^{\delta}\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{j},$$

and on the other

$$(\overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_k)\gamma + (1-\delta)\overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma} = \overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + (-1)^{\delta}(\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{k\gamma} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma}) + (1-\delta)(\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_m)$$
$$= \overline{\mathbf{x}}\gamma + \left(-(-1)^{\delta} + (1-\delta)\right)e_{m\gamma} - (1-\delta)\overline{\mathbf{e}}_m + (-1)^{\delta}\overline{\mathbf{e}}_j.$$

Finally, observe that  $\left(-(-1)^{\delta} + (1-\delta)\right) = \delta$  and  $\left(-\delta - (-1)^{\delta}\right) = (\delta-1)$  for  $\delta \in \{0,1\}$ . This proves that  $\overline{\gamma}$  is indeed an automorphism of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ .

Clearly if  $(\Phi, \overline{0}, 0)$  is a flag of the base facet, then

$$(\Phi,\overline{0},0)\overline{\gamma} = (\Phi\gamma,\overline{0},0)$$

Since  $\Phi$  is arbitrary, this defines a group homomorphism such that the image of Aut $(\mathcal{M})$  is a subgroup of  $\operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})}(\overline{\mathcal{M}})$ . Since the action of the automorphism group on the set of flags is free, this homomorphism is injective. Every element of  $\operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})}(\overline{\mathcal{M}})$  induces an automorphism of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$ . Since the action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$  on flags is free, these automorphisms must belong to the image of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M})$ .

From now on we will abuse notation and denote  $\overline{\gamma}$  simply by  $\gamma$  and think of Aut( $\mathcal{M}$ ) as a subgroup of Aut( $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ ). Similarly, if there is no place for confusion, we will denote the base facet of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  by  $\mathcal{M}$  instead of  $\overline{\mathcal{M}}$ .

Now, for every  $\overline{y} \in U$  consider  $\tau_{\overline{y}} : \mathcal{F}_s \to \mathcal{F}_s$  given by  $\tau_{\overline{y}} : (\Phi, \overline{x}, \delta) \mapsto (\Phi, \overline{x} + \overline{y}, \delta)$ . Consider also the mapping  $\chi : \mathcal{F}_s \to \mathcal{F}_s$  given by  $\chi : (\Phi, \overline{x}, \delta) \mapsto (\Phi, -\overline{x}, 1 - \delta)$ . The following proposition describes more about these mappings.

**Proposition 3.1.13.** The functions  $\tau_{\overline{y}}$  and  $\chi$  define automorphisms of  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ . The group  $\langle \tau_{\overline{y}} : \overline{y} \in U \rangle$  defines a subgroup of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$  isomorphic to  $U, \langle \chi \rangle$  is a subgroup of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$  isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}_2$  and

$$\langle \{\chi\} \cup \{\tau_{\overline{y}} : \overline{y} \in U\} \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes U.$$

Moreover, this group acts transitively on facets of  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ .

*Proof.* Observe that  $\tau_{-\overline{y}}$  is the inverse of  $\tau_{\overline{y}}$ , so the latter is a bijection. Let  $(\Phi, \overline{x}, \delta)$  be a flag of  $2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  such that  $\Phi \in F_j$ . If  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ , then

$$s_i\left(\left(\Phi,\overline{\mathbf{x}},\delta\right)\tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}}\right) = s_i\left(\Phi,\overline{\mathbf{x}}+\overline{\mathbf{y}},\delta\right) = \left(r_i\Phi,\overline{\mathbf{x}}+\overline{\mathbf{y}},\delta\right) = \left(r_i\Phi,\overline{\mathbf{x}},\delta\right)\tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}} = \left(s_i\left(\Phi,\overline{\mathbf{x}},\delta\right)\right)\tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}}.$$

We also have

$$s_n \left( \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}} \right) = s_n \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + \overline{\mathbf{y}}, \delta \right)$$
$$= \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + \overline{\mathbf{y}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 1 - \delta \right)$$
$$= \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 1 - \delta \right) \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}}$$
$$= \left( s_n \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \right) \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}}.$$

Therefore,  $\tau_{\overline{y}}$  defines an automorphism of  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$ . The mapping  $\overline{y} \mapsto \tau_{\overline{y}}$  defines an isomorphism from U to  $\langle \tau_{\overline{y}} : \overline{y} \in U \rangle$ .

Similarly, for  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ 

$$s_i \left( \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \chi \right) = s_i \left( \Phi, -\overline{\mathbf{x}}, 1 - \delta \right) = \left( r_i \Phi, -\overline{\mathbf{x}}, 1 - \delta \right)$$
$$= \left( r_i \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \chi$$
$$= \left( s_i \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \right) \chi,$$

and

$$s_n \left( (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \, \chi \right) = s_n \left( \Phi, -\overline{\mathbf{x}}, 1 - \delta \right)$$
  
=  $(\Phi, -\overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{1-\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, \delta)$   
=  $\left( \Phi, -(\overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j), \delta \right)$   
=  $\left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + (-1)^{\delta} \overline{\mathbf{a}}_j, 1 - \delta \right) \chi$   
=  $\left( s_n \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \right) \chi.$ 

This proves that  $\chi$  is actually an automorphism. It is clear that  $\chi$  is a involution. Moreover

$$(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \chi \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}} \chi = (\Phi, -\overline{\mathbf{x}}, 1 - \delta) \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}} \chi$$
$$= (\Phi, -\overline{\mathbf{x}} + \overline{\mathbf{y}}, 1 - \delta) \chi$$
$$= (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} - \overline{\mathbf{y}}, \delta)$$
$$= (\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \tau_{-\overline{\mathbf{y}}}.$$

The previous computation implies that  $\chi \tau_{\overline{y}} \chi = \tau_{-\overline{y}}$ . Clearly  $\langle \chi \rangle \cap \langle \tau_{\overline{y}} : \overline{y} \in U \rangle = \{\varepsilon\}$ , since  $\tau_y$  does not modify the third coordinate. It follows that

$$\langle \{\chi\} \cup \{\tau_{\overline{y}} : \overline{y} \in U\} \rangle = \langle \chi \rangle \ltimes \langle \tau_{\overline{y}} : \overline{y} \in U \rangle \cong \mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes U.$$

Finally note that the automorphism  $\chi^{\delta} \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{x}}}$  maps the facet determined by the pair  $(\overline{0}, 0)$  to the facet determined by the pair  $(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$ .

Now we are ready to describe the structure of  $\operatorname{Aut}(2s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$ .

**Theorem 3.1.14.** Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be an n-maniplex such that every (n-2)-face of  $\mathcal{M}$  is incident to two facets. Let  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  be the maniplex defined in Definition 3.1.7. Then

$$\operatorname{Aut}(2s^{\mathcal{M}-1}) \cong \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M}) \ltimes (\mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes U).$$

*Proof.* Propositions 3.1.12 and 3.1.13 prove that

$$\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M}) \cup \{\chi\} \cup \{\tau_{\overline{y}} : \overline{y} \in U\} \leqslant \operatorname{Aut}(\widehat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}).$$

To prove the other inclusion observe that if an automorphism  $\omega \in \operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$  maps the base flag  $(\Phi_0, \overline{0}, 0)$  to  $(\Psi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta)$ , there is an automorphism of  $\mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes U$  mapping  $(\Phi_0, \overline{0}, 0)$ to  $(\Psi, \overline{0}, 0)$ , and then there must be an automorphism in  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M})$  mapping  $\Psi_0$  to  $\Phi$ , since  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M})$  is the stabilizer of the base facet. The inclusion follows from the fact the the action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1})$  on  $\mathcal{F}_s$  is free (see Item 2 of Proposition 1.1.8).

It just remains to determine the structure of the group. It is clear that  $(\mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes U) \cap$ Aut $(\mathcal{M}) = \{\varepsilon\}$ , since the former fixes the first coordinate of every flag and the only element of Aut $(\mathcal{M})$  that fixes a flag of  $\mathcal{M}$  is  $\varepsilon$ . Take  $\gamma \in Aut(\mathcal{M}), \ \overline{y} \in U$  and let  $(\Phi, \overline{x}, \delta)$  be an arbitrary flag. Then

$$(\Phi_{0}, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, 0) \gamma^{-1} \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}} \gamma = \left( \Phi \gamma^{-1}, \overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma^{-1} + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma^{-1}}, \delta \right) \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}} \gamma$$
  
$$= \left( \Phi \gamma^{-1}, \overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma^{-1} + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma^{-1}} + \overline{\mathbf{y}}, \delta \right) \gamma$$
  
$$= \left( \Phi, \left( \overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma^{-1} + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma^{-1}} + \overline{\mathbf{y}} \right) \gamma + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}, \delta \right)$$
  
$$= \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + \delta (\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma^{-1}\gamma} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma} + \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m}) + \overline{\mathbf{y}} \gamma, \delta \right)$$
  
$$= \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}} + \overline{\mathbf{y}} \gamma, \delta \right)$$
  
$$= \left( \Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta \right) \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{y}}\gamma}.$$

Similarly,

$$(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \gamma^{-1} \chi \gamma = (\Phi \gamma^{-1}, \overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma^{-1} + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma^{-1}}, \delta) \chi \gamma$$
  
=  $(\Phi \gamma^{-1}, -(\overline{\mathbf{x}} \gamma^{-1} + \delta \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma^{-1}}), 1 - \delta) \gamma$   
=  $(\Phi, -\overline{\mathbf{x}} + \delta (\overline{\mathbf{e}}_m - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma^{-1}}) \gamma + (1 - \delta) (\overline{\mathbf{e}}_{m\gamma} - \overline{\mathbf{e}}_m), 1 - \delta)$   
=  $(\Phi, -\overline{\mathbf{x}} + \overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}, 1 - \delta)$   
=  $(\Phi, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, \delta) \chi \tau_{\overline{\mathbf{a}}_{m\gamma}}.$ 

These computations imply that  $\gamma^{-1}\tau_{\overline{y}}\gamma = \tau_{\overline{y}\gamma}$  and  $\gamma^{-1}\chi\gamma = \chi\tau_{\overline{a}_{m\gamma}}$ . Therefore, Aut( $\mathcal{M}$ ) normalises  $(U \ltimes \mathbb{Z}_2)$  and

$$\langle \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M}) \cup \{\chi\} \cup \{\tau_{\overline{y}} : \overline{y} \in U\} \rangle = \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{M}) \ltimes (\mathbb{Z}_2 \ltimes U).$$

**Corollary 3.1.15.** Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be a regular *n*-maniplex with at least two facets and such that  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1} \rangle$ . Then  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  is a regular maniplex and  $\rho_0, \ldots, \rho_{n-1}, \chi$  act as abstract reflections with respect to the base flag  $(\Phi_0, \overline{0}, 0)$ .

*Proof.* Just observe that for  $i \in \{0, \ldots, n-1\}$ 

$$s_i \left( \Phi_0, \overline{0}, 0 \right) = \left( r_i \Phi, \overline{0}, 0 \right) = \left( \Phi \rho_i, \overline{0}, 0 \right) = \left( \Phi, \overline{0}, 0 \right) \rho_i$$

and

$$s_n \left( \Phi_0, \overline{0}, 0 \right) = \left( \Phi, \overline{0}, 1 \right) = \left( \Phi, \overline{0}, 0 \right) \chi.$$

**Corollary 3.1.16.** If  $\mathcal{K}$  is a regular polytope, then the maniplex  $2s^{\mathcal{K}-1}$  is an abstract regular polytope and it is isomorphic to the polytope  $(2s^{\mathcal{K}^*-1})^*$  constructed by Pellicer in [47].

*Proof.* The automorphism group described in Theorem 3.1.14 is isomorphic to the one described in [47, Theorem 3.4]. The isomorphism maps each abstract reflection of  $2s^{\mathcal{K}^{-1}}$  to the corresponding abstract reflection of  $(2s^{\mathcal{K}^{*-1}})^{*}$ .

The construction  $\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{M}-1}$  allows us to prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.1.17.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  be a chiral *n*-polytope of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}\}$ . Assume that  $\mathcal{K}$  has a quotient that is a regular maniplex with at least two facets. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{K}$  of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, q\}$ , then for every  $s \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\mathcal{K}$  has a chiral extension of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, q\}$ .

Proof. Let  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  and  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1}, \sigma_n \rangle$ . Let  $\mathcal{R}$  be the regular quotient of  $\mathcal{K}$ . For  $s \in \mathbb{N}$ , consider  $2s^{\mathcal{R}-1}$ . By Corollary 3.1.15,  $2s^{\mathcal{R}-1}$  is a regular (n+1)-maniplex. Let  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(2s^{\mathcal{R}-1}) = \langle \sigma'_1, \ldots, \sigma'_n \rangle$ . Observe that  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{R}) = \langle \sigma'_1, \ldots, \sigma'_{n-1} \rangle$ . Consider the group

$$\Gamma_s = \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}) \diamondsuit \operatorname{Aut}^+(\hat{2}s^{\mathcal{R}-1}) = \langle (\sigma_1, \sigma_1'), \dots, (\sigma_n, \sigma_n') \rangle$$

Observe that the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) = \langle \sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_{n-1} \rangle$  covers the group  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{R}) = \langle \sigma'_1, \ldots, \sigma'_{n-1} \rangle$ . Since  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  satisfies the intersection property, then Proposition 1.5.14



Figure 3.5: The map  $\{4, 4\}_{(4,2)}$  with  $\{4, 4\}_{(2,0)}$  as quotient.

implies that  $\Gamma_s$  is the automorphism group of an orientably regular or chiral polytope  $\mathcal{P}_s$ . By Corollary 1.5.11, the group

$$\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}) \diamondsuit \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{R}) = \left\langle (\sigma_1, \sigma'_1), \dots, (\sigma_{n-1}, \sigma'_{n-1}) \right\rangle \cong \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{K}).$$

It follows that the facets of  $\mathcal{P}_s$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{K}$  and hence they are chiral. Therefore  $\mathcal{P}_s$  is chiral itself. The order of  $(\sigma_n, \sigma'_n)$  is  $\operatorname{lcm}(q, 2s)$ , which implies that  $\mathcal{P}_s$  is of type  $\{p_1, \ldots, p_{n-1}, \operatorname{lcm}(q, 2s)\}$ .

**Example 3.1.18.** The map  $\mathcal{K} = \{4, 4\}_{(4,2)}$  has infinitely many non-isomorphic chiral extensions. Moreover,  $\mathcal{K}$  admits a chiral extension whose last entry of its Schläfli symbol is arbitrarily large.

Indeed, by Theorem 2.2.7,  $\mathcal{K}$  admits a chiral extension  $\mathcal{P}$ . Let  $\Lambda_{(b,c)}$  denote the lattice group such that  $\{4,4\}_{(b,c)} = \{4,4\}/\Lambda_{(b,c)}$ . Since the lattice group  $\Lambda_{(4,2)}$  is contained in the lattice  $\Lambda_{(2,0)}$ , then  $\mathcal{R} = \{4,4\}_{(2,0)}$  is a regular quotient of  $\mathcal{K}$  with 4 facets (see Proposition 1.5.13 and Figure 3.5). Therefore we may apply Theorem 3.1.17.

In Section 3.2 we will show some results that improve the one shown in Example 3.1.18.

## **3.2** Chiral extensions of maps on the torus

In this section we will apply Theorem 3.1.17 to some chiral extensions of maps on the torus constructed by Schulte and Weiss in [64]. We will show that almost every chiral map on the torus admits infinitely many non-isomorphic chiral extensions. In order to do so, we will first study the family of maps  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  and how this family is related to the Gaussian integers. Some relations between abstract polytopes and numeric rings like the Gaussian integers have been explored before, see [44, 43].

In this section we denote by  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  the Gaussian integers, meaning the ring

$$\mathbb{Z}[i] = \{a + bi : a, b \in \mathbb{Z}\} \subseteq \mathbb{C}.$$

They were introduced by Gauss in [25]. If the reader is interested in a deeper discussion about them we suggest [56, Example 3.77].

If  $z = a + bi \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$ , then its conjugate is  $\overline{z} = a - bi$ . The norm of a Gaussian integer z = a + bi is denoted by N(z) and is defined by

$$N(z) = z\overline{z} = a^2 + b^2.$$

**Definition 3.2.1.** We say that a Gaussian integer  $z_1$  divides a Gaussian integer  $z_2$  if there exists a Gaussian integer w such that  $wz_1 = z_2$ . In this situation we write  $z_1|z_2$ . A Gaussian integer z is a *unit* if z|1. We say that z is *irreducible* if z is not a unit and if there exist  $w_1, w_2 \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$  such that  $z = w_1w_2$ , then either  $w_1$  or  $w_2$  is a unit.

Known facts about  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  are that the only units are 1, -1, i and -i. Moreover, a Gaussian integer z is a unit if and only if N(z) = 1. If  $z = w_1w_2$ , then  $N(z) = N(w_1)N(w_2)$ , in particular any Gaussian integer whose norm is a prime number must be irreducible. Of our particular interest is the following theorem. Its proof follows from [56, Proposition 3.78 and Exercise 3.79] (see also [25, p. 546]).

**Theorem 3.2.2.** If z is a Gaussian integer, then there exist irreducible Gaussian integers  $p_1, \ldots, p_k$  and  $r_1, \ldots, r_k \in \mathbb{N}$  such that

$$z = p_1^{r_1} \cdots p_k^{r_k}.$$

Moreover, this decomposition is unique up to multiplication by units and permutation of indices.

Theorem 3.2.2 says that  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  is a unique factorization domain. In fact, the Gaussian integers together with their norm are a Euclidean domain (see [56, Proposition 3.78]). This implies that  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  shares many properties with the integers. In particular, the concepts of relative primes, least common multiple or greatest common divisor have their analogues in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ . Next we list some relevant properties of the Gaussian integers.

**Lemma 3.2.3** ([56, Proposition 3.81]). Let  $z, w \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$ , then the following hold:

- 1. If d = gcd(z, w), then there exist  $s, t \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$  such that d = sz + tw.
- 2. If  $z = p^r$  for an irreducible  $p \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$  then every divisor of z is of the form  $up^k$  with u a unit and  $k \leq r$ .

Now we describe how to relate Gaussian integers to the regular and chiral maps  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$ . Consider the function  $f : \mathbb{Z}[i] \to \mathbb{Z}^2$  defined by f(b + ci) = (b, c) (see Section 1.3). Note that f is an additive group homomorphism. The connection of  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$  with regular and chiral toroidal maps is given by

$$b + ci \mapsto \{4, 4\}_{f(b+ci)} = \{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}.$$
(3.2.4)

Recall that a map  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  is the quotient of the Euclidean tessellation of type  $\{4, 4\}$  by the lattice group with basis  $\{(b, c), (-c, b)\}$ . In particular, the mapping described in Equation (3.2.4) is not injective. We will develop some results that explain how this mapping is related to the product in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ , but first we will prove some basic facts about the maps  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$ . In the following results  $\Lambda_{(b,c)}$  will denote the lattice group whose generators are the translations with respect to the vectors (b, c) and (-c, b) so that  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)} = \{4, 4\}/\Lambda_{(b,c)}$ . As before, we denote  $\Lambda_{(b,c)}$  the lattice associated to the group  $\Lambda_{(b,c)}$ .

**Proposition 3.2.5.** Let  $\{4,4\}_{(b,c)}$  denote the toroidal map  $\{4,4\}/\Lambda_{(b,c)}$ . Then

$$\{4,4\}_{(b_1,c_1)} \diamondsuit \{4,4\}_{(b_2,c_2)} = \{4,4\} / \left(\mathbf{\Lambda}_{(b_1,c_1)} \cap \mathbf{\Lambda}_{(b_2,c_2)}\right) \{4,4\}_{(b_1,c_1)} \Box \{4,4\}_{(b_2,c_2)} = \{4,4\} / \left\langle \mathbf{\Lambda}_{(b_1,c_1)}, \mathbf{\Lambda}_{(b_2,c_2)} \right\rangle.$$

*Proof.* This is a direct consequence of Proposition 1.5.13 with  $\Gamma = \operatorname{Aut}^+(\{4, 4\}), \Lambda_1 = \Lambda_{(b_1, c_1)}$  and  $\Lambda_2 = \Lambda_{(b_2, c_2)}$ .

In general it is not easy to determine the lattice groups  $\Lambda_{(b_1,c_1)} \cap \Lambda_{(b_2,c_2)}$  and  $\langle \Lambda_{(b_1,c_1)}, \Lambda_{(b_2,c_2)} \rangle$ . However we will give some results that allow us to determine them in certain cases. But first consider the following remark.

Remark 3.2.6. If z = b + ci, then toroidal map  $\{4, 4\}_{f(z)} = \{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  has  $4(b^2 + c^2) = 4N(z)$  white flags, which in turn is the size of Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  (see [2, Theorem 4]).

**Lemma 3.2.7.** Let  $b_1, c_1, b_2, c_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $z_1 = b_1 + c_1 i$  and  $z_2 = b_2 + c_2 i$ . Assume that  $z_1$  and  $z_2$  are coprime in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ . Then

$$\{4,4\}_{f(z_1)} \diamondsuit \{4,4\}_{f(z_2)} \cong \{4,4\}_{(b_1b_2 - c_1c_2, b_1c_2 + b_2c_1)} = \{4,4\}_{f(z_1z_2)}$$

*Proof.* First observe that  $\langle \Lambda_{(b_1,c_1)}, \Lambda_{(b_2,c_2)} \rangle = \mathbb{Z}^2$ . To see this note that since  $z_1$  and  $z_2$  are coprime, then there exist  $w_1 = s_1 + t_1 i, w_2 = s_2 + t_2 i \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$  such that

$$1 = w_1 z_1 + w_2 z_2$$
  
=  $(s_1 + t_1 i) (b_1 + c_1 i) + (s_2 + t_2 i) (b_2 + c_2 i)$   
=  $s_1(b_1 + c_1 i) + t_1(-c_1 + b_1 i) + s_2(b_2 + c_2 i) + t_2(-c_2 + b_2 i).$ 

Since f is a group isomorphism, it follows that

$$(1,0) = s_1(b_1,c_1) + t_1(-c_1,b_1) + s_2(b_2,c_2) + t_2(-c_2,b_2) \in \langle \Lambda_{(b_1,c_1)}, \Lambda_{(b_2,c_2)} \rangle.$$

Similar computation show that  $(0,1) \in \langle \Lambda_{(b_1,c_1)}, \Lambda_{(b_2,c_2)} \rangle$ .

Observe that  $(b_1b_2 - c_1c_2, b_1c_2 + b_2c_1) = b_2(b_1, c_1) + c_2(-c_1, b_1) \in \Lambda_{(b_1, c_1)}$ ; analogously  $(b_1b_2 - c_1c_2, b_1c_2 + b_2c_1) \in \Lambda_{(b_2, c_2)}$ . This implies that the toroid  $\{4, 4\}_{f(z_1z_2)}$  covers both toroids  $\{4, 4\}_{(b_1, c_1)}$  and  $\{4, 4\}_{(b_2, c_2)}$ .

Finally, by Corollary 1.5.10 and Remark 3.2.6 we have that

$$|\operatorname{Aut}^{+}(\{4,4\}_{(b_{1},c_{1})} \diamondsuit \{4,4\}_{(b_{1},c_{1})})| = \frac{4N(z_{1})4N(z_{2})}{4N(1)}$$
$$= 4N(z_{1}z_{2})$$
$$= |\operatorname{Aut}^{+}(\{4,4\}_{f(z_{1}z_{2})})$$

|,

which implies that

$$\{4,4\}_{(b_1,c_1)} \diamondsuit \{4,4\}_{(b_1,c_1)} \cong \{4,4\}_{f(z_1z_2)}.$$

Lemma 3.2.7 says that the mix of chiral maps on the torus essentially behaves as the product of Gaussian integers whenever the Gaussian integers are coprime. It is important to remark that the hypothesis that the Gaussian integers are coprime is necessary. For example, we know by Corollary 1.5.11 that  $\{4,4\}_{(2,1)} \diamondsuit \{4,4\}_{(2,1)} \cong$  $\{4,4\}_{(2,1)}$  but (2+i)(2+i) = 3+4i.

Now we show some technical results that will allow us to generalize some of the results of [64].

**Lemma 3.2.8.** Let  $z = p^r \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$  with p irreducible. Assume that z = b + ci. If  $bc \neq 0$ , then gcd(b, c) = 1, that is, b and c are relative primes as rational integers.

*Proof.* Assume that there exists a positive prime  $q \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that q|b and q|c. This implies that q|z in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ . Since  $z = p^r$ , then q must be a power of p, say  $q = p^k$ . Observe that

$$q^{2} = N(q) = N(p^{k}) = (N(p))^{k}$$

This implies that  $k \in \{1, 2\}$ .

If k = 1 then p = q, which implies that  $z = p^r = q^r \in \mathbb{Z}$ , hence b = 0. If k = 2 then  $q = p^2$  and N(p) = q, but this implies that

$$p\overline{p} = N(p) = q = p^2$$

It follows that  $p = \overline{p}$ , then  $p \in \mathbb{Z}$ , implying that c = 0. In both cases we contradict the assumption that  $bc \neq 0$ .

Using Lemma 3.2.7 repeatedly and Lemma 3.2.8 we prove the following theorem.

**Theorem 3.2.9.** Let  $b, c \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $z = b + ci \in \mathbb{Z}[i]$ . Assume that  $z = p_1^{r_1} \cdots p_k^{r_k}$  with  $p_1, \ldots, p_k$  irreducible in  $\mathbb{Z}[i]$ . If  $p_j^{r_j} = b_j + c_j i$  for every  $j \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$  then

$$\{4,4\}_{(b,c)} \cong \{4,4\}_{(b_1,c_1)} \diamondsuit \cdots \diamondsuit \{4,4\}_{(b_k,c_k)}.$$

Moreover, if  $b_i c_i \neq 0$ , then  $b_i$  and  $c_i$  are coprime.

Theorem 3.2.9 gives us a way to decompose chiral maps of type  $\{4, 4\}$  in terms of "simpler" maps. The analysis we have done for the maps of type  $\{4, 4\}$  has its analogue for the maps of type  $\{3, 6\}$  (and by duality, those of type  $\{6, 3\}$ ), but instead of using the Gaussian integers we have to use the Eisenstein integers  $\mathbb{Z}[\omega]$  defined by

$$\mathbb{Z}[\omega] = \left\{ b + c\omega : b, c \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } \omega = e^{\frac{2\pi}{3}i} \right\}.$$

In this situation the norm of an Eisenstein integer  $b + c\omega$  is given by  $c^2 - cb + b^2$ . We just have to consider the function  $g : \mathbb{Z}[\omega] \to \mathbb{Z}^2$  given by  $g(b + c\omega) = (b - c, c)$ . The mapping analogous to that of Equation (3.2.4) is given by

$$b + c\omega \mapsto \{3, 6\}_{q(b+c\omega)} = \{3, 6\}_{(b-c,c)}.$$

Lemma 3.2.7 and Lemma 3.2.8 have their analogues. The corresponding theorem is the following.



Figure 3.6: Coordinates of Eisenstein integers

**Theorem 3.2.10.** Let  $b, c \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $z = (b+c) + c\omega \in \mathbb{Z}[\omega]$ . Assume that  $z = p_1^{r_1} \cdots p_k^{r_k}$ with  $p_1, \ldots, p_k$  irreducible in  $\mathbb{Z}[\omega]$ . For every  $j \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ , let  $b_j, c_j \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $p_j^{r_j} = (b_j + c_j) + c_j\omega$ . Then

$$\{3,6\}_{(b,c)} \cong \{3,6\}_{(b_1,c_1)} \diamondsuit \cdots \diamondsuit \{3,6\}_{(b_k,c_k)}.$$

Moreover, if  $b_j c_j \neq 0$ , then  $b_j$  and  $c_j$  are coprime.

The reason why the function g seems to be more complicated than its analogue for Gaussian integers is that the coordinates of the vectors associated to the maps  $\{3, 6\}_{(b,c)}$  are usually taken with respect to the basis  $\{1, \omega+1\}$  and not  $\{1, \omega\}$  (see Theorem 1.3.15 and Figure 3.6).

In [64] Schulte and Weiss build chiral 4-polytopes from the hyperbolic tessellations of types {4,4,3}, {4,4,4}, {6,3,3} and {3,6,3}. The strategy in all the cases is essentially the same: they represent the rotation group  $[p,q,r]^+$  of  $\{p,q,r\}$  as matrices in  $PGL_2(R)$  with  $R = \mathbb{Z}[i]$  if  $\{p,q,r\}$  is {4,4,4} or {4,4,3}, and  $R = \mathbb{Z}[\omega]$  if  $\{p,q,r\}$ is {6,3,3} or {3,6,3}. Then they find an appropriate m in such a way there is a ring homomorphism from R to  $\mathbb{Z}_m$ . This induces a homomorphism from  $PGL_2(R)$  to  $PGL_2(\mathbb{Z}_m)$  which maps  $[p,q,r]^+$  to a finite group. Then they prove that these finite groups are the rotation groups of orientably regular or chiral polytopes.

The following results are simplified versions of some of their results.

**Theorem 3.2.11** ([64, Theorem 7.3]]). For every rational integer  $m \ge 3$  there exists an orientably regular polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  of type  $\{4,4,3\}$  with facets isomorphic to  $\{4,4\}_{(m,0)}$ and vertex-figures isomorphic to the cube  $\{4,3\}$ .

**Theorem 3.2.12** ([64, Theorem 7.6]). Let  $m \ge 3$  be a rational integer such that the equation  $x^2+1$  has a solution in  $\mathbb{Z}_m$ . Then for every  $i \in \mathbb{Z}_m$  such that  $i^2 \equiv -1 \pmod{m}$  there exist  $b, c \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that gcd(b, c) = 1,  $m = b^2 + c^2$  and  $b + ci \equiv 0 \pmod{m}$ . In this situation, the image of  $[4, 4, 3]^+$  to  $PGL_2(\mathbb{Z}_m)$  is the automorphism group of a chiral polytope of type  $\{4, 4, 3\}$  with facets isomorphic to  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  and vertex-figures isomorphic to  $\{4, 3\}$ .

The following result implies a converse to Theorem 3.2.12.

**Lemma 3.2.13.** Let  $b, c \in \mathbb{Z}$  be such that gcd(b, c) = 1. Let  $m = b^2 + c^2$ , then the equation  $x^2 + 1$  admits a solution in  $\mathbb{Z}_m$ .

*Proof.* Observe that b and m are coprime, otherwise b and c would have a common divisor. Then b has multiplicative inverse in  $\mathbb{Z}_m$  and since  $b^2 + c^2 \equiv 0 \pmod{m}$ , then  $1 + (b^{-1}c)^2 \equiv 0 \pmod{m}$ . In other words,  $b^{-1}c$  is a solution of  $x^2 + 1$  in  $\mathbb{Z}_m$ .

As a consequence of Lemma 3.2.13 we have that for every  $b, c \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that gcd(b,c) = 1 the integer  $m = b^2 + c^2$  satisfies the hypothesis of Theorem 3.2.12 and therefore there exists a chiral polytope of type  $\{4,4,3\}$  with facets isomorphic to  $\{4,4\}_{(b,c)}$ .

Observe that combining Theorem 3.2.9 with Theorem 3.2.11, Theorem 3.2.12 and Lemma 3.2.13 we have the following result.

**Theorem 3.2.14.** For every  $b, c \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $bc(b - c) \neq 0$  there exists a chiral polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  of type  $\{4, 4, 3\}$  whose facets are isomorphic to  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$ .

*Proof.* Decompose the map  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  as

$$\{4,4\}_{(b_1,c_1)} \diamondsuit \cdots \diamondsuit \{4,4\}_{(b_k,c_k)}$$

as described in Theorem 3.2.9. For each  $j \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$  let  $\mathcal{P}_j$  be the extension of  $\{4, 4\}_{(b_j, c_j)}$  given by Theorem 3.2.11 or Theorem 3.2.12. Let

$$\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}_1 \diamondsuit \cdots \diamondsuit \mathcal{P}_k.$$

We know that  $\mathcal{P}$  is a maniplex of type  $\{4, 4, 3\}$ . Observe that the facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  are precisely  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$ . We just have to prove that  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$  satisfies the intersection property; however, we can use a dual version of Proposition 1.5.14 since all the vertex-figures of these polytopes are isomorphic to the cube.

Of course, the analysis we have done for type  $\{4, 4, 3\}$  can be done for types  $\{4, 4, 4\}$ ,  $\{6, 3, 3\}$  and  $\{3, 6, 3\}$  (using the results of Section 8, Section 9 and Section 10 of [64], respectively), and we would obtain chiral extensions of the maps  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$ ,  $\{3, 6\}_{(b,c)}$  and  $\{6, 3\}_{(b,c)}$ . With those polytopes of type  $\{6, 3, 3\}$  the intersection property will follow again from Proposition 1.5.14. With types  $\{4, 4, 4\}$  and  $\{3, 6, 3\}$  we cannot use Proposition 1.5.14 any more. We will prove the intersection property for those polytopes of type  $\{4, 4, 4\}$ , the proof for those of type  $\{3, 6, 3\}$  is analogous.

**Theorem 3.2.15.** Let b, c be two integers with  $bc(b - c) \neq 0$ . Then there exists a 4-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  of type  $\{4, 4, 4\}$  such that every facet of  $\mathcal{P}$  is isomorphic to the map  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $b_1, \ldots, b_k, c_1, \ldots, c_k \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that

$$\{4,4\}_{(b,c)} \cong \{4,4\}_{(b_1,c_1)} \diamondsuit \dots \diamondsuit \{4,4\}_{(b_k,c_k)}$$

as in Theorem 3.2.9. For  $j \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$  let  $\mathcal{P}_j$  be the extension of  $\{4, 4\}_{(b_j, c_j)}$  of type  $\{4, 4, 4\}$  constructed in [64, Theorem 8.2] (if  $\{4, 4\}_{(b_j, c_j)}$  is regular) or [64, Theorem 8.4]

(if  $\{4, 4\}_{(b_j, c_j)}$  is chiral). Let  $\sigma_1^{(j)}$ ,  $\sigma_2^{(j)}$  and  $\sigma_3^{(j)}$  denote the generators of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P}_j)$ . Let  $\mathcal{P} = \mathcal{P}_1 \diamondsuit \cdots \diamondsuit \mathcal{P}_j$ . Let  $\sigma_1$ ,  $\sigma_2$  and  $\sigma_3$  denote the generators of  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{P})$ . Observe that

$$\sigma_{1} = \left(\sigma_{1}^{(1)}, \sigma_{1}^{(2)}, \dots, \sigma_{1}^{(k)}\right), \sigma_{2} = \left(\sigma_{2}^{(1)}, \sigma_{2}^{(2)}, \dots, \sigma_{2}^{(k)}\right), \sigma_{3} = \left(\sigma_{3}^{(1)}, \sigma_{2}^{(3)}, \dots, \sigma_{3}^{(k)}\right).$$

A similar argument to that of Theorem 3.2.14 shows that the facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  are isomorphic to  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$ . Therefore, by Lemma 3.0.8, we only need to prove that

$$\langle \sigma_1, \sigma_2 \rangle \cap \langle \sigma_2, \sigma_3 \rangle = \langle \sigma_2 \rangle$$
, and  
 $\langle \sigma_1, \sigma_2 \rangle \cap \langle \sigma_3 \rangle = \{\varepsilon\}.$ 

Theorem 8.2 and Theorem 8.4 of [64] show that the vertex-figures of each  $\mathcal{P}_j$  are also toroids of type {4,4}. It follows that the vertex-figures of  $\mathcal{P}$  are also toroids of type {4,4} (see Proposition 3.2.5). The group  $\langle \sigma_1, \sigma_2 \rangle$  is the rotation group of the facet of  $\mathcal{P}$  and the group  $\langle \sigma_2, \sigma_3 \rangle$  is the rotation group of the vertex-figure of  $\mathcal{P}$ . Lemma 1.3.16 implies that

$$\langle \sigma_1, \sigma_2 \rangle = \langle \sigma_2 \rangle \ltimes T_1, \langle \sigma_2, \sigma_3 \rangle = \langle \sigma_2 \rangle \ltimes T_2,$$

where  $T_1 = \langle \sigma_2 \sigma_1^{-1}, \sigma_2^{-1} \sigma_1 \rangle$  and  $T_2 = \langle \sigma_2 \sigma_3^{-1}, \sigma_2^{-1} \sigma_3 \rangle$ . Observe that for the group  $\langle \sigma_2, \sigma_3 \rangle$  we are using a dual version of Lemma 1.3.16. If  $\gamma \in \langle \sigma_1, \sigma_2 \rangle \cap \langle \sigma_2, \sigma_3 \rangle$ , then there exist  $k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $t_1 \in T_1$  and  $t_2 \in T_2$  such that  $\sigma_2^{k_1} t_1 = \gamma = \sigma_2^{k_2} t_2$ . This implies that  $t_1 t_2^{-1} \in \langle \sigma_2 \rangle$ . It is enough to prove that either  $t_1$  or  $t_2$  is trivial.

Observe that

$$t_1 = (t_1^{(1)}, \dots, t_1^{(k)})$$
 and  
 $t_2 = (t_1^{(2)}, \dots, t_2^{(k)}),$ 

where for a given j,  $t_1^{(j)}$  and  $t_2^{(j)}$  denote the elements resulting after replacing each  $\sigma_i$  by  $\sigma_i^{(j)}$  in any expression as a product of  $\sigma_1$ ,  $\sigma_2$  and  $\sigma_3$  of  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ , respectively. We will show that  $t_2^{(j)}$  is trivial for an arbitrary j.

Following the construction given by Schulte and Weiss in [64], we have that

$$\sigma_1^{(j)} = \begin{bmatrix} i_j & 0\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \sigma_2^{(j)} = \begin{bmatrix} i_j & 1 - i_j\\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \sigma_3^{(j)} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 + i_j & -i_j\\ 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad (3.2.16)$$

where the matrices are elements of  $PGL_2(\mathbb{Z}_{m_j})$  with  $m_j = b_j^2 + c_j^2$ ,  $i_j$  is such that  $b_j + c_j i_j \equiv 0 \pmod{m_j}$  and  $i_j^2 \equiv -1 \pmod{m_j}$ .

Let 
$$\tau_1 = \left(\sigma_2^{(j)} \left(\sigma_1^{(j)}\right)^{-1}\right)$$
 and  $\tau_2 = \left(\left(\sigma_2^{(j)}\right)^{-1} \sigma_1^{(j)}\right)$ . For any integers  $p, q$  we have

$$\tau_1^p \tau_2^q = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & (1+i_j)(q-pi_j) \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$

Similarly, if  $\tau_1' = \left(\sigma_2^{(j)} \left(\sigma_3^{(j)}\right)^{-1}\right)$  and  $\tau_2' = \left(\left(\sigma_2^{(j)}\right)^{-1} \sigma_3^{(j)}\right)$ , then  $(\tau_1')^p (\tau_2')^q = \begin{bmatrix} 1 + (q + pi_j) & -(q + pi_j) \\ q + pi_j & 1 - (q + pi_j) \end{bmatrix}$ .

Since  $t_1 \in T_1 = \langle \tau_1, \tau_2 \rangle$  and  $t_2 \in T_2 = \langle \tau'_1, \tau'_2 \rangle$ , there exist integers  $p_1, q_1, p_2, q_2$  such that if  $\alpha = q_1 - p_1 i_j$  and  $\beta = q_2 + p_2 i_j$ , then

$$\begin{pmatrix} t_1^{(j)} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} t_2^{(j)} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & (1+i_j)\alpha \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 1+\beta & -\beta \\ \beta & 1-\beta \end{bmatrix}$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} 1+\beta+(1+i_j)\alpha\beta & -\beta+(1+i_j)(\alpha)(1-\beta) \\ \beta & 1-\beta \end{bmatrix}$$

$$(3.2.17)$$

However, since  $(t_1^{(j)})(t_2^j)^{-1} \in \langle \sigma_2^{(j)} \rangle$ , by comparing Equation (3.2.16) with Equation (3.2.17), we obtain that  $\beta = q_2 + p_2 i_j = 0$ , implying that  $t_2^{(j)}$  is trivial. Since the previous computation does not depend on j, we may conclude that  $t_2$  is trivial and therefore  $\gamma = \sigma_2^{k_2} t_2 \in \langle \sigma_2 \rangle$ .

Following [1, Theorem 6], let  $\mathcal{M} = \{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  with  $d = \gcd(b, c)$  and  $b_0, c_0$  such that  $b = db_0$  and  $c = dc_0$ . If  $n = b_0^2 + c_0^2$ , then

$$\mathcal{M}\Box\overline{\mathcal{M}} = \begin{cases} \{4,4\}_{(d,0)}, & \text{if } n \text{ is odd,} \\ \{4,4\}_{(d,d)}, & \text{if } n \text{ is even.} \end{cases}$$
(3.2.18)

Similarly, by [1, Theorem 6], let  $\mathcal{M} = \{3, 6\}_{(b,c)}$ ,  $d = \gcd(b, c)$  and  $b_0, c_0$  be such that  $b = db_0$  and  $c = dc_0$ . If  $n = b_0^2 + b_0c_0 + c_0^2$ , then

$$\mathcal{M}\Box\overline{\mathcal{M}} = \begin{cases} \{3,6\}_{(d,0)}, & \text{if } n \equiv 1 \pmod{3}, \\ \{3,6\}_{(d,d)}, & \text{if } n \equiv 0 \pmod{3}. \end{cases}$$
(3.2.19)

And dually, if  $\mathcal{M} = \{6, 3\}_{(b,c)}$ , then:

$$\mathcal{M}\Box\overline{\mathcal{M}} = \begin{cases} \{6,3\}_{(d,0)}, & \text{if } n \equiv 1 \pmod{3}, \\ \{6,3\}_{(d,d)}, & \text{if } n \equiv 0 \pmod{3}. \end{cases}$$
(3.2.20)

Equations (3.2.18) to (3.2.20) imply that the only maps on the torus without a regular quotient with at least two facets are  $\{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  and  $\{6, 3\}_{(b,c)}$  with b, c coprime and  $b \not\equiv c \pmod{2}$  for type  $\{4, 4\}$ , or  $b \not\equiv c \pmod{3}$  for the case  $\{6, 3\}$ . Note that every regular toroidal map of type  $\{3, 6\}$  has at least two facets. Using these facts and the discussion about chiral extensions of maps above together with Theorem 3.1.17 we have proved the following results.

**Theorem 3.2.21.** Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{4, 4\}_{(b,c)}$  be a chiral map of type  $\{4, 4\}$  on the torus. Let  $d = \gcd(b, c)$ . If  $d \neq 1$  or d = 1 but  $b \equiv c \pmod{2}$ , then for every  $s \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{M}$  of type  $\{4, 4, 6s\}$  and a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{M}$  of type  $\{4, 4, 4s\}$ .

**Theorem 3.2.22.** Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{3, 6\}_{(b,c)}$  be a chiral map of type  $\{3, 6\}$  on the torus. Then for every  $s \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{M}$  of type  $\{3, 6, 6s\}$ .

**Theorem 3.2.23.** Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{6,3\}_{(b,c)}$  be a chiral map of type  $\{6,3\}$  on the torus. Let  $d = \gcd(b,c)$ . If  $d \neq 1$  or d = 1 but  $b \equiv c \pmod{3}$ , then for every  $s \in \mathbb{N}$  there exists a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{M}$  of type  $\{6,3,6s\}$ .

## **3.3** Chiral extensions of regular toroids

Throughout this section we will develop a construction of a chiral extension for almost every regular (n + 1)-toroid of type  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\dots,0)}$  for n even. To be precise, we will prove the following result:

**Theorem 3.3.1.** Let  $n \ge 2$  be even. Then for all but finitely many toroids  $\mathcal{T}$  of type  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\dots,0)}$ , there exists a chiral (n+2)-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  such that the facets of  $\mathcal{P}$  are isomorphic to  $\mathcal{T}$ .

Observe that the rank in the previous result is denoted by (n + 1) instead of n, just as we did in Section 1.3. We will keep this convention all through this section. Therefore the results in this section are intended to build chiral extensions of regular (n + 1)-toroids.

To build the extension we will use Theorem 1.2.28. In the first part of this section we will outline the construction of a permutation group  $\Gamma$  that satisfies the required conditions to be the automorphism group of a chiral polytope. In particular, we will give sufficient conditions to guarantee that  $\Gamma$  is not the rotation group of a regular polytope. In Section 3.3.1 we will focus on the intersection property for  $\Gamma$ . This construction follows the idea in [51].

Throughout this section we will assume that n is even. However, most of our results will not make use of this fact. We will mention it explicitly when this hypothesis is necessary. From now on, let  $\mathcal{T}$  denote the toroid  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\ldots,0)}$  for some fixed  $a \ge 2$ .

In order to give the appropriate notation for this section we are going to study the structure of the regular toroid  $\mathcal{T}$ . We label the flags of  $\mathcal{T}$  as follows. Recall that  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T}) \cong (S_n \ltimes C_2^n) \ltimes \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  (see Lemma 1.3.18). Let  $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$  and let  $\sigma \in S_n, \overline{\mathbf{x}} \in C_2^n$ and  $t \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  such that  $\gamma = \sigma \cdot \overline{\mathbf{x}} \cdot t$ . Let  $\Phi_0$  be the base flag of  $\mathcal{T}$ , then label the flag  $\Phi_0 \gamma$ with the triple  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$ . In particular,  $\Phi_0$  is labelled with  $((1), \overline{1}, 0)$  where  $\overline{1}$  is the vector of  $C_2^n$  with all its entries equal to 1. Observe that we are just identifying every flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  with an element of its automorphism group. This identification is well defined, since  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$  acts freely and transitively on flags. The combinatorial aspects of the triplets will be useful, as explained below.

Let  $F_0$  be the facet of the toroid containing the base flag  $\Phi_0$ . Since F is isomorphic to an *n*-cube, then  $\operatorname{Stab}_{\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})}(F_0) = S_n \ltimes C_2^n$ . This implies that whenever a flag is labelled with a triple where the third coordinate is equal to 0, this flag belongs to  $F_0$ . Furthermore, observe that  $\mathbb{Z}_a^n$  acts on the facets of  $\mathcal{T}$  by translation. It follows that two flags  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  and  $(\tau, \overline{\mathbf{y}}, u)$  belong to the same facet of  $\mathcal{T}$  if an only if u = t. This allows us to identify the facets of  $\mathcal{T}$  with the elements of  $\mathbb{Z}_a^n$ . The first two coordinates of the label of a flag also have a combinatorial interpretation. We describe this interpretation only on the base facet  $F_0$ .

Recall that  $F_0$  is an *n*-cube. Label the vertices of the cube with the elements of  $C_2^n$  in such a way that if  $k \in \{0, \ldots, n\}$ , each k-face  $F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, I)$  of the cube can be described by its vertex set as

$$F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, I) = \{ \overline{\mathbf{y}} \in C_2^n : y_j = x_j \text{ if } j \notin I \},\$$

where  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ ,  $\overline{\mathbf{y}} = (y_1, \ldots, y_n)$ ,  $I \subseteq \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , |I| = k. With this identification, two faces  $F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, I)$  and  $G(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, J)$  with  $|I| \leq |J|$  are incident if and only if  $F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, I) \subseteq G(\overline{\mathbf{y}}, J)$ . In other words, we are just identifying the *n*-dimensional cube with the polytope  $2^{\mathcal{S}}$  where  $\mathcal{S}$  is the (n-1)-simplex (see Theorem 2.1.3).

Observe that a flag of the cube containing a vertex  $\overline{x}$  now has the form

$$\{\emptyset, F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, I_0), F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, I_1), \dots, F(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, I_n)\},\$$

where  $|I_j| = j$  for  $j \in \{0, ..., n\}$  and  $I_0 \subseteq I_1 \subseteq \cdots \subseteq I_n$ . Thus  $I_0 = \emptyset$  and  $I_n = \{1, ..., n\}$ . Notice that for every  $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$ , the set  $I_j \setminus I_{j-1}$  has exactly one element  $i_j$ . The family of sets  $\{I_j : 0 \leq j \leq n\}$  defines a permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  such that  $\sigma : j \mapsto i_j$ . Conversely, a permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  determines a family  $\{I_j : 0 \leq j \leq n\}$  of nested sets such that  $I_j \setminus I_{j-1} = j\sigma$ . Therefore, a permutation  $\sigma$  and an element  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in C_2^n$  determine uniquely a flag of the base cube. The label associated to this flag is precisely  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, 0)$ .

Informally speaking, if  $(\sigma, \bar{\mathbf{x}}, 0)$  is the label of a flag  $\Phi$ , then  $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$  describes the relative position of the vertex of  $\Phi$  on the cube  $F_0$ . The permutation  $\sigma$  defines the "direction" of the faces relative to  $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$  in the following sense. To get the other vertex of the edge in  $\Phi$  we have to "move" (change the sign of  $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$ ) in direction  $1\sigma$ ; to get the four vertices of the 2-face of  $\Phi$  we have to "allow movement" in the directions  $1\sigma$  and  $2\sigma$ ; etc. See Figure 3.7 for an example on dimension two.

We next introduce some notation. Given  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in C_2^n$  and a subset  $I = \{i_1, \ldots, i_k\}$  of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  we denote by  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(i_1, \ldots, i_k)}$  the vector  $(x'_1, \ldots, x'_n) \in C_2^n$  such that  $x_i = x'_i$  if and only if  $i \notin \{i_1, \ldots, i_k\}$ . Note that  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(i_1, \ldots, i_k)} = \overline{\mathbf{y}}_I \overline{\mathbf{x}}$  where  $\overline{\mathbf{y}}_I$  is the vector in  $C_2^n$  whose  $i^{th}$ -entry is 1 if and only if  $i \notin I$ . For a permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  and a vector  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in C_2^n$ , we denote by  $\sigma \overline{\mathbf{x}}$  the vector resulting after permuting the coordinates of  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$  according to  $\sigma$ , this is,  $\sigma \overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_{1\sigma^{-1}}, x_{2\sigma^{-1}}, \ldots, x_{n\sigma^{-1}})$ . Similarly, if  $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$ , then  $\sigma t$  denotes the vector  $(t_{1\sigma^{-1}}, t_{2\sigma^{-1}}, \ldots, t_{n\sigma^{-1}})$ , and if  $\overline{\mathbf{y}} = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) \in C_2^n$ , then  $\overline{\mathbf{y}} t = (y_1 t_1, \ldots, y_n t_n)$ . Finally, observe that all these operations can be understood as left actions of the corresponding groups.

With the notation just introduced it is easy to understand the action of  $Con(\mathcal{T})$  on the set of flags. This is given by

$$r_i(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t) = \begin{cases} (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(1\sigma)}, t) & \text{if } i = 0, \\ ((i \ i + 1)\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t) & \text{if } 1 \leqslant i \leqslant n - 1, \\ (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(n\sigma)}, t - x_{n\sigma}e_{n\sigma}) & \text{if } i = n, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.2)

where  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$  and  $e_k$  denotes the vector  $(0^{k-1}, 1, 0^{n-k}) \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$ . Equation (3.3.2) follows from considering the combinatorial interpretation of the labeling, for instance,



Figure 3.7: Labeling of the flags of the toroid  $\{4,4\}_{(2,0)}$ 

it is clear that  $r_i$  for  $i \in \{0, ..., n-1\}$  must fix the third coordinate in  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  since it fixes the facet of the flag.

Recall that  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T}) = (S_n \ltimes C_2^n) \ltimes \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  and that a flag is labelled  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  if and only if  $((1), \overline{1}, 0)\sigma \cdot \overline{\mathbf{x}} \cdot t = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$ . If  $\tau \in S_n$ , then  $\tau^{-1}\overline{\mathbf{x}}\tau \in C_2^n$  and is the automorphism given by the vector  $\tau \overline{\mathbf{x}}$ . Similarly,  $\tau^{-1}t\tau$  is the automorphism given by the vector  $\tau t \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$ . For  $\overline{\mathbf{y}} \in C_2^n$ , the automorphism  $\overline{\mathbf{y}}^{-1}t\overline{\mathbf{y}}$  is given by the vector  $\overline{\mathbf{y}}t \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$ . The previous discussion implies that the action of  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$  is given by

$$(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)\tau = (\sigma\tau, \tau\overline{\mathbf{x}}, \tau t),$$
  

$$(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)\overline{\mathbf{y}} = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{y}}\overline{\mathbf{x}}, \overline{\mathbf{y}}t),$$
  

$$(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)u = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t + u).$$
  
(3.3.3)

It follows that if  $\gamma = \tau \cdot \overline{y} \cdot u$ , then

$$(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)\gamma = ((\sigma\tau, \overline{\mathbf{y}}(\tau\overline{\mathbf{x}}), \overline{\mathbf{y}}(\tau t) + u).$$

As in Chapter 1, we say that a flag  $\Psi$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  is *white* if  $\Psi$  and the base flag  $\Phi_0$  belong to the same orbit under Aut<sup>+</sup>( $\mathcal{T}$ ). If  $\Phi$  is not white, then we say that  $\Phi$  is a *black* flag. If  $\sigma \in S_n$ , then  $\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \in \{1, -1\}$  and is equal to 1 if and only if  $\sigma$  is an even permutation. If  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in C_2^n$ , let  $\operatorname{sgn}(\overline{\mathbf{x}}) = (-1)^k$  where k denotes the number of entries of  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ equal to -1. Observe that a flag  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  is white if and only if  $\operatorname{sgn}(\sigma) \operatorname{sgn}(\overline{\mathbf{x}}) = 1$ .

The construction of the chiral extension of  $\mathcal{T}$  depends on the existence of a *scattering* element, defined below, for the base facet. We will give conditions for the existence of such elements later, but first we will show some basic properties of scattering elements.

**Definition 3.3.4.** Let F be a facet of the toroid  $\mathcal{T}$ . An element  $\eta \in \operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  is said to be a *scattering* element for F if for every two flags  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  containing F, the facet in the flag  $\eta \Phi$  is different from the facet in the flag  $\eta \Psi$ .

**Lemma 3.3.5.** Let  $\eta \in \operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  be a scattering element of  $\mathcal{T}$  for the base facet  $F_0$ . Then the following hold:

- 1. If  $\Phi$  is a flag containing  $F_0$ , then the facet of  $\eta \Phi$  is not  $F_0$ .
- 2. If  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  are distinct flags containing the same facet of  $\mathcal{T}$ , then the facets of  $\eta \Phi$  and  $\eta \Psi$  are different.

*Proof.* For Part 1, assume that  $F_0$  is the facet of  $\eta \Phi$ . Let  $\Psi$  be a flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  containing  $F_0$  different from  $\Phi$ . Since  $\mathcal{T}$  is regular, there exists  $\gamma \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$  such that  $\Phi \gamma = \Psi$ . Then

$$\eta \Psi = \eta(\Phi \gamma) = (\eta \Phi) \gamma.$$

In particular, the facet of  $\eta \Psi$  is the facet of  $(\eta \Phi)\gamma$ , but since  $F_0 \in \eta \Phi$  and  $F_0\gamma = F_0$ , it follows that the facet of  $\eta \Psi$  is  $F_0$ , contradicting that  $\eta$  is a scattering element.

Let  $\Phi$  and  $\Psi$  be two distinct flags containing the same facet F of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Since  $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathcal{T})$  acts transitively on facets, there is an automorphism  $\gamma$  mapping F to  $F_0$ . Since  $\eta$  is a scattering element for  $F_0$ , the facets of  $\eta(\Phi\gamma)$  and  $\eta(\Psi\gamma)$  are different. However  $\eta(\Phi\gamma) = (\eta\Phi)\gamma$  and  $\eta(\Psi\gamma) = (\eta\Psi)\gamma$ . This implies that the facets of  $(\eta\Phi)\gamma$  and  $(\eta\Psi)\gamma$  are different; but since  $\gamma$  is an automorphism, the facets of  $\eta\Phi$  and  $\eta\Psi$  must also be different, as desired. This proves Part 2.

Part 2 of Lemma 3.3.5 implies that for regular polytopes, the existence of a scattering element only depends on the polytope and not on the choice of the base facet. If  $\mathcal{P}$  is a regular polytope, we say that  $\eta \in \operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{P})$  is a scattering element of  $\mathcal{P}$ if  $\eta$  is a scattering element for any facet of  $\mathcal{P}$ . We will use this fact when proving Proposition 3.3.7, where we show that certain toroids do have a scattering element.

Now it is time to give an explicit expression for a scattering element  $\eta$  of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Let  $((1), \overline{1}, 0)$  be the base flag of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Let  $v_0 \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  be the vector  $(1, 2, \ldots, n)$ . Let  $\eta$  be the (unique) element of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  that satisfies that  $\eta((1), \overline{1}, 0) = ((1), \overline{1}, v_0)$ .

For a permutation  $\sigma \in S_n$  and an element  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in C_2^n$ , let  $v(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}})$  denote the vector  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}\sigma v_0$ . This is the vector obtained from  $v_0$  after permuting its entries according to  $\sigma$  then changing signs according to  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$ . From Equation (3.3.3) follows that for a flag  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$ 

$$\eta(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t) = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t + v(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}})).$$
(3.3.6)

**Proposition 3.3.7.** Assume that  $\mathcal{T}$  is the toroid  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\dots,0)}$  with  $a \ge 2n + 1$ . Let  $v_0 \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  be the vector  $(1, 2, \dots, n)$ . Let  $\eta$  be the unique element of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  that satisfies that  $\eta((1), \overline{1}, 0) = ((1), \overline{1}, v_0)$ . Then  $\eta$  is a scattering element of  $\mathcal{T}$ .

*Proof.* By Part 2 of Lemma 3.3.5, we only need to prove that if  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, 0)$  and  $(\tau, \overline{\mathbf{y}}, 0)$  are different flags of the base facet, then  $v(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}) \neq v(\tau, \overline{\mathbf{y}})$ . However, this follows from the fact that  $a \ge 2n + 1$ , since in this situation, all the elements of  $\{1, \ldots, n\}$  are different in  $\mathbb{Z}_a$ , and if  $i, j \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  then  $-i \not\equiv j \pmod{a}$ . Therefore, if  $v(\overline{\mathbf{x}}, \sigma) = v(\overline{\mathbf{y}}, \tau)$ , then  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = \overline{\mathbf{y}}$  and  $\sigma = \tau$ .

Given a scattering element  $\eta$ , we will fix a base (white) flag of each facet of  $\mathcal{T}$  as follows. If  $F_0$  is the facet of the base flag  $\Phi_0$ , then  $\Phi_0$  is the base flag of  $F_0$ . Let  $\Phi_1 = \eta \Phi_0$  and let  $F_1$  be the facet of  $\Phi_1$ ; the base flag of  $F_1$  is  $\Phi_1$ . Let  $\Psi$  be a black flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  containing  $F_0$  and let  $\Phi = r_0 \Psi$ . Note that  $\eta \Psi$  and  $r_0 \eta r_0 \Phi$  are 0-adjacent flags. In particular, these two flags share the same facet. Define  $r_0 \eta r_0 \Phi$  to be the base flag of this facet. Observe that we have chosen a base flag for  $F_0$  and for the facet of  $\eta \Psi$  for every black flag  $\Psi$  containing  $F_0$ . It follows from Part 1 of Lemma 3.3.5 and from the fact that  $\eta$  is a scattering element that this choice is well defined.

Now for every other facet of  $\mathcal{T}$  pick its base flag  $\Phi$  such that if  $\Phi$  is labelled with  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$ , then  $r_0 \Phi$  is labelled with  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(1)}, t)$ . This is equivalent to requiring that  $1\sigma = 1$  (see Equation (3.3.2)).

In Figure 3.8 we show a configuration of base flags for the toroid  $\{4,4\}_{(5,0)}$  with  $\eta$  defined as in *Equation* (3.3.6).

For every facet F of  $\mathcal{T}$  let  $\rho_0^F$  be the automorphism of F that maps its base flag  $\Phi_F$  to  $r_0\Phi_F$ . Observe that  $\rho_0^F$  permutes the flags of F and maps white flags to black flags and vice versa. Let  $\tilde{\rho_0}$  be the permutation of flags of  $\mathcal{T}$  defined by

$$\tilde{\rho_0}(\Phi) = \Phi \rho_0^F, \qquad (3.3.8)$$

whenever the facet of  $\Phi$  is F.

Remark 3.3.9. Let  $0 \leq i \leq n-1$ . Since the element  $r_i$  preserves the facet of every flag, then  $\rho_0^F$  and  $r_i$  commute. It follows that  $\tilde{\rho_0}$  and  $r_i$  commute.



Figure 3.8: Toroid  $\{4, 4\}_{(5,0)}$  with the corresponding base flags and mirrors for  $\tilde{\rho_0}$ .

Given that every facet F of  $\mathcal{T}$  is an *n*-cube, the permutation  $\rho_0^F$  acts as a reflection on a particular direction, namely, the direction of the normal vector of the mirror of the reflection. Now recall that we may identify the set of facets of  $\mathcal{T}$  with  $\mathbb{Z}_a^n$  in such a way that every flag of the facet identified with an element  $t \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  has a label of the form  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  for some  $\sigma \in S_n$  and  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in C_2^n$ . This allows us to define a function  $\rho: \mathbb{Z}_a^n \to \{1, \ldots, n\}$  in such a way that  $\rho(t) = i$  if and only if the direction of the reflection  $\rho_0^F$ , when F is the facet identified with t, is the  $i^{th}$  direction. In other words,  $\rho(t)$  is such that  $\tilde{\rho}_0$  acts on a flag  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  by

$$\tilde{\rho}_0(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t) = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(\rho(t))}, t). \tag{3.3.10}$$

Observe that for most of the facets t, the base flag has been chosen in such a way that  $\rho(t) = 1$ . Moreover, we have a way to calculate the exact value of  $\rho$  for every facet.

*Remark* 3.3.11. Let  $t \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  be the vector associated to a facet F. Let  $\rho : \mathbb{Z}_a^n \to \{1, \ldots, n\}$  be as defined above. Then

$$\rho(t) = \begin{cases}
1\tau, & \text{if } t = v(\tau, \overline{y}) \text{ for some } \tau \in S_n, \overline{y} \in C_2^n \\
& \text{and } \operatorname{sgn}(\tau) \operatorname{sgn}(\overline{y}) = -1, \\
1, & \text{otherwise.} 
\end{cases}$$
(3.3.12)

By the definition of the base flags we also have the following Remark 3.3.13. If  $\Phi$  is the base flag of a facet  $\mathcal{F}$ , then  $\rho_0^F r_0(\Phi) = \Phi$ , implying that

$$\tilde{\rho_0}r_0(\Phi) = \Phi$$

Let  $\mathcal{F}^w$  denote the set of white flags of  $\mathcal{T}$ . The group of automorphisms  $\Gamma$  of the chiral extension of  $\mathcal{T}$  will be a permutation group on the set  $\mathcal{F}^w \times \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  to be determined later. The group  $\Gamma$  will be generated by the permutations  $\xi_1, \xi_2, \ldots, \xi_{n+1}$  defined by Equations (3.3.14) and (3.3.15) to follow. Assume that the base flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  is  $\Phi_0$  and  $F_0$  is the facet of  $\Phi_0$ . Let  $\eta$  be a scattering element. Let  $F_1$  be the facet of  $\eta \Phi_0$ . Then

$$\xi_i(\Phi, \ell) = (r_0 r_i \Phi, \ell), \text{ if } 1 \leqslant i \leqslant n, \qquad (3.3.14)$$

and

$$\xi_{n+1}(\Phi, \ell) = \begin{cases} (\tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 \Phi, \ell + 1), & \text{if } F_0 \in \Phi \text{ and } \ell \text{ is even;} \\ & \text{or } F_1 \in \Phi \text{ and } \ell \text{ is odd.} \\ (\tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 \Phi, \ell - 1), & \text{if } F_0 \in \Phi \text{ and } \ell \text{ is odd;} \\ & \text{or } F_1 \in \Phi \text{ and } \ell \text{ is even.} \\ (\tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 \Phi, \ell), & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(3.3.15)

First observe that for a fixed  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ , the group  $\Gamma_{n+1} := \langle \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \rangle$  acts on the set  $\mathcal{F}^w \times \{\ell\}$  just as the group  $\langle r_0 r_1, r_0 r_2, \ldots, r_0 r_n \rangle \cong \operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  acts on the set  $\mathcal{F}^w$ . This implies that the group  $\Gamma_{n+1}$  is isomorphic to the permutation group induced by  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  on  $\mathcal{F}^w$ , which in turn is isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{T})$  (see Part 3 of Proposition 1.4.10).

The group elements  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n+1}$  will play the role of the elements  $\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_n$  of Corollary 3.0.4 (note the shift of indices), in the sense that if  $\Phi$  is a flag of the extension of  $\mathcal{T}$ , then

$$\Phi\xi_i = \Phi^{i,0}$$

By the observations made above, in order to guarantee that the group  $\Gamma$  is the automorphism group of a chiral extension of  $\mathcal{T}$ , we need to prove that the generators  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n+1}$  satisfy the relations in Corollary 3.0.4. We also need to show that  $\Gamma$  satisfies the intersection property in Equation (1.2.26), which will be proved in Proposition 3.3.47 using Lemma 3.0.8. Finally, if we want to guarantee that the resulting polytope is actually chiral we also need to prove the non-existence of a group automorphism as described in Part 3 of Theorem 1.2.28.

**Proposition 3.3.16.** With the notation given above, the group elements  $\langle \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n+1} \rangle$  satisfy the relations of Corollary 3.0.4.

*Proof.* Translating the notation of Corollary 3.0.4, we only need to prove that

$$\xi_{n+1}^2 = 1,$$
  
 $(\xi_i^{-1}\xi_{n+1})^2 = 1$  for all  $1 \le i \le n-1.$ 

First assume that  $\Phi$  is a white flag with facet  $F_0$  and  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$  is even. Then

$$\xi_{n+1}^2(\Phi,\ell) = \xi_{n+1}(\tilde{\rho_0}r_0\Phi,\ell+1),$$

but  $\tilde{\rho}_0 r_0$  maps flags containing  $F_0$  to flags containing  $F_0$  and  $\ell + 1$  is odd, hence

$$\xi_{n+1}(\tilde{\rho_0}r_0\Phi,\ell+1) = \left((\tilde{\rho_0}r_0)^2\Phi,\ell\right) = (\Phi,k),$$

where the last equality holds because  $\tilde{\rho}_0$  and  $r_0$  commute (see Remark 3.3.9). The proof is identical if  $F_1 \in \Phi$  and  $\ell$  is odd and it is very similar if  $F_0 \in \Phi$  and  $\ell$  is odd or if  $F_1 \in \Phi$  and  $\ell$  is even. If the facet of  $\Phi$  is different from  $F_0$  and  $F_1$ , then  $\xi_{n+1}(\Phi, \ell) = ((\tilde{\rho}_0 r_0)\Phi, \ell)$  for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ . Recall that by Remark 3.3.9,  $\tilde{\rho}_0 r_0$  has period two. It follows that  $\xi_{n+1}^2 = 1$ .

To prove the second part, first note that if  $\Phi$  is a flag and  $1 \leq i \leq n-1$ , then  $\Phi$ and  $r_i \tilde{\rho_0} \Phi$  contain the same facet. Again, we will only prove the case when  $F_0 \in \Phi$  and  $\ell$  is even; the remaining cases are analogous. We have

$$(\xi_i^{-1}\xi_{n+1})^2 (\Phi, \ell) = \xi_i^{-1}\xi_{n+1} (r_i r_0 \tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 \Phi, \ell+1) = \xi_i^{-1}\xi_{n+1} (r_i \tilde{\rho}_0 \Phi, \ell+1) = \xi_i^{-1} (\tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 r_i \tilde{\rho}_0 \Phi, \ell) = (r_i r_0 \tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 r_i \tilde{\rho}_0 \Phi, \ell) = (\Phi, \ell).$$

Here again, the last equality holds because  $r_0$  and  $r_i$  commute with  $\tilde{\rho}_0$  (Remark 3.3.9).

Next we will prove that there is no group automorphism as described in Corollary 3.0.10. This will imply that the resulting object is actually chiral and not regular.

We need to prove that there is no group automorphism  $\alpha : \Gamma \to \Gamma$  satisfying

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(\xi_1) &= \xi_1^{-1}, \\ \alpha(\xi_i) &= \xi_i \quad \text{for all } 2 \leqslant i \leqslant n+1. \end{aligned}$$
(3.3.17)

The idea behind the proof is to assume the existence of such an automorphism and find an element  $\mu \in \Gamma$  such that  $\langle \mu \rangle$  induces an orbit of length k and the size of the orbits  $\langle \alpha(\mu) \rangle$  is bounded. Recall that k is such that  $\Gamma$  is a permutation group on  $\mathcal{F}^w \times \mathbb{Z}_k$  and that k can be chosen arbitrarily. Then it will be sufficient to take k equal to a large prime in such a way that k divides the order of  $\mu$  but does not divide the order of  $\alpha(\mu)$ .

Notice that by Equation (3.3.14), there is a natural embedding of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  into  $\Gamma$  given by

$$w(\Phi, \ell) = (w\Phi, \ell),$$

for  $w \in \operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$ . We abuse notation by considering the elements of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  as elements of  $\Gamma$ . In particular, if  $\eta$  denotes a scattering element of  $\mathcal{T}$ , then we may think that  $\eta \in \Gamma$ .

Let

$$\mu = \xi_{n+1} \eta^{-1} \xi_{n+1} \eta \tag{3.3.18}$$

and assume that  $\alpha : \Gamma \to \Gamma$  is an automorphism satisfying Equation (3.3.17). Let  $\mu'$  denote  $\alpha(\mu)$ . Observe that  $\alpha$  acts on  $\langle \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \rangle \cong \operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  as conjugation by  $r_0$  (see Corollary 3.0.10). Since  $\eta \in \langle \xi_1, \ldots, \xi_n \rangle$  and  $\alpha$  fixes  $\xi_{n+1}$ , then

$$\mu' = \xi_{n+1} r_0 \eta^{-1} r_0 \xi_{n+1} r_0 \eta r_0. \tag{3.3.19}$$

The following discussion will give necessary conditions for the length of some orbits of flags under the cyclic groups  $\langle \mu \rangle$  and  $\langle \mu' \rangle$ .



Figure 3.9: The pair  $(\Phi_{0,\ell})$  under the action of  $\mu$ 

**Lemma 3.3.20.** Let  $\Phi_0$  denote the base flag of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Let  $\Gamma$  be the permutation group on the set  $\mathcal{F}^w \times \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$  defined by Equations (3.3.14) and (3.3.15). Let  $\mu$  be as in Equation (3.3.18). Then the orbit of  $(\Phi_0, 0)$  under  $\langle \mu \rangle$  has k elements.

*Proof.* Let  $\Phi_1 = \eta(\Phi_0)$  and let  $F_1$  denote the facet of  $\Phi_1$ . Recall that  $\Phi_0$  and  $\Phi_1$  are the base flags of  $F_0$  and  $F_1$ , respectively. This implies that  $\tilde{\rho_0}r_0\Phi_i = \Phi_i$ , for  $i \in \{0, 1\}$ . Now, if  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ , then

$$\xi_{n+1}(\Phi_i, \ell) = (\Phi_i, \ell + (-1)^{i+\ell})$$

Consider then the following computation:

ŀ

$$\begin{split} \iota(\Phi_0, \ell) &= \xi_{n+1} \eta^{-1} \xi_{n+1} \eta(\Phi_0, \ell) \\ &= \xi_{n+1} \eta^{-1} \xi_{n+1}(\Phi_1, \ell) \\ &= \xi_{n+1} \eta^{-1}(\Phi_1, \ell + (-1)^{1+\ell}) \\ &= \xi_{n+1}(\Phi_0, \ell + (-1)^{1+\ell}) \\ &= (\Phi_0, \ell + (-1)^{1+\ell} + (-1)^{1+\ell}) \\ &= (\Phi_0, \ell + 2(-1)^{1+\ell}), \end{split}$$

where we have used the fact that  $\ell + (-1)^{1+\ell} \equiv \ell + 1 \pmod{2}$ . It follows that  $\mu^{\ell}(\Phi_0, 0) = (\Phi_0, 2\ell)$  for every  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  (see Figure 3.9). Therefore, the orbit of  $(\Phi_0, 0)$  under  $\langle \mu \rangle$  has length k.

Consider the automorphism  $\overline{-1}: \mathcal{T} \to \mathcal{T}$  defined on the base flag  $((1), \overline{1}, 0)$  by

$$((1),\overline{1},0)\overline{-1} = ((1),\overline{-1},0).$$

This automorphism belongs to  $C_2^n$  and according to Equation (3.3.3) acts on an arbitrary flag as

$$(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)\overline{-1} = (\sigma, -\overline{\mathbf{x}}, -t). \tag{3.3.21}$$

The automorphism  $\overline{-1}$  belongs to  $\operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{T})$  if and only if n is even, since the flag  $((1), \overline{-1}, 0)$  is white precisely when n is even.

Observe that

$$r_{0}\eta r_{0}\Phi_{0} = r_{0}\eta r_{0} ((1), \overline{1}, 0)$$
  
=  $r_{0}\eta ((1), (-1, 1, ..., 1), 0)$   
=  $r_{0} ((1), (-1, 1, ..., 1), (-1, 2, ..., n))$   
=  $((1), \overline{1}, (-1, 2, ..., n)).$  (3.3.22)

Similarly,

$$r_0 \eta^{-1} r_0 \Phi_0 = r_0 \eta^{-1} ((1), (-1, 1, \dots, 1), 0)$$
  
=  $r_0 ((1), (-1, 1, \dots, 1), (1, -2, \dots, -n))$   
=  $((1), \overline{1}, (1, -2, \dots, -n)).$  (3.3.23)

Let  $\sigma \in S_n$  and  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in C_2^n$ . Equations (3.3.3) and (3.3.22) imply that if  $\gamma = \sigma \overline{\mathbf{x}}$  is an automorphism of  $\mathcal{T}$  fixing the base facet  $F_0$ , then

$$r_0\eta r_0(\Phi_0\sigma\overline{\mathbf{x}}) = (r_0\eta r_0\Phi_0)\,\sigma\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (\sigma,\overline{\mathbf{x}},\overline{\mathbf{x}}(\sigma(-1,2,\ldots,n)))\,. \tag{3.3.24}$$

Similarly, by Equations (3.3.3) and (3.3.23)

$$r_0\eta^{-1}r_0(\Phi_0\sigma\overline{\mathbf{x}}) = \left(r_0\eta^{-1}r_0\Phi_0\right)\sigma\overline{\mathbf{x}} = \left(\sigma,\overline{\mathbf{x}},\overline{\mathbf{x}}(\sigma(1,-2,\ldots,-n))\right).$$
(3.3.25)

The calculations above will be useful to prove the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.3.26.** Let  $n \ge 2$  even. Let  $\Phi_0$  be the base flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  and let  $F_0$  be the base facet. Consider the scattering element  $\eta$  defined in Equation (3.3.6). Let  $F_1$  be the facet of  $\eta \Phi_0$ . If  $\Psi$  is a white flag containing  $F_0$ , then the following statements hold.

- 1. The facet of  $r_0\eta r_0(\Psi)$  is not  $F_0$  nor  $F_1$ .
- 2. The facet of  $r_0\eta^{-1}r_0(\Psi)$  is the same as the facet of  $r_0\eta r_0(\Psi-1)$ .
- 3. The flag  $r_0\eta^{-1}r_0(\Psi)$  is fixed by  $\tilde{\rho_0}r_0$ .

Proof. Let  $\sigma \in S_n$  and  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} \in C_2^n$  be such that  $\Psi = \Phi_0 \sigma \overline{\mathbf{x}}$ . By Equation (3.3.24) the facet F of  $r_0\eta r_0$  is the facet labelled by the vector  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}\sigma(-1,2,3,\ldots,n)$ . This vector is different from zero, implying that F is not  $F_0$ . The only possibility for F to be  $F_1$  is when  $\sigma = (1)$  and  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (-1, 1, \ldots, 1)$ , but this is impossible since  $\sigma \overline{\mathbf{x}} \in \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{T})$ .

Part 2 follows from Equations (3.3.21), (3.3.24) and (3.3.25). To prove Part 3 first observe that if  $\Psi = (\tau, \overline{y}, 0)$ , then  $\Psi \overline{-1} = (\tau, -\overline{y}, 0)$  (Equation (3.3.21)). Now, by Equations (3.3.23) and (3.3.24) we have that

$$r_0\eta r_0(\Psi\overline{-1}) = (\tau, -\overline{y}, -\overline{y}(\tau(-1, 2, \dots, n))) = (\tau, -\overline{y}, \overline{y}(\tau(1, -2, \dots, -n))),$$

and

$$r_0\eta^{-1}r_0(\Psi) = (\tau, \overline{\mathbf{y}}, \overline{\mathbf{y}}(\tau(1, -2, \dots, -n))).$$

Since *n* is even, then  $\overline{-1} \in \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{T})$  and then  $r_0\eta r_0(\Psi\overline{-1})$  is the base flag of its facet *F*. In particular,  $\tilde{\rho_0}$  acts as  $r_0$  on  $r_0\eta r_0(\Psi\overline{-1})$ . This implies that  $\tilde{\rho_0}$  acts as  $r_0$  on  $r_0\eta^{-1}r_0(\Psi)$ , since the action of  $r_0$  on each flag only depends on the first entry of its label (see Equation (3.3.2)). The latter observation implies that  $r_0\eta^{-1}r_0(\Psi)$  is fixed by  $\tilde{\rho_0}r_0$ .

The following results will be helpful to understand the flag orbits under  $\langle \mu' \rangle$ . These play the role of [51, Lemma 29].

**Lemma 3.3.27.** Let  $\Phi$  be a white flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  and let  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ . Let

$$(\Psi, \ell') = r_0 \eta^{-1} r_0 \xi_{n+1} r_0 \eta r_0(\Phi, \ell).$$

Then,  $F_0 \in \Phi$  if and only if  $F_0 \in \Psi$ . In this situation, the orbit of  $(\Phi, \ell)$  under  $\langle \mu' \rangle$  has length two.

*Proof.* First, assume that  $F_0 \in \Phi$ . Then the facet of  $r_0\eta r_0(\Phi)$  is different from  $F_0$  and  $F_1$  (Lemma 3.3.26), which implies that  $r_0\eta r_0\Phi$  is fixed by  $\xi_{n+1}$ . Therefore  $\Phi = \Psi$  and, in particular,  $F_0 \in \Psi$ . The other implication follows from the fact that  $r_0\eta^{-1}r_0\xi_{n+1}r_0\eta r_0$  is an involution.

Now, assume that  $F_0 \in \Phi$  and consider the following calculation:

$$(\mu')^2(\Phi,\ell) = \mu'\xi_{n+1}\left(r_0\eta^{-1}r_0\xi_{n+1}r_0\eta r_0(\Phi,\ell)\right) = \mu'(\tilde{\rho_0}r_0\Phi,\ell+(-1)^\ell).$$

However,  $\tilde{\rho_0}r_0\Phi$  is also a flag containing  $F_0$ , hence a similar calculation holds and we have

$$(\mu')^2(\Phi,\ell) = \mu'(\tilde{\rho_0}r_0\Phi,\ell + (-1)^\ell) = (\tilde{\rho_0}r_0\tilde{\rho_0}r_0\Phi,\ell) = (\Phi,\ell).$$

**Lemma 3.3.28.** Let  $\Phi$  be a white flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  and let  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ . Let

$$(\Psi, \ell) = r_0 \eta r_0(\Phi, \ell).$$

Assume that  $F_0 \in \Psi$ , then the orbit of  $(\Phi, \ell)$  under  $\langle \mu' \rangle$  has length two.

*Proof.* Consider the following calculation:

$$(\mu')^{2}(\Phi,\ell) = \mu'\xi_{n+1}r_{0}\eta^{-1}r_{0}\xi_{n+1}r_{0}\eta r_{0}(\Phi,\ell)$$
  
=  $\mu'\xi_{n+1}r_{0}\eta^{-1}r_{0}\left(\tilde{\rho_{0}}r_{0}\Psi,\ell+(-1)^{\ell}\right),$ 

where the last equality holds because  $F_0 \in \Psi$ . Observe that  $F_0 \in \tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 \Psi$ ; therefore we may use Part 3 of Lemma 3.3.26 to obtain

$$\mu' \xi_{n+1} r_0 \eta^{-1} r_0 \left( \tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 \Psi, \ell + (-1)^\ell \right) = \mu' r_0 \eta^{-1} r_0 \left( \tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 \Psi, \ell + (-1)^\ell \right)$$
$$= \xi_{n+1} r_0 \eta^{-1} r_0 \xi_{n+1} \left( \tilde{\rho}_0 r_0 \Psi, \ell + (-1)^\ell \right)$$
$$= \xi_{n+1} r_0 \eta^{-1} r_0 (\Psi, \ell)$$
$$= (\Phi, \ell),$$

where the last equality follows from applying Part 3 of Lemma 3.3.26 to  $\Psi$  and from the fact that  $r_0\eta^{-1}r_0\Psi = \Phi$ .

**Lemma 3.3.29.** For an element  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$  let  $\mathcal{F}_{\ell}^w$  denote the set  $\mathcal{F}^w \times \{\ell\}$ . Let  $t \in \{1, \ldots, k\}$ , such that  $\ell \in \{2t, 2t + 1\}$ . Then:

1. If  $\mu'(\Phi, \ell) \notin \mathcal{F}_{2t}^w \cup \mathcal{F}_{2t+1}^w$ , then the base facet  $F_0$  belongs to either  $r_0\eta r_0\Phi$  or to  $r_0\eta r_0(\tilde{\rho_0}r_0)r_0\eta r_0\Phi$ .

2. If the orbit of  $(\Phi, \ell)$  under the group  $\langle \mu' \rangle$  is not contained in  $\mathcal{F}_{2t}^w \cup \mathcal{F}_{2t+1}^w$ , then its length is 2.

*Proof.* Part 1 follows from the definition of  $\xi_{n+1}$  (see Figure 3.9), since  $r_0\eta r_0$  and  $r_0\eta^{-1}r_0$  preserve  $\ell$ .

To prove Part 2 take *i* to be the smallest non-negative integer such that  $(\mu')^i(\Phi, \ell) \in \mathcal{F}_{2t}^w \cup \mathcal{F}_{2t+1}^w$ , but  $(\mu')^{i+1}(\Phi, \ell) \notin \mathcal{F}_{2t}^w \cup \mathcal{F}_{2t+1}^w$ . Let  $(\Psi, \ell') = (\mu')^i(\Phi, \ell)$ . Observe that  $\ell' \in \{2t, 2t+1\}$ , and by Part 1,  $F_0$  belongs either to  $r_0\eta r_0\Psi$  or to  $r_0\eta^{-1}r_0\xi_{n+1}r_0\eta r_0\Psi$ . In the former situation, Lemma 3.3.27 applies; in the latter Lemma 3.3.28 holds. In any case, the orbit of  $(\Psi, \ell')$  under  $\langle \mu' \rangle$  has length two, implying that i = 0 and the orbit of  $(\Phi, \ell)$  under  $\langle \mu' \rangle$  has length two.

Lemma 3.3.29 implies that the orbit of a pair  $(\Phi, \ell)$  under  $\langle \mu' \rangle$  is either contained in two of the copies of  $\mathcal{F}^w$  or has length two. This implies that if k is large enough, for instance larger than  $2|\mathcal{F}^w|$ , then the orbit of  $(\Phi, \ell)$  cannot have length k. On the other hand, in Lemma 3.3.20 we have proved that the orbit of  $(\Phi_0, 0)$  under  $\langle \mu \rangle$  has always length k. Therefore we have the following result.

**Proposition 3.3.30.** Let  $\Gamma$  be the group generated by the permutations  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n+1}$ defined in Equations (3.3.14) and (3.3.15) acting on the set  $\mathcal{F}^w \times \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ , for a prime  $k > 2|\mathcal{F}^w|$ . Let  $\mu = \xi_{n+1}\eta^{-1}\xi_{n+1}\eta$  and  $\mu' = \xi_{n+1}r_0\eta^{-1}r_0\xi_{n+1}r_0\eta r_0$ . Then, there is no group automorphism  $\alpha : \Gamma \to \Gamma$  such that

$$\alpha(\mu) = \mu'$$

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.3.20, k divides the order of  $\mu$ . However, by Lemma 3.3.29, all the orbits of  $\mu'$  have length at most  $2|\mathcal{F}^w|$ . The order of  $\mu'$  is the least common multiple of the lengths of its orbits and since k is a prime larger than  $2|\mathcal{F}^w|$ , then k cannot divide the order of  $\mu'$ . Therefore, there is no group automorphism  $\alpha : \Gamma \to \Gamma$  mapping  $\mu$  to  $\mu'$ .

In particular, Proposition 3.3.30 implies that once we prove that  $\Gamma$  satisfies the intersection property (1.2.26), then the resulting polytope is actually chiral.

## 3.3.1 The intersection property

Now we are going to prove that the group  $\Gamma$  satisfies the intersection property. The key to this proof is to use Lemma 3.0.8. When translating the notation of Lemma 3.0.8 to the generators  $\xi_1, \ldots, \xi_{n+1}$  it is convenient to define

Now  $\varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1}$  play the role of  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_n$  (note the change in the rank). Observe that

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle = \langle \xi_1, \dots, \xi_n \rangle \cong \operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T}) \cong \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{T}).$$
 (3.3.32)

Moreover, the elements  $\varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n$  act on  $(\Phi, \ell)$  by

$$\varsigma_i(\Phi,\ell) = (s_i\Phi,\ell),$$

where  $s_i = r_{i-1}r_i$ . Lemma 3.0.8 indicates that we only need to prove that

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle = \langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle$$
 (3.3.33)

for every j such that  $2 \leq j \leq n+1$ .

The intersection property will be proved in Proposition 3.3.47. The strategy to follow is to consider a certain flag  $\Phi$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  such that the intersection of the orbit of  $(\Phi, 0)$  under  $\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$  and the orbit of  $(\Phi, 0)$  under  $\langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$  is precisely the orbit of  $(\Phi, 0)$  under  $\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$ . The intersection property will follow from the fact that the action of  $\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$  on the set  $\mathcal{F}^w \times \{0\}$  is free. The following results will focus on guaranteeing the existence of such a flag, for which we will introduce some terminology. First, consider the following remark.

*Remark* 3.3.34. Let *E* be an edge of  $\mathcal{T}$ . If  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  and  $(\tau, \overline{\mathbf{y}}, u)$  are two flags containing *E*, then  $1\sigma = 1\tau$ .

Remark 3.3.34 follows from the fact that  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t) = w(\tau, \overline{\mathbf{y}}, u)$  for some  $w \in \langle r_i : i \in \{0, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{1\} \rangle$ . In other words,  $\sigma = \nu \tau$  for some  $\nu \in \langle (2 \ 3), (3 \ 4), \ldots, (n \ n + 1) \rangle$  (see Equation (3.3.2)). Then  $\sigma \tau^{-1} = \nu$  fixes 1, which implies that  $1\sigma = 1\tau$ . This allows us to define the *direction* of E as the number d whenever  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  is a flag containing E and  $1\sigma = d$ .

If E is an edge of  $\mathcal{T}$ , let  $V_0$  and  $V_1$  be the vertices of  $\mathcal{T}$  incident to E. Since  $\mathbb{Z}_a^n$  acts transitively on the set of vertices of  $\mathcal{T}$ , there exists an automorphism  $\gamma \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  mapping  $V_0$  to  $V_1$ . Moreover,  $\gamma$  may be chosen as the translation by a certain vector  $e_d = (0^{d-1}, 1, 0^{n-d})$ , where d is the direction of E. The *line* L of E will be the orbit of E under  $\langle \gamma \rangle$ . In this situation, d is the *direction* of L. Observe that the direction of L is the same as the direction of any of its edges. This occurs because translations do not modify the first coordinate of the flags (Equation (3.3.3)).

We say that a flag  $(\tau, \overline{y}, u)$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  is *perpendicular* to a line with direction d if  $n\tau = d$ .

Of course, all the notions defined in these paragraphs are combinatorial versions of their geometrical analogues. For instance, a flag is perpendicular to a line with direction d precisely when its (n-1)-face belongs to a hyperplane whose normal vector points in the  $d^{th}$  direction.

To prove the intersection property we need the existence of a line L satisfying certain conditions that will be described in Lemma 3.3.37. Before proving that lemma, we will prove some technical structural results about  $\mathcal{T}$ . The following lemma characterises the flags that contain the base edge of  $\mathcal{T}$ .

**Lemma 3.3.35.** Let  $E_0$  be the base edge. Let  $\Phi$  be the flag  $(\sigma, \overline{x}, t)$ , with  $\overline{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$ and  $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_n)$ . Then  $\Phi$  contains  $E_0$  if and only if  $\Phi$  satisfies the following properties:

- 1.  $1\sigma = 1$ ,
- 2.  $t_1 = 0$ ,

- 3. if i is such that  $2 \leq i \leq n$ , then  $t_i \in \{0, -1\}$ , and
- 4. if i is such that  $2 \leq i \leq n$ , then  $t_i = -1$  if and only if  $x_i = -1$ .

*Proof.* We will prove first that any flag containing  $E_0$  satisfies Items 1 to 4. Item 1 follows from Remark 3.3.34, since  $E_0$  belongs to the base flag  $\Phi_0 = ((1), \overline{1}, 0)$ .

If  $E_0$  is contained in a flag  $\Phi = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$ , then there exists  $w \in \langle r_i : i \in \{0, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{1\}\rangle$  such that  $\Phi = w\Phi_0$ . The element w can be written as

$$w = w_k r_n w_{k-1} r_n \cdots r_n w_1$$

in such a way that  $w_k, \ldots, w_1 \in \langle r_i : i \in \{0, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{1, n\} \rangle$ . We will prove that  $\Phi$  satisfies Items 2 to 4 by induction over k.

If k = 1 then  $w \in \langle r_i : i \in \{0, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{1, n\}\rangle$ , which implies that t = 0 and  $x_i = 1$  if  $i \ge 2$  (see Equation (3.3.2)). It follows that  $w\Phi_0$  satisfies Items 2 to 4.

Assume that

$$\Psi = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t) = w_{k-1}r_n \cdots r_n w_1 \Phi_0$$

satisfies Items 2 to 4. We will prove that  $w_k r_n \Psi$  satisfies Items 2 to 4. First observe that

$$r_n \Psi = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(n\sigma)}, t - x_{n\sigma} e_{n\sigma}),$$

since  $1\sigma = 1$ ,  $n\sigma \ge 2$ . It follows that  $r_n\Psi$  satisfies Item 2. Now,  $\bar{\mathbf{x}}^{n\sigma}$  and  $t - x_{n\sigma}e_{n\sigma}$ differ from  $\bar{\mathbf{x}}$  and t, respectively, in exactly one coordinate, namely the coordinate  $n\sigma$ . If  $x_{n\sigma} = 1$  then  $t_{n\sigma} = 0$ , because  $\Psi$  satisfies Item 4. In this situation the coordinate  $n\sigma$  of  $t - x_{n\sigma}e_{n\sigma}$  is -1. Similarly, if  $x_{n\sigma} = -1$ , then the coordinate  $n\sigma$  of  $t - x_{n\sigma}e_{n\sigma}$ is 0. It follows that  $r_n\Psi$  satisfies Item 4. As a consequence, Item 3 also holds for  $r_n\Psi$ . Items 2 to 4 for  $w_k r_n \Psi$  follow from the fact that  $w_k$  preserves the third entry of  $r_n \Psi$ and does not change any but the first coordinate of the second entry.

Now we need to prove that every flag satisfying Items 1 to 4 is incident to  $E_0$ . Let  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  be a flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  satisfying Items 1 to 4. Let  $\overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n)$  and  $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_n)$ . For each  $i \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$  let  $\overline{\mathbf{a}}_i = (1^{i-1}, -1, 1^{n-i}) \in C_2^n$  and  $e_i = (0^{i-1}, 1, 0^{n-i}) \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$ . Consider the automorphisms

$$\varepsilon_i = (\overline{\mathbf{a}_i})(-e_i).$$

First note that  $\varepsilon_i$  preserves  $E_0$ . If  $i \ge 2$ , then  $\overline{a_i}$  acts as a reflection on the base facet  $F_0$  precisely in the direction of  $e_i$ . Now if  $i \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$  is such that  $x_i = -1$  (hence  $t_i = -1$ ) then, by Equation (3.3.3)

$$(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)\varepsilon_i = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(i)}, \overline{\mathbf{a}}_i t - e_i) = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(i)}, t + e_i).$$

Therefore, if  $i_1, \ldots, i_m$  are the coordinates of  $\overline{\mathbf{x}}$  that are equal to -1, we have that

$$(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)\varepsilon_{i_1}\cdots\varepsilon_{i_m} = (\sigma, \overline{1}, 0).$$

Since  $1\sigma = 1$ , there exists  $w \in \langle r_2, \ldots, r_{n-1} \rangle$  such that  $(\sigma, \overline{1}, 0) = w\Phi_0$  (see Equation (3.3.2)). This implies that the flag  $(\sigma, \overline{1}, 0)$  contains the edge  $E_0$ . It follows that the flag  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  contains the edge  $E_0$ , as desired.

An immediate consequence of Lemma 3.3.35 is the following result.

**Corollary 3.3.36.** Let E be the edge of a flag  $((1), \overline{1}, u)$  for some  $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$ . Let

$$A = \{ (v_1, \dots, v_n) \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n : v_1 = 0 \text{ and } v_i \in \{0, -1\} \text{ if } i \ge 2 \}.$$

Then, the following hold.

- 1. A flag  $(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  is incident to E if and only if  $\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}} = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$  and  $t = (t_1, \dots, t_n)$  satisfy
  - (a)  $1\sigma = 1$ ,
  - (b)  $t_1 = u_1$ ,
  - (c) if  $i \ge 2$ , then  $t_i \in \{u_i, u_i 1\}$ , and
  - (d) if  $i \ge 2$  then  $t_i = u_i 1$  if and only if  $x_i = -1$ .
- 2. The facets t incident to E are precisely those that satisfy that  $t u \in A$ .

**Lemma 3.3.37.** Let  $a \ge 2n + 1$  and let  $\mathcal{T}$  be the toroid  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\dots,0)}$ . Let  $\Phi_0$  be the base flag of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Let  $\eta$  be the scattering element described in Equation (3.3.6). Assume that E is the edge of  $\eta^{-1}\Phi_0$  and let  $\overline{L}$  be the line containing E.

- 1. The line  $\overline{L}$  has direction 1.
- 2. Let F be a facet incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$ , let  $t_F$  denote the vector of  $\mathbb{Z}_a^n$  associated to F and  $\rho : \mathbb{Z}_a^n \to \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  be the function defined in Equation (3.3.10). Then  $\rho(t_F) = 1$ .

*Proof.* Part 1 follows from the fact that the flag  $\eta^{-1}\Phi$  has the trivial permutation as first entry.

Let F be a facet incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$ . This implies that F is a translate in direction 1 of a facet G incident to E. Recall that the flag  $\eta^{-1}\Phi$  has label  $((1), \overline{1}, -v_0)$ with  $v_0 = (1, 2, ..., n)$ . By Part 2 of Corollary 3.3.36, if  $t_F, t_G \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$  denote the vectors associated to F and G respectively, then  $t_F = t_G + ke_1$  for certain  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_a$  and  $t_G + v_0$ belongs to the set A defined in Corollary 3.3.36. It is enough to prove that all the vectors  $t = (w - v_0) + ke_1$  with  $w \in A$  and  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$  satisfy that  $\rho(t) = 1$ .

First, observe that if  $2 \leq i \leq n$ , then none of -i or -i - 1 are congruent with  $\pm 1$  modulo a. This condition implies that either t cannot be a vector  $v(\tau, \overline{y})$  for any  $\tau \in S_n$  and  $\overline{y} \in C_2^n$  or if  $t = v(\tau, \overline{y})$ , then  $1\tau = 1$ . By Equation (3.3.12), any of the two conditions imply that  $\rho(t) = 1$ , which proves Part 2.

**Lemma 3.3.38.** Let  $\Phi$  be a flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  such that the facet of  $\Phi$  is incident to an edge of the line  $\overline{L}$  defined in Lemma 3.3.37, and let  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ . Assume that  $\Phi$  is perpendicular to  $\overline{L}$  and let  $(\Psi, \ell') = \varsigma_{n+1}(\Phi, \ell)$  with  $\varsigma_{n+1}$  defined as in Equation (3.3.31). Then  $\Psi$  is the image of  $\Phi$  under a translation in direction 1. In particular,  $\Psi$  is also perpendicular to  $\overline{L}$  and the facet of  $\Psi$  is incident to an edge in  $\overline{L}$ .



Figure 3.10: The line  $\overline{L}$ 

*Proof.* First observe that

$$\Psi = r_n r_0 \tilde{\rho_0} r_0 \Phi = r_n \tilde{\rho_0} \Phi.$$

Let  $\Phi = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$ . By Lemma 3.3.37,  $\rho(t) = 1$ . Then we have

$$\begin{split} \Psi &= r_n \tilde{\rho_0} \Phi \\ &= r_n \tilde{\rho_0}(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t) \\ &= r_n(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(1)}, t) \\ &= (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t + x_1 e_1), \end{split}$$

where the last equality holds because  $n\sigma = 1$ , since  $\Phi$  is perpendicular to  $\overline{L}$ .

**Lemma 3.3.39.** Let  $\Phi = (\sigma, \overline{x}, t)$  be a flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  such that the vertex and the facet of  $\Phi$  are incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$  and let  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ . Let  $j \ge 2$  and  $w \in \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$ . Let  $(\Psi, \ell') = \varsigma_{n+1} w \varsigma_{n+1}^{-1}(\Phi, \ell)$ . Then  $\Psi$  is the image under a translation in direction 1 of a flag in  $\langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle \Phi$ .

*Proof.* Let  $w \in \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$ . Observe that w fixes the second coordinates of the pairs  $(\Phi, \ell)$ , hence we may think of w as an element of  $\langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle$ . Assume that

$$w = v_p s_n v_{p-1} s_n \cdots s_n v_1,$$

where  $v_i \in \langle s_j, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$ , for  $i \in \{1, \ldots, p\}$ . Notice that

$$\Psi = r_n \tilde{\rho_0} w \tilde{\rho_0} r_n \Phi = (r_n \tilde{\rho_0} v_p \tilde{\rho_0} r_n) (r_n \tilde{\rho_0} s_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_n) \cdots (r_n \tilde{\rho_0} s_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_n) (r_n \tilde{\rho_0} v_1 \tilde{\rho_0} r_n) \Phi.$$

Hence, it suffices to prove that given a flag  $\Phi$  satisfying the hypothesis of the lemma and an arbitrary element  $v \in \langle s_j, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$ , the flags  $r_n \tilde{\rho}_0 v \tilde{\rho}_0 r_n \Phi$  and  $r_n \tilde{\rho}_0 s_n \tilde{\rho}_0 r_n \Phi$  satisfy the hypothesis of the lemma, and that these flags are the image under a translation in direction 1 of a flag in  $\langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle \Phi$ .

Notice that, as a consequence of Part 1 of Corollary 3.3.36, we have that if  $\Phi$  is such that the vertex and the facet of  $\Phi$  are incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$ , then the vertex

and the facet of a flag in  $\langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle \Phi$  are also incident to and edge of  $\overline{L}$ . Part 2 of Corollary 3.3.36 implies that the vertex and the facet of every translate in direction 1 of a flag in  $\langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle \Phi$  are incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$ . Therefore, we only need to prove that if  $\Phi$  is as above, then  $r_n \tilde{\rho}_0 u \tilde{\rho}_0 r_n \Phi$  and  $r_n \tilde{\rho}_0 s_n \tilde{\rho}_0 r_n \Phi$  are the image of a flag in  $\langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle \Phi$  under a translation in direction 1.

First consider  $r_n \tilde{\rho_0} v \tilde{\rho_0} r_n \Phi$  with  $v \in \langle s_j, \ldots, s_{n-1} \rangle$ . Now, by Remark 3.3.9,  $\tilde{\rho_0}$  and v commute, which implies that  $r_n \tilde{\rho_0} v \tilde{\rho_0} r_n \Phi = r_n v r_n \Phi$ ; but  $r_n v r_n \in \langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle$ , as desired.

Now consider  $r_n \tilde{\rho}_0 s_n \tilde{\rho}_0 r_n \Phi = r_n \tilde{\rho}_0 r_{n-1} r_n \tilde{\rho}_0 r_n \Phi$ . Observe that since the facet of  $\Phi = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  is incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$ , Part 2 of Lemma 3.3.37 implies that  $\rho(t) = \rho(t + ke_1) = 1$  for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}_a$ . Notice that if  $n\sigma \neq \rho(t)$ , then  $\tilde{\rho}_0 r_n \Phi = r_n \tilde{\rho}_0 \Phi$ . In our situation, this implies that if  $n\sigma \neq 1$ , then

$$r_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_{n-1} r_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_n \Phi = r_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_{n-1} r_n r_n \tilde{\rho_0} \Phi = r_n r_{n-1} \Phi = s_n^{-1} \Phi,$$

where the second equality follows from the fact that  $\tilde{\rho_0}$  and  $r_{n-1}$  commute (see Remark 3.3.9). Hence, if  $n\sigma \neq 1$ , then  $r_n \tilde{\rho_0} s_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_n \Phi = s_n^{-1} \Phi$ .

Now assume that  $\Phi = (\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t)$  with  $n\sigma = 1$ , that is, the edge of  $\Phi$  belongs to  $\overline{L}$ . Consider then the following computation:

$$\begin{aligned} r_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_{n-1} r_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_n(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t) &= r_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_{n-1} r_n \tilde{\rho_0}(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(1)}, t - x_1 e_1) \\ &= r_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_{n-1} r_n(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t - x_1 e_1) \\ &= r_n \tilde{\rho_0} r_{n-1}(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(1)}, t - x_1 e_1 - x_1 e_1) \\ &= r_n \tilde{\rho_0}((n-1 \ n)\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^{(1)}, t - x_1 e_1 - x_1 e_1) \\ &= r_n ((n-1 \ n)\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t - x_1 e_1 - x_1 e_1) \\ &= r_n r_{n-1}(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t - x_1 e_1 - x_1 e_1). \end{aligned}$$

But  $r_n r_{n-1}(\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}, t - x_1 e_1 - x_1 e_1)$  is the image under a translation in direction 1 of  $s_n^{-1}\Phi$ , as desired.

Using the previous results it is easy to obtain a description of the orbit of certain flags under the action of  $\langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$  for  $j \ge 2$ .

**Lemma 3.3.40.** Let  $\Phi$  be a flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  such that the facet and the vertex of  $\Phi$  are incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$  and let  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ . Let  $d \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$  be such that  $\ell \in \{2d - 1, 2d\}$ . Assume that  $\Phi$  is perpendicular to  $\overline{L}$ . Let  $j \ge 2$ . Then

$$\langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle (\Phi, \ell) = \left( \bigcup_{i=0}^{a-1} \langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi, 2d-1) t_1^i \right) \cup \\ \cup \left( \bigcup_{i=0}^{a-1} \langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi, 2d) t_1^i \right)$$
(3.3.41)

where  $t_1$  is the translation by the vector  $e_1 \in \mathbb{Z}_a^n$ . In other words, the orbit of  $(\Phi, \ell)$ under  $\langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$  is the union of translates in the direction of  $\overline{L}$  of the orbit of  $\Phi$ under  $\langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle$ . These translates go through two copies of  $\mathcal{F}^w$ , namely  $\mathcal{F}_{2d-1}^w$  and  $\mathcal{F}_{2d}^w$ .



Figure 3.11: The first coordinates of a pair  $(\Phi, \ell)$  of Lemma 3.3.40.

*Proof.* Since  $F_1$  is incident to an edge of L but  $F_0$  is not, it is clear that the second coordinate of any element of the orbit of  $(\Phi, \ell)$  under  $\langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$  is either 2d - 1 or 2d, so we may restrict our analysis to the flags of  $\mathcal{F}^w \times \{2d - 1, 2d\}$ . Furthermore, by Lemma 3.3.38, there are flags of  $\langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$  in both copies of  $\mathcal{F}^w$ .

Observe that Lemma 3.3.38 proves that the right side of Equation (3.3.41) is contained in the orbit of  $(\Phi, \ell)$  under  $\langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$ .

To prove the other inclusion it is enough to show that if  $w \in \langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle$  and  $(\Psi, \ell') = \varsigma_{n+1} w(\Phi, \ell)$ , then  $\Psi$  is the image of a flag in  $\langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle \Phi$  under a translation in direction 1. Let  $(\Psi_1, \ell'') = \varsigma_{n+1}(\Phi, \ell)$ . Observe that

$$(\Psi, \ell') = \varsigma_{n+1} w(\Phi, \ell) = \varsigma_{n+1} w \varsigma_{n+1}^{-1} \varsigma_{n+1}(\Phi, \ell) = \varsigma_{n+1} w \varsigma_{n+1}^{-1} (\Psi_1, \ell'').$$

By Lemma 3.3.38, there exists  $i_1 \in \{0, \ldots, a-1\}$  such that  $\Psi_1 = \Phi t_1^{i_1}$ . By Lemma 3.3.39, there exists  $w_1 \in \langle s_j, \ldots, s_n \rangle$  and  $i_2 \in \{0, \ldots, a-1\}$  such that  $\Psi = w_1 \Psi_1 t_1^{i_2}$ . This implies that  $\Psi = w_1 \Phi t_1^{i_1+i_2}$ .

**Lemma 3.3.42.** Let  $\Phi$  be a flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  perpendicular to  $\overline{L}$  and let  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}_{2k}$ . Assume that the vertex of  $\Phi$  is incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$ . Let  $2 \leq j \leq n$  and  $w \in \langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$ . If  $(\Psi, \ell') = w(\Phi, \ell)$ , then the vertex of  $\Psi$  is the same as the vertex of  $\Phi$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.3.40 the vertex of  $\Psi$  is incident to an edge of L.

Since  $w \in \langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$ , the element w does not change the second coordinate of  $(\Phi, \ell)$ . In other words,  $\ell = \ell'$  and we may think of w as an element in  $\langle s_1, \ldots, s_n \rangle$ .

Now consider the automorphism  $\beta \in \operatorname{Aut}^+(\mathcal{T})$  such that  $\Phi\beta = s_n\Phi$ . Let  $\Phi = (\sigma, \overline{x}, t)$ . Since  $\Phi$  is perpendicular to  $\overline{L}$ , we have that  $n\sigma = 1$ . This implies that

 $\Phi\beta = ((n-1 \ n)\sigma, \overline{\mathbf{x}}^1, t+x_1e_1)$ . Therefore,  $\Phi\beta$  is perpendicular to a line of direction  $(n-1)\sigma$ ; in particular,  $\beta$  does not preserve  $\overline{L}$ . Let  $\overline{L}\beta$  denote line containing the images of the edges of  $\overline{L}$  under  $\beta$ .

The vertex of the flag  $\Psi\beta$  is incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}\beta$ . On the other hand, the vertex of  $ws_n\Phi$  is incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$  (Lemma 3.3.40). However,  $\Psi\beta = w\Phi\beta = ws_n\Phi$ . This implies that the vertex of  $\Psi\beta$  must be incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$  and to an edge of  $\overline{L}\Phi$ . The only vertex that satisfies this is the vertex of  $\Phi$ , and since this vertex is fixed by  $\beta$ , it follows that the vertex of  $\Psi$  is the same as the vertex of  $\Phi$ .

Now we are ready to prove the key results that will help us to prove that the group  $\gamma = \langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$  satisfies the intersection property in Equation (1.2.26).

**Lemma 3.3.43.** Let  $\Phi_0$  be the base flag of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Then

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi_0, 0) \cap \langle \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle (\Phi_0, 0) = \{ (\Phi_0, 0) \}$$
(3.3.44)

*Proof.* The result follows from the following equations:

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi_0, 0) = \{ (\Phi, 0) : \Phi \text{ is a white flag of } \mathcal{T} \}, \langle \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle (\Phi_0, 0) = \{ (\Phi_0, 0), (\Phi_0, 1) \}.$$

**Lemma 3.3.45.** Let  $\Phi$  be a flag of  $\mathcal{T}$  such that  $\Phi$  is perpendicular to  $\overline{L}$  and the vertex of  $\Phi$  is incident to an edge of  $\overline{L}$ . Let  $2 \leq j$ . Then

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle(\Phi, 0) \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle(\Phi, 0) = \langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle(\Phi, 0).$$
 (3.3.46)

*Proof.* It is only necessary to prove that

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi, 0) \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle (\Phi, 0) \subseteq \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi, 0).$$

By Lemma 3.3.40,

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi, 0) \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle (\Phi, 0) \subseteq \left( \bigcup_{i=0}^{a-1} \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi, 0) t_1^i \right),$$

since all the elements of  $\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$  preserve the second coordinate of the pair  $(\Phi, 0)$ . Now, by Lemma 3.3.42, if  $(\Psi, 0)$  is an element of  $\langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle (\Phi, 0)$ , then  $\Psi$  has the same vertex as  $\Phi$ . This implies that

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle(\Phi, 0) \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle(\Phi, 0) \subseteq \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle(\Phi, 0).$$

As explained before, Lemma 3.3.43 and Lemma 3.3.45 offer the conditions to prove the intersection property for the group  $\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$ .

**Proposition 3.3.47.** Let  $\varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1}$  be the group elements defined in Equation (3.3.31). Let  $j \ge 2$ . Then

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle = \langle \varsigma_j, \dots, \varsigma_n \rangle.$$
 (3.3.48)

*Proof.* If j < n + 1, then define  $\Phi$  as in the hypothesis of Lemma 3.3.45, if j = n + 1, then let  $\Phi = \Phi_0$ , as in Lemma 3.3.43. In any case we have

$$\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi, 0) \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle (\Phi, 0) = \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle (\Phi, 0).$$

Let  $w \in \langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle \cap \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$ . Since  $w \in \langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$ , then

$$w(\Phi,0) \in \langle \varsigma_1,\ldots,\varsigma_n \rangle(\Phi,0).$$

Similarly,

$$w(\Phi,0) \in \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle (\Phi,0)$$

which implies that there exists  $w' \in \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$  such that

$$w(\Phi, 0) = w'(\Phi, 0)$$

Observe that the action of the group  $\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$  on the set

 $\{(\Psi, 0) : \Psi \text{ is a white flag of } \mathcal{T}\}\$ 

is equivalent to the action of  $\operatorname{Con}^+(\mathcal{T})$  on the set of white flags of  $\mathcal{T}$ . In particular, this action is free. Now, since both w and w' belong to the group  $\langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$  and  $w(\Phi, 0) = w'(\Phi, 0)$ , then w = w', and we have that  $w \in \langle \varsigma_j, \ldots, \varsigma_n \rangle$ .

The other inclusion is obvious.

As a consequence of Propositions 3.3.16, 3.3.30 and 3.3.47 we have the following.

**Theorem 3.3.49.** Let  $\varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1}$  the group elements defined in Equation (3.3.31). Then the group  $\Gamma = \langle \varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_{n+1} \rangle$  is the automorphism group of a chiral (n+2)-polytope  $\mathcal{P}$  whose facets are isomorphic to the toroid  $\{4, 3^{n-2}, 4\}_{(a,0,\ldots,0)}$ .

The abstract polytopes constructed in Theorem 3.3.49 prove Theorem 3.3.1.
## Index

Abstract polytope, 1 Chiral, 13 Dually bipartite, 42, 53 Orientable, 12 rank, 1 Regular, 8 Rooted, 7 Rotary, 12 Abstract reflections, 8 Abstract rotations, 12 Automorphism, 6group, 6 of a maniplex, 32Cayley graph, 46 Chirality group, 30Co-face, 3 Connection group, 27 Connetion group of a maniplex, 32Cover, 34CPR-graph, 42 Diamond condition, 1 Direction of a line, 85of an edge, 85Dual, 7 self-, 7Edge, 1 Enantiomorphic, 17 element, 33 Equivelar, 3Face, 1 *i*-, 1 incident, 1 rank of a, 1

Facet, 1 Flag, 1 adjacent, 2base, 7 black, 76 graph, 30 of a maniplex, 32perpendicular to a line, 85white, 76 GPR-graph, 46 Intersection Property, 10 Isomorphism, 2 Lattice, 20 basis for, 20Lattice group, 20Line, 85 Maniplex, 32 Map, 2 Monodromy group, see Connection group Polygon, 2 Quotient, 34Rotation group, 12 Scattering element, 76 Schläfli type, 3 Section, 3 Strong flag connectivity, 2 Symmetry group, 19 Type, see Schläfli type Universal Coxeter group, 33 Vertex, 1 figure, 3

## Bibliography

- [1] Ana Breda, Antonio Breda D'Azevedo, and Roman Nedela. Chirality group and chirality index of Coxeter chiral maps. *Ars Combin.*, 81:147–160, 2006. 72
- [2] Ulrich Brehm and Wolfgang Kühnel. Equivelar maps on the torus. European J. Combin., 29(8):1843-1861, 2008. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejc.2008.01.010. 67
- [3] Charles J. Colbourn and Asia Ivić Weiss. A census of regular 3-polystroma arising from honeycombs. *Discrete Math.*, 50(1):29–36, 1984. URL: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0012-365X(84)90032-3, doi:10.1016/0012-365X(84)90032-3. x, xiii
- [4] José Collins and Antonio Montero. Equivelar toroids with few flag-orbits. arXiv preprint arXiv:1802.07837, 2018. 18, 25
- [5] Marston Conder and Peter Dobcsányi. Determination of all regular maps of small genus. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 81(2):224-242, 2001. URL: http://dx.doi. org/10.1006/jctb.2000.2008, doi:10.1006/jctb.2000.2008. x, xiii, 12
- [6] Marston Conder, Isabel Hubard, and Tomaž Pisanski. Constructions for chiral polytopes. J. Lond. Math. Soc. (2), 77(1):115–129, 2008. URL: http://dx.doi. org/10.1112/jlms/jdm093, doi:10.1112/jlms/jdm093. x, xiii, 3, 5, 8, 18
- [7] Marston D. E. Conder. Regular maps and hypermaps of Euler characteristic -1 to -200. J. Combin. Theory Ser. B, 99(2):455-459, 2009. URL: http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jctb.2008.09.003, doi:10.1016/j.jctb.2008.09.003. 11
- [8] Marston D. E. Conder and Wei-Juan Zhang. Abelian covers of chiral polytopes. J. Algebra, 478:437-457, 2017. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra. 2017.01.047, doi:10.1016/j.jalgebra.2017.01.047. 49
- H. S. M. Coxeter. Regular Skew Polyhedra in Three and Four Dimension, and their Topological Analogues. *Proc. London Math. Soc.*, S2-43(1):33. URL: http: //dx.doi.org/10.1112/plms/s2-43.1.33, doi:10.1112/plms/s2-43.1.33. ix, xii
- [10] H. S. M. Coxeter. Twisted honeycombs. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1970. Conference Board of the Mathematical Sciences Regional Conference Series in Mathematics, No. 4. x, xiii, 13

- [11] H. S. M. Coxeter. Regular polytopes. Dover Publications, Inc., New York, third edition, 1973. ix, xii, 8, 19
- [12] H. S. M. Coxeter. *Regular complex polytopes*. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 1991.
- [13] H. S. M. Coxeter and W. O. J. Moser. Generators and relations for discrete groups. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, third edition, 1972. Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete, Band 14. x, xiii, 12, 18
- [14] Gabe Cunningham. Mixing chiral polytopes. J. Algebraic Combin., 36(2):263-277, 2012. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10801-011-0335-z, doi:10.1007/s10801-011-0335-z. 33, 35, 36
- [15] Gabe Cunningham. Non-flat regular polytopes and restrictions on chiral polytopes. *Electron. J. Combin.*, 24(3):Paper 3.59, 14, 2017. xi, xiv, 17, 50
- [16] Gabe Cunningham and Daniel Pellicer. Chiral extensions of chiral polytopes. Discrete Math., 330:51-60, 2014. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.disc. 2014.04.014, doi:10.1016/j.disc.2014.04.014. xi, xiv, 18, 46, 47, 48, 49, 53, 54
- [17] L. Danzer. Regular incidence-complexes and dimensionally unbounded sequences of such. I. In Convexity and graph theory (Jerusalem, 1981), volume 87 of North-Holland Math. Stud., pages 115–127. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1984. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0304-0208(08)72815-9, doi:10.1016/S0304-0208(08)72815-9. ix, xii, 38, 40
- [18] L. Danzer and E. Schulte. Reguläre Inzidenzkomplexe. I. Geom. Dedicata, 13(3):295-308, 1982. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00148235, doi: 10.1007/BF00148235. ix, xii
- [19] Antonio Breda D'Azevedo, Gareth A. Jones, and Egon Schulte. Constructions of chiral polytopes of small rank. *Canad. J. Math.*, 63(6):1254–1283, 2011. URL: https://doi.org/10.4153/CJM-2011-033-4, doi:10.4153/CJM-2011-033-4. x, xiii, 33, 35
- [20] Ian Douglas, Isabel Hubard, Daniel Pellicer, and Steve Wilson. The twist operator on maniplexes. In *Discrete geometry and symmetry*, volume 234 of *Springer Proc. Math. Stat.*, pages 127–145. Springer, Cham, 2018. 12, 38
- [21] Patrick Du Val. Homographies, quaternions and rotations. Oxford Mathematical Monographs. Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1964. 8
- [22] Euclid. Euclid's Elements. Green Lion Press, Santa Fe, NM, 2002. All thirteen books complete in one volume, The Thomas L. Heath translation, Edited by Dana Densmore. ix, xii

- [23] Dietmar Garbe. über die regulären Zerlegungen geschlossener orientierbarer Flächen. J. Reine Angew. Math., 237:39–55, 1969. URL: http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1515/crll.1969.237.39, doi:10.1515/crll.1969.237.39. x, xiii
- [24] Jorge Garza-Vargas and Isabel Hubard. Polytopality of maniplexes. Discrete Math., 341(7):2068-2079, 2018. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.disc.2018.
   02.017, doi:10.1016/j.disc.2018.02.017. 32, 33
- [25] Carl Friedrich Gauss. Untersuchungen über höhere Arithmetik. Deutsch herausgegeben von H. Maser. Chelsea Publishing Co., New York, 1965. 66
- [26] Branko Grünbaum. Regular polyhedra—old and new. Aequationes Math., 16(1-2):1–20, 1977. ix, xii
- [27] Branko Grünbaum. Regularity of graphs, complexes and designs. In Problèmes combinatoires et théorie des graphes (Colloq. Internat. CNRS, Univ. Orsay, Orsay, 1976), volume 260 of Colloq. Internat. CNRS, pages 191–197. CNRS, Paris, 1978. ix, xii, 37
- [28] Branko Grünbaum. Convex polytopes, volume 221 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 2003. Prepared and with a preface by Volker Kaibel, Victor Klee and Günter M. Ziegler. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4613-0019-9, doi:10.1007/978-1-4613-0019-9. 7
- [29] M. I. Hartley. All polytopes are quotients, and isomorphic polytopes are quotients by conjugate subgroups. *Discrete Comput. Geom.*, 21(2):289–298, 1999. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00009422, doi:10.1007/PL00009422. 34
- [30] Michael I. Hartley. Locally projective polytopes of type {4,3,...,3,p}. J. Algebra, 290(2):322-336, 2005. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2005.
  01.057, doi:10.1016/j.jalgebra.2005.01.057. 43
- [31] Michael I. Hartley, Daniel Pellicer, and Gordon Williams. Minimal covers of the prisms and antiprisms. *Discrete Math.*, 312(20):3046-3058, 2012. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.disc.2012.06.025, doi:10.1016/j.disc.2012. 06.025. 27
- [33] Gareth A. Jones and David Singerman. Theory of maps on orientable surfaces. *Proc. London Math. Soc.* (3), 37(2):273-307, 1978. URL: https://doi.org/10. 1112/plms/s3-37.2.273, doi:10.1112/plms/s3-37.2.273. 3, 12
- [34] William Thomson Baron Kelvin. The molecular tactics of a crystal. Clarendon Press, 1894. 13

- [35] Hiroki Koike, Daniel Pellicer, Miguel Raggi, and Steve Wilson. Flag bicolorings, pseudo-orientations, and double covers of maps. *Electron. J. Combin.*, 24(1):Paper 1.3, 23, 2017. 12
- [36] Horst Martini. A hierarchical classification of Euclidean polytopes with regularity properties. In *Polytopes: abstract, convex and computational (Scarborough, ON, 1993)*, volume 440 of *NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci.*, pages 71–96. Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1994. 8
- [37] Jiří Matoušek. Lectures on discrete geometry, volume 212 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2002. URL: https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-1-4613-0039-7, doi:10.1007/978-1-4613-0039-7. 7, 41
- [38] Peter McMullen. On the combinatorial structure of convex polytopes. PhD thesis, University of Birmingham, 1968. 8
- [39] Peter McMullen and Egon Schulte. Higher toroidal regular polytopes. Adv. Math., 117(1):17-51, 1996. URL: https://doi.org/10.1006/aima.1996.0002, doi:10. 1006/aima.1996.0002. 24, 26
- [40] Peter McMullen and Egon Schulte. Abstract regular polytopes, volume 92 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/CB09780511546686, doi: 10.1017/CB09780511546686. ix, xii, 1, 8, 11, 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 25, 39, 40
- [42] B. Monson and Egon Schulte. Reflection groups and polytopes over finite fields.
  I. Adv. in Appl. Math., 33(2):290-317, 2004. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aam.2003.11.002, doi:10.1016/j.aam.2003.11.002. 11
- [43] B. Monson and A. Ivić Weiss. Eisentein [Eisenstein] integers and related C-groups. Geom. Dedicata, 66(1):99–117, 1997. URL: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1004953220074, doi:10.1023/A:1004953220074. 65
- [44] B. Monson and Asia Ivić Weiss. Polytopes related to the Picard group. Linear Algebra Appl., 218:185-204, 1995. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/ 0024-3795(93)00170-5, doi:10.1016/0024-3795(93)00170-5. 65
- B. Nostrand and E. Schulte. Chiral polytopes from hyperbolic honeycombs. Discrete Comput. Geom., 13(1):17-39, 1995. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/ BF02574026, doi:10.1007/BF02574026. x, xiii
- [46] Daniel Pellicer. CPR graphs and regular polytopes. European J. Combin., 29(1):59-71, 2008. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejc.2007.01.001, doi: 10.1016/j.ejc.2007.01.001. 42

- [47] Daniel Pellicer. Extensions of regular polytopes with preassigned Schläfli symbol. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 116(2):303-313, 2009. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10. 1016/j.jcta.2008.06.004, doi:10.1016/j.jcta.2008.06.004. x, xiii, 11, 40, 43, 58, 64
- [48] Daniel Pellicer. A construction of higher rank chiral polytopes. Discrete Math., 310(6-7):1222-1237, 2010. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.disc.2009. 11.034, doi:10.1016/j.disc.2009.11.034. x, xiii, 18, 27, 52
- [49] Daniel Pellicer. Extensions of dually bipartite regular polytopes. Discrete Math., 310(12):1702-1707, 2010. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.disc.2009.11.
  023, doi:10.1016/j.disc.2009.11.023. x, xiii, 11, 42
- [50] Daniel Pellicer. Developments and open problems on chiral polytopes. Ars Math. Contemp., 5(2):333–354, 2012. 38, 49, 50
- [51] Daniel Pellicer, Primož Potočnik, and Micael Toledo. An existence result on two-orbit maniplexes. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 166:226-253, 2019. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcta.2019.02.014, doi:10.1016/j.jcta.2019.
   02.014. 12, 27, 32, 33, 73, 83
- [52] Daniel Pellicer and Asia Ivić Weiss. Generalized CPR-graphs and applications. Contrib. Discrete Math., 5(2):76–105, 2010. 46
- [53] Daniel Pellicer and Gordon Williams. Minimal covers of the Archimedean tilings, Part 1. *Electron. J. Combin.*, 19(3):Paper 6, 37, 2012. 27
- [54] Daniel Pellicer and Gordon Ian Williams. Pyramids over regular 3-tori. SIAM J. Discrete Math., 32(1):249-265, 2018. URL: https://doi.org/10.1137/ 17M1111954, doi:10.1137/17M1111954. 27
- [55] John G. Ratcliffe. Foundations of hyperbolic manifolds, volume 149 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer, New York, second edition, 2006. 20, 22
- [56] Joseph J. Rotman. A first course in abstract algebra. Prentice Hall, Inc., Upper Saddle River, NJ, 1996. 66
- [57] Egon Schulte. On arranging regular incidence-complexes as faces of higherdimensional ones. *European J. Combin.*, 4(4):375–384, 1983. URL: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0195-6698(83)80035-3, doi:10.1016/S0195-6698(83) 80035-3. x, xii, 11, 38, 45, 49
- [58] Egon Schulte. Reguläre Inzidenzkomplexe. II, III. Geom. Dedicata, 14(1):33– 56, 57–79, 1983. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF00182269, doi:10.1007/ BF00182269. 39
- [59] Egon Schulte. Extensions of regular complexes. In Finite geometries (Winnipeg, Man., 1984), volume 103 of Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math., pages 289–305.
   Dekker, New York, 1985. 11, 42

- [60] Egon Schulte. Regular incidence-polytopes with Euclidean or toroidal faces and vertex-figures. J. Combin. Theory Ser. A, 40(2):305-330, 1985. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/0097-3165(85)90093-7, doi:10.1016/0097-3165(85)90093-7. 39, 40
- [61] Egon Schulte. Regular incidence complexes, polytopes, and C-groups. In Discrete geometry and symmetry, volume 234 of Springer Proc. Math. Stat., pages 311–333. Springer, Cham, 2018. 39
- [62] Egon Schulte. No 2 in Schläfli symbols for chiral polytopes. Private communication, June 2019. 17
- [63] Egon Schulte and Asia Ivić Weiss. Chiral polytopes. In Applied geometry and discrete mathematics, volume 4 of DIMACS Ser. Discrete Math. Theoret. Comput. Sci., pages 493–516. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1991. x, xiii, 11, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 34, 52
- [64] Egon Schulte and Asia Ivić Weiss. Chirality and projective linear groups. Discrete Math., 131(1-3):221-261, 1994. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0012-365X(94)90387-5, doi:10.1016/0012-365X(94)90387-5. x, xiii, 18, 25, 65, 68, 69, 70, 71
- [65] Egon Schulte and Asia Ivić Weiss. Free extensions of chiral polytopes. Canad. J. Math., 47(3):641-654, 1995. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.4153/ CJM-1995-033-7, doi:10.4153/CJM-1995-033-7. x, xi, xiii, xiv, 18, 44, 45, 49
- [66] Egon Schulte and Asia Ivić Weiss. Problems on polytopes, their groups, and realizations. *Period. Math. Hungar.*, 53(1-2):231-255, 2006. URL: http://dx. doi.org/10.1007/s10998-006-0035-y, doi:10.1007/s10998-006-0035-y. 38
- [67] F. A. Sherk. A family of regular maps of type {6,6}. Canad. Math. Bull., 5:13–20, 1962. URL: https://doi.org/10.4153/CMB-1962-003-7, doi:10.4153/CMB-1962-003-7. x, xiii
- [68] Stephen E. Wilson. Parallel products in groups and maps. J. Algebra, 167(3):539–546, 1994. URL: https://doi.org/10.1006/jabr.1994.1200, doi:10.1006/jabr.1994.1200. 27, 35
- [69] Steve Wilson. The smallest nontoroidal chiral maps. Journal of Graph Theory, 2(4):315-318, 1978. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jgt.3190020405, doi: 10.1002/jgt.3190020405. x, xiii
- [70] Steve Wilson. Maniplexes: Part 1: maps, polytopes, symmetry and operators. Symmetry, 4(2):265-275, 2012. URL: https://doi.org/10.3390/sym4020265, doi:10.3390/sym4020265. 12, 32